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Financial 
Highlights 

As at 31 December
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

2016 2017 2018
Financial Positions (Baht Million)
Total assets 52,859 58,976 62,065
Total liabilities 37,118 40,965 42,808
Share capital 2,400 2,400 2,400
Shareholders' equity 15,741 18,011 19,257

Operating Performance (Baht Million)
Sales 169,226 182,753 188,583
Total revenues 172,790 186,754 192,930
Gross profit 15,504 18,401 18,944
Net profit 5,413 6,178 5,942
Earnings per share (Baht) 1.13 1.29 1.24

Financial Ratios (%)
Net profit margin 3.1 3.3 3.1
Debt to equity ** (times) 0.5 0.5 0.5
Return on equity 36.2 37.1 32.8
Return on total assets 10.7 11.0 9.7
Dividend payout ratio 75.4 74.6 77.5

Stock Data (Baht)
Par value per share 0.50 0.50 0.50
Book value per share 3.28 3.66 3.90
Dividend per share 0.85 0.96 0.96*

Remark : 
* Dividend per share includes the followings : 
 1) Interim dividend of Baht 0.40 per share was fully paid on September 5, 2018 
 2) Proposed final dividend of Baht 0.56 per share for shareholders' approval on April 23, 2019 bringing total dividend for 2018 to  

 Baht 0.96 per share
** Interest bearing debt excluding liabilities under finance leases 
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Message from the Chairman
and Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Arsa Sarasin
Chairman

In 2018, the Company continues to move forward with our “Makro 4.0” 
strategy, all the while upholding our commitment to transparent business 
operations and the principles of good governance to ensure strong and secure  
growth. The Company remains dedicated to improving and modernizing  
the business in all dimensions. All of this progress has been driven by our 
6 Strategic Goals to become a trusted partner and to sustainably enhance 
the lives of our stakeholders in all areas where we operate, in Thailand  
and overseas. 

In spite of the economic slowdown over the past year, as well as issues 
concerning low agricultural commodity prices, the Company was able to adapt 
quickly and was aided in this regard by our clarity of vision: to be number 
one food solution provider for professional customers. That means being 
number one in every aspect - providing quality products and services at great 
value and competitive prices - while retaining a customer - centric vision to 
serve all of our customers in retail, HoReCa (Hotel, Restaurant and Catering), 
services, and other professionals. Over the past year, the Company opened 7 
new stores across Thailand and 2 stores in New Delhi, India, under the “LOTS 
Wholesale Solutions” brand. At the end of 2018, Makro’s stores in Thailand 
totaled 129, with 3 stores overseas. Our robust strategy also continues to 
guide the expansion of our food service business network under the Siam 
Food Services and the Indoguna brands across 6 countries and territories: 
Thailand, Vietnam, Singapore, Hong Kong, United Arab Emirates and Cambodia. 
In terms of 2018 performance, the Company’s total revenues amounted to 
Baht 192,930 million, an increase of 3.3% from the previous year. As a result 
of initial stage of international operation of Makro stores, our total net profit 
registered Baht 5,942 million, a reduction of 3.8% compared to 2017.

During an age where digital technology is advancing across the board, impacting 
the behaviors of consumers and transforming the very nature of business, the 
Company has continued to modernize its organization through technology 
integration. The Company leveraged Big Data to analyze its extensive customer 
base of more than 3 million customers, and to develop products and services 
that appropriately respond to their unique needs. This was particularly 
the case for our customers who represent the new generation of business 
owners. In the meantime, we progressed in the development of our online 
sales channel, MakroClick.com, which will enable us to connect online and 
offline services and thereby cater to a new group of customers who prefer 
purchasing products online. The Company also developed various services 
to enhance customers’ experiences, including by providing a delivery service 
and a pick - up service at Makro stores, which has been rolled out across our 
stores in Bangkok. In addition, the Company is developing a system to connect 
a variety of marketing channels, called OMNI - Channel Sales & Services system, 
for convenience of our customers to reach our products and services from 
anywhere at any time.
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Mrs. Suchada Ithijarukul
Group Chief Executive Officer -Siam Makro

Another challenge that the Company continues to face concerns human 
resources. The Company currently employs more than 16,000 staff, all 
representing diverse age groups and expectations. It is because of this that 
developing employee capabilities and work approaches that encourage 
all generations to work together seamlessly, under the “VICTORY - Makro 
7 Values”, becomes imperative for our success. The Company thus prioritized 
the digitization of our human resources management to enhance working 
efficiencies, and the promotion of employee leadership skills through our 
“Grow our People for Growth” approach. The Company further promoted 
leadership skills through the Young Talent Project, which allows our young 
talent pool to grow sustainably alongside business expansion.

Food quality and safety remains our top priority. This is especially vital 
given the government’s aspiration to become the “Kitchen of the World” 
and our growth in the food service business - particularly the expansion of 
our HoReCa customer base and increase in the proportion of fresh food  
products. The Company has in place a stringent quality control system  
for our food and raw materials. The system factors in the entire supply 
chain from supplier selection, product traceability using “Makro i-Trace”, 
including for premium products under the “Quality Pro” label, through 
to contamination testing by experts in our laboratories, which are up to 
international standard. These processes all ensure that Makro’s products  
are clean, safe, and of the highest quality. 

Looking at the Company’s progress on sustainable development, the  
projects we implemented align with the Company’s 6 Strategic Goals  
and cover economic, social, and environmental dimensions. These  
Goals all converge in support of the United Nations’ Sustainable Development 
Goals, specifically those concerning food security and enhancing well - being, and 
sustainable consumption and production. Moreover, the Company’s projects 
continuously delivered value to society and enhanced the livelihoods of business  
partners, customers, communities, and employees. Examples include the 
Good Deeds of 100 Makro Stores for 100 Communities project, the Makro 
Retailer Alliance (MRA), and other projects in support of the government’s 
Pracharat policy. On environmental issues, the Company campaigned to reduce  
plastic bag use and to encourage awareness amongst customers and employees 
on maximizing resource use - which is an extension of the Company’s  
no plastic bag policy that has been instated since the start of our operations. 

On behalf of Siam Makro Public Company Limited, the Board of Directors 
would like to extend our sincerest thanks and gratitude to all of the 
stakeholders who have supported Makro’s business over the past 29 years. 
We offer you our continued and unwavering commitment to delivering  
long - term value to our stakeholders in a fair manner; to balancing our  
business with responsibility to the society and environment, and to  
operating a business of integrity on the foundation of good governance for the  
sustainability of our society and country, now and in the future.

Siam Makro Public Company Limited    005



The Board of Directors (“the Board”) established the Corporate Governance 
Committee (“the Committee”) to support the Board’s mission in enacting 
its corporate governance policy and various related guidelines to ensure 
that the Company is managed on the foundation of good governance  
principles, ethical standards, transparency and accountability. The Committee 
assumes an important role in monitoring and overseeing the Company’s 
business operations as well as in promoting and supporting the dissemination 
and embedding of ethical business values for employees at all levels, to 
ultimately foster a lasting culture of good governance throughout the 
organization.

In 2018, the Company carried out various projects and activities according 
to plans approved by the Committee which were aimed at developing 
and enhancing the Company’s corporate governance standards. These 
activities encompass all of the Company’s stakeholder groups, as stipulated 
by the Corporate Governance Charter. The Committee fully performed its 
duties assigned by the Board and provided regular performance updates 
at Board meetings. Key corporate governance activities performed by the 
Committee are summarized as follows:

1. Revised the CG Policy, Code of Conduct Manual and the CG Charter 
to align with the Corporate Governance Code (CG Code) for listed 
companies issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)  
in 2017, and provided recommendations to help the Company  
prepare for the implementation of the CG Code into its businesses as 
appropriate.

2. Reviewed the assessment results received from the 2018 Corporate 
Governance Report of Thai Listed Companies (CGR) and developed 
recommendations to improve various Company guidelines in accordance 
with CGR criteria and recommendations.

Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi
Chairman of the Corporate 

Governance Committee

Corporate Governance 
Committee Report
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3. Provided recommendations and approaches for submitting a 
self - assessment form on anti - corruption along with the required 
supporting evidence and endorsed the Company’s membership 
application to Thailand’s Private Sector Collective Action Coalition 
Against Corruption (CAC).

4.  Reviewed, endorsed and provided recommendations for the 2018 
plan for the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (AGM), in order 
to comply with the criteria in the AGM Checklists of the Thai Investors’ 
Association.

The Committee’s dedication to steering the Company’s corporate  
governance activities in 2018 has resulted in the successful achievement  
of the Company’s corporate governance objectives, as follows: 

	The Company received the “Excellent” rating in the 2018 Corporate 
Governance Report of Thai Listed Companies (CGR), which improved 
from last year’s assessment result at the “Very Good” level.

	The fourth meeting of the Collective Action Coalition Council (4/2017) 
on 12 February 2018 passed a decision to endorse the Company as a 
member of the Thailand's Private Sector Collective Action Coalition 
Against Corruption (CAC).

	The Company received the full score of 100 on the AGM Checklist 
for the second consecutive year.

In view of the various projects and activities that the Company has 
implemented, in addition to the continuing strict compliance of the Board, 
management and employees to good governance principles and ethical 
standards in all of their business conduct, the Corporate Governance 
Committee is supremely confident in the Company’s ability to achieve 
its objective of becoming a sustainable business, distinguished by its 
performance excellence and transparent, ethical business standards, and 
guided by its commitment to the nation, society and environment.

On behalf of the Corporate Governance Committee,

Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee

Siam Makro Public Company Limited    007



Nomination and 
Remuneration 
Committee Report

Mr. Thira Wipuchanin
Chairman of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Siam Makro Public Company 
Limited established the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
(“NRC”) in accordance with good governance standards for listed 
companies and endorsed the NRC Charter as a guiding framework for the 
Committee’s roles and responsibilities. The Board has clearly specified 
the qualities and qualifications of members of the NRC, and stipulated 
that the NRC must consist of at least 3 directors, the majority of whom 
should be independent and none of whom should hold the position 
of Chairman of the Board. NRC members are responsible for recruiting, 
selecting and nominating highly knowledgeable and experienced 
individuals with the appropriate qualifications to become a member of  
the Board, a member of the Company’s various committees, or a member of 
top - level management. The NRC must also propose policies on 
remuneration, approaches and processes for recruitment, and determine 
appropriate levels of remuneration for the aforementioned individuals.

In 2018, the NRC fully carried out its responsibilities as required by the NRC 
Charter and as assigned by the Board of Directors. There was a total of 
2 NRC meetings, both of which were attended by all members. A summary 
of significant matters raised during NRC meetings are as follows:

1. Recruited and nominated qualified individuals for the Board of Directors’ 
consideration prior to their nominations at the general shareholders’ 
meeting, in which their names were to be approved to replace outgoing 
directors who were completing their terms in 2018. Due regard was 
given for the candidates’ experiences, professional competencies, skills 
and expertise (skill matrix), so as to ensure that the composition of the 
Board of Directors is diverse and aligned with the Company’s business 
strategy and operations, and does not restrict or is classified based on 
gender or nationality.
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2. Determined the Board of Directors’ remuneration for 2018 to ensure 
that it was commensurate with their assigned roles and responsibilities 
and the Company’s size; that it was competitive compared with listed 
industry peers, and importantly, linked with the Company’s overall 
performance and dividend payout ratio.

3. Reassessed recruitment processes and Board member selection criteria 
to ensure that members possess the appropriate required knowledge 
and expertise to drive the Company towards its key objectives.

4. Reassessed the Company’s organizational structure to ensure that it 
was aligned with the Company’s management needs and strategic 
business direction, both domestically and internationally; oversaw 
the development and implementation of the Company’s succession  
plan to ensure that pre-established goals are achieved.

5. Assessed the performance of the NRC Committee and reported on 
assessment results to the Board of Directors.

6. Assessed the Group CEO’s performance and determined the Group 
CEO’s annual remuneration, that it should be commensurate with  
the CEO’s assigned duties and responsibilities and the Company’s 
overall performance.

7 Encouraged the Company to allow minor shareholders to propose 
agenda items and nominate directors, via the Company’s website, 
at least 3 months in advance of the 2018 Annual General Meeting  
of Shareholders.

On behalf of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee,

Mr. Thira Wipuchanin
Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
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MOVING FAR AND 
GROWING STRONG



Driven by a strategy to sustainably expand business operations to international 
markets in dynamic and high - competitive era, the Company remains committed 
to the foundation of customer centricity in order to deliver the highest quality 
products and integrated food services from all corners of the globe, thus truly 
solidifying its position as a “trusted partner” for professional customers. In 
international expansion, the Company prioritizes the development of a variety of 
distinctive store formats to reach professional customers in each country  
and to efficiently respond to the different needs and behaviors of consumers. 
To this end, the Company has put its heart into ensuring food safety in  
accordance with international safety standards, whilst responding to the needs of 
food business professionals and new groups of health - conscious consumers.

Opening LOTS Wholesale Solutions, a crucial step of wholesale business expansion in India
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In 2018, the Company continued forward on the success 
of its first international venture when the very first Makro 
store was officially opened in Phnom Penh, Cambodia 
in late 2017 to strong reception. Plans are in place to 
open a second store in Siem Reap in 2019. In addition, 
the Company opened its first stores in India under the  
brand, “LOTS Wholesale Solutions,” with the first store 
opening in New Delhi on 19 July 2018, which likewise 
has been well received by professional customers in the 
area, and 1 additional store in New Delhi. As a result, at the 
end of 2018, the Company has a total of 3 overseas stores. 
These international expansion efforts are underpinned 
by the Company’s enduring commitment to upholding 
5 key missions: 1) Multi - format expansion; 2) Award 
team achievement and invest in people; 3) Know and  
respect the local differences; 4) Responsible for the society 
and the world; and 5) Offer the best value and solutions 
to customers.

The Company is regularly confronted with new challenges 
when expanding to new markets, especially in terms of the 
differences in the economic and business environments of 
each country, as well as the risks associated with regulations 
and exchange rates. Challenges also exist regarding human 
resources, wherein the Company must develop the capacity 
of its human capital to support the expanding business, 
a fact applicable not only to employees who will move 
overseas to assume their new responsibilities, but also the 
local labor force. At the same time, the Company must work 
with and create mutual trust with new business alliance  
and business partners. Despite these challenges, the 
Company is focused on applying the knowledge, 
experiences, and expertise that it has accumulated over 29 
years of business operations, in addition to a clear expansion 
strategy, to its business operations in each country. This 
wealth of experience is what will help the Company to 
evaluate and identify opportunities in new markets for Siam 
Makro Group as a whole, seek local partners on the ground, 
and gain insights into the behaviors of each target customer 
group. Each new store that is opened is evaluated by the 
Company for its suitability to the needs of each market, 
where available formats include the “Classic” format 
catered to retail operators, the “Foodservice” format for 
HoReCa customers, and the “Eco - Plus” format for both 
professional customers in the HoReCa industry and retail 
operators.

One of the most critical factors in the success and 
stability of the Company’s expansion is the hiring and 
development of professionals in each country under the 
concept, “Hire Local, Grow Local Professional.” This is 
driven by the Company’s belief that the success of the 
business in any location is contingent upon the in - depth 
knowledge and understanding of the local working context, 
and employees who work to the same standards and  
exemplify the organizational culture, “VICTORY - 7 Makro  
Values.” The Company has prepared a number of training  
courses, processes, and has in place systems, measures 
and various other tools to support employees in their  
technical skills development and regular work responsibilities.  
Examples include work manuals for employees, translated  
training manuals for supervisors and the training passport.  
Furthermore, the Company offers staff who are based 
overseas the opportunity to travel to Thailand to receive 
training over a period of 2 - 4 months, where that 
training will be continued in their respective countries 
and localized for each context. Not only that, the 
Company focuses on fostering an innovative mindset 
amongst our employees, developing English language  
skills, equipping them with knowledge about the local 
culture, and methods of agile project management to 
ensure that they are ready to work in dynamic change of 
Makro 4.0.

Stepping up towards overseas expansion is also a good 
opportunity for the Company to contribute to the 
development of the local economy and support income 
creation for small retail businesses. This mission is in line 
with the Strategic Goals of Makro 4.0: to be loved by the 
local communities that surround our stores. So far this has 
been evident from the successful launch of the Cambodian 
chapter of the Marko Retail Alliance (MRA) in 2016, which 
has enjoyed great success in Thailand over the past 10 years. 
The objective of MRA in Cambodia is to develop retailers by 
providing them with knowledge about the retail business, 
helping with store improvements, connecting governmental 
agencies to local business partners, visiting and engaging 
with customers, sharing knowledge and advice about the 
benefits and privileges that Makro’s registered customers 
are entitled to received. The result is that retailers, along 
with local professional customers, are getting to know the 
Company better and are putting their trust in the “Makro” 
brand. By extension, it is an opportunity for professional 
customers to build up their own capacity for growth. 
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A New Journey in Cambodia
Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited, a subsidiary of 
Siam Makro Group, officially opened the first Makro 
store in Cambodia in Sen Sok district, Phnom Penh, on 
17 December 2017. The store, which was designed as  
a classic format, covers an area of 9,700 square - meters 
and is the first Cash & Carry store in Cambodia that acts 
as a one - stop service allowing professional customers, 
including small retail operators, HoReCa customers, 
and general members, to access over 10,000 selections 
of good quality and competitively priced products.  
These include household and personal goods, fresh 
and dry foods, packaged foods, frozen foods, as well as 
products sourced from local producers or distributors  
and products imported from Thailand, including meats,  
seafood products and the Company’s own brands such  
as aro, Savepak, M&K and Q - Biz.

The Company is engaged to uplift the standards of  
retail operators in Cambodia for their stable revenues and 
profits. Makro Retailer Alliance was established at Makro 
store in Cambodia to affirm the motto “Makro…your 
Trusted Partner” who will always be side by side with retail 
operators in all situations. Connection with government 
offices and local partners was well established to  
bring alliance in developing retail business as well as to  
uplift food safety standard in Cambodia.

In the future, the Company will continue moving forward 
in expanding the business and customer base given the 
potential offered by a steadily increasing GDP growth  
rate at an average of 6 - 7 percent per year, and the 
higher trends of foreign investment in the country. In 2019, 
the Company plans to open more stores to prepare  

for the anticipated increase in number of professional 
customers.

A New Journey in India
In 2018, CP Wholesale India Private Limited, a subsidiary 
of Siam Makro Group based in India, paved the way to 
entering the market in India by opening 2 stores in New 
Delhi under the name “LOTS Wholesale Solutions.” 
The first store opened for business in July in the  
Pitampura district, located to the northwest of New  
Delhi, with a total area of 4,600 square - meters. The 
store offers quality products in a variety of categories, 
including food and drink, fresh foods, kitchenware, home 
electronics, home décor, furniture and sleep products, 
woven goods, office equipment, electronics and more.  
The store offers international standards of integrated 
services in the wholesale business while ensuring that 
products are available in sufficient quantities for customer 
needs, and provides delivery services as well as a 
variety of payment options. A second LOTS Wholesale 
Solutions store opened in Akshardham, an area to the  
east of New Delhi.

The official opening of 2 LOTS Wholesale Solutions stores 
in 2018 marks an important step forward in the Company’s 
expansion of the wholesale business in India. Throughout 
this endeavor, LOTS Wholesale Solutions has adhered 
to a policy of promoting local products and business 
partners, where agricultural produce and fresh foods would 
be sourced directly from local farms and orchards. This 
approach not only creates jobs and generates income 
for farmers, but also helps LOTS Wholesale Solutions to 
maintain the quality and freshness of goods as well as 
reduce spoilage during transport, and contributes to the 

First Makro store in Cambodia in Sen Sok, 
Phnom Penh

Store opening under the name  
“LOTS Wholesale Solutions”
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creation of local love for communities, an important goal 
for the Company. However, the Indian market is a highly 
competitive one, consisting of many experienced players 
including multi - national companies, and also has a 
different culture of consumption and purchasing compared 
to Thailand. The Company must therefore adapt quickly 
and understand these factors.

Nevertheless, the Company sees an opportunity to build a 
unique mark of differentiation in the food service business 
in the country, which is forecasted to grow steadily. 
Opportunities also exist to share knowledge on new recipes 
and cooking methods with local professional customers, 
and of ways of applying technology for customer services 
from local staff who are highly knowledgeable about 
technological advances. This includes insights into the 
development of technologically - savvy stores and providing 
Omni - Channel delivery and e - commerce services. 
E - Commerce, in particular, has a strong potential for 
exponential growth, as it is forecasted to grow to USD 200 
billion by 2026 from USD 38.5 billion in 20171.

Food Service APME
Food Service Asia Pacific and Middle East (Food Service 
APME) is a business unit within Siam Makro Group which has 
an important role in consolidating the Company’s efforts 
to expand the food service business on the international 
market, which is accomplished under the “Siam Food 
Services” brand in Thailand and the “Indoguna” brand 
in international markets. Food Service APME has entered 
new high - potential markets in 6 countries and areas

in the Asia Pacific and Middle East regions: Thailand, 
Vietnam, Singapore, Hong Kong, United Arab Emirates 
and Cambodia. Guided by the vision “to be number one 
food solution provider to professional customers,” Food 
Service APME’s missions are to bring the best out of our 
passionate team; provide quality holistic solutions for 
enhanced businesses; deliver consistently world - class 
quality standards with food safety assurance; and explore 
new avenues that impact business growth.

An important factor of differentiation for Siam Food Services 
and Indoguna is their investment in and dedication to the 
customization of goods, products and services to best 
cater to the needs of each target customer group. In doing 
so, Food Service APME evaluates the business models of 
each professional customer, the working environments and 
competitive landscape of each country, and trends in each 
market such as preferences for organic produce, hormone 
- and chemical - free produce, gluten - free products and 
superfoods. Similarly, the employees of Food Service  
APME play a critical role, as they work closely with 
customers to support their skills development and  
share knowledge. Examples include collaborations  
on product research and development, providing 
recommendations on food seasoning and meat - cutting 
techniques, and innovating new menus with chefs. All of 
these efforts respond to the demands of customers who 
are more and more interested in tasting new types of 
foods from many different countries. The performance of 
Food Service APME in 2018 obviously showed a continuous  
growth.

One of quality products from “Indoguna” Siam Food Services engages in the import, sales, and 
delivery services for high - quality fresh and 

frozen food products.

1https://www.ibef.org/industry/ecommerce.aspx
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Siam Food Services: Enhancing Business Potential 
through Product Diversity
Siam Food Services Limited (SFS) engages in the import 
and sales of products and provides delivery services for  
high - quality fresh and chilled food products including 
meats, seafood, potatoes, bakery goods, seasoning and 
ready - to - cook meals sourced from within Thailand and 
overseas. Services are available at 5 locations: Bangkok, 
Pattaya, Ko Samui, Phuket and Chiang Mai. The Company 
places high priority on the continuous development  
and sourcing of new products to increase the variety 
of choice and selection for our professional customers. 
Products are sourced from all over the world, including 
premium U.S. beef, French oysters, Swiss dairy products 
and cheese, and international foods such as Mexican, 
Italian, Indian and Japanese. Such quality and diverse 
offerings enable Siam Food Services to deliver the maximum 
level of satisfaction to customers, especially full - service 
restaurants and chain restaurants that highly prioritize 
product quality. Furthermore, SFS has opened new sales 
and communications channels to respond to the needs 
of consumers who prefer purchasing products online by 
providing channels through Facebook, “Food Diary,” a new 
brand under SFS, and the service platforms “honestbee” 
and “HappyFresh.” These services were launched in 
October 2018.

In addition, the Company is considerate of the risks 
associated with the sourcing of all types of goods and 
products, including risks concerning product shortages, 
animal disease, as well as international trade regulations 
which are becoming increasingly stringent. Given this, 
the Company is proactive in its management to ensure 
that substitute goods are prepared, and that a strict and 
robust quality control system is in place. In this way, the 
Company is always at the ready to respond to any situation  
efficiently and is able to maintain its leadership position as a 
food service provider by delivering clean and safe products 
and services to customers in a timely manner.

Indoguna 
To expand our business network in the Asia Pacific and 
Middle Eastern region, SFS invested in acquiring 4 leading 
food services companies from Indoguna Group across 
markets in Singapore, United Arab Emirates and Hong 
Kong, and set up a new company in Cambodia. This has  
resulted in SFS becoming a leading food service provider

in the international market. The Company is currently 
looking to expand its business towards the sales of halal  
and premium food products for HoReCa customers, 
and is working to streamline management in the same  
direction under the Indoguna brand to ultimately strengthen 
the business for sustainable growth. 

Indoguna Vina Food Service, Vietnam

Indoguna Vina Food Service

In 2012, Siam Makro Business Group stepped into its first 
overseas market by expanding its food service business in 
Vietnam. Vina Siam Food Company Limited was set up in 
Ho Chi Minh City to engage in the import, export, and sales 
of high - quality food products for fast food, restaurant  
and hotel operators. In 2014, the Company opened a 
second location in the capital city of Hanoi. Following 
that, in 2017, under the strategic direction of the Food 
Service APME business unit, the Company was renamed 
Indoguna Vina Food Service Company Limited, in order 
to capitalize on the strengths of Indoguna’s brand 
internationally and meet the target of increasing market 
share and becoming a strong, stable leader in Vietnam’s 
food service industry. 

Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd
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Indoguna (Singapore) 
Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd is a leading food and  
beverages company with a strong track record in  
Singapore stretching back over 2 decades. A leader  
in the import and sales of premium food products,  
including meats, seafood, wine and halal foods, Indoguna 
(Singapore) serves customers in the restaurants and  
hotels industry, and leading food service providers. In 2018, 
the Company began producing top Indoguna products,  
such as Ocean Gems brand seafood, to provide quicker  
and more efficient services to customers in the country and 
reduce the risks associated with importing foods.

Indoguna Dubai and MAXZI The Good Food Shop, 
United Arab Emirates 
Indoguna Dubai L.L.C is a leader in the import and 
supply of premium foods to operators in Middle Eastern 
countries, including United Arab Emirates, Oman, Kuwait, 
Bahrain and Saudi Arabia, and services customers in 
the HoReCa industry and leading airlines. In addition, 
the Company has set up a restaurant called “MAXZI 
The Good Food Shop” in Dubai where foods are 
mainly made with high - quality ingredients, which are  
well-accepted. In addition, products under the Indoguna 
brand such as premium sausages (Carne Meat), seafood 
(Ocean Gems), halal dim sum (Masterpiece), and Maxzi the 
Good Food Shop Coffee are offered with cooking service 
and dining area provided. Customers are able to order  
products and access the wide selection of menu items

both in store and online, where products can be delivered 
within the Dubai city area or ordered via popular mobile 
applications such as Uber Eats and Deliveroo, etc. 

Indoguna Lordly and Just Meat, Hong Kong  
To expand the food services business to Hong Kong, the 
Company acquired shares in Lordly Company Limited 
(now Indoguna Lordly) and Just Meat Company Limited,  
an importer and provider of high - quality meats, seafood 
and dairy products. These businesses serve various customer 
groups in Hong Kong and Macau, including the hospitality 
and aviation industries, and food service providers.  

Indoguna (Cambodia) 
In 2017, SFS joined forces with local investors in Cambodia 
to form a new subsidiary, Indoguna (Cambodia) Company 
Limited. The new company’s offices were set up in 
Phnom Penh and Siem Reap with the goal to expand 
the food service business by delivering premium quality 
imported food products. For the Company, the market in  
Cambodia demonstrates a strong capacity for growth 
given the expansion of the country’s tourism sector, 
coupled with the fact that the Company already has a 
store presence through the prior establishment of Makro 
(Cambodia) Company Limited. These factors together offer a  
good opportunity for the two companies to expand the 
business upon the strengths of one another and therefore 
build a strong foundation for sustainable growth.

Indoguna Dubai - a leader in the import and 
supply of premium foods

 Indoguna Lordly
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Growing Together 
in Hearts and 

in Minds





Growing Together
in Hearts and in Minds

In the age where businesses are driven 
by technology, creativity and innovation, 
the Company would like to ensure mutual  
growth of every stakeholder by operating our  
business and developing our organization  
according to the 6 strategic goals to reaffirm  
that “Enhancing People’s Lives” is our true 
motive.

Enhancing people’s lives toward 
sustainable business

Opportunity for sustainability

Innovation for better lives
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Become the point of 
reference on food safety in

each country in which 
we operate

Become the point of 
reference on food safety in

each country in which 
we operate

Goals of Makro 4.0

Strengthen sustainable & ethical
sourcing in each country

in which we operate

Reduce environmental
impact

Local love & match

Make our customers 
prosper

Become employer
of choice for

all generations

6 Strategic

Makro places a great deal of emphasis on food safety. We strive to meet the demands of our food - business - operator 
customers, as well as modern - day consumers who value their health and well - being and willingly spend their money 
on safe foods per the regulations of their country.

As Makro continues to value the ability to trace products back to their sources, we are committed to working only with 
lawful producers and suppliers. In addition, we always take the sustainability of our environment into consideration to 
make sure of mutual growth

Because Makro is keenly aware of the value of the environment and natural resources, we are committed to expending 
natural resources and energy in the most efficient manner possible for the utmost benefit, including our efforts to ensure 
that all of our processes are environmentally friendly.

Makro hopes to be loved by the local communities that surround our stores. To this end, we strive to be beneficial to 
them, whether by creating jobs locally, providing retail management education to small local retailers and equipping 
youths with retail - management knowledge that helps them better their local stores.

Makro committedly studies potential technologies and develops them into business channels to facilitate our  
customers’business processes, increase their profits and foster sustainable growth in the new era of competition. 
These efforts will bring about satisfaction among our customers, ensuring their loyalty in the long run.

Makro strives to be one of the top 5 organizations that people, especially new graduates, want to work with. Additionally, 
we have begun conducting an engagement survey among our existing personnel, the results of which will be used to 
transform Makro into an organization for all ages.
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Creating business opportunities in response to changes in consumer behaviors

For more than 29 years, the Company has operated alongside its professional 
customers in the midst of various challenges, including an increasingly competitive 
market landscape, the transition from traditional to modern trade, and the 
lives of consumers that are being transformed by advancements in technology. 
Given this operating environment, the Company must step up its product and 
service development, all the while upholding a customer - centric approach and 
apply technology such as big data to analyze customer data and deliver quality 
product and service solutions to accurately respond to their needs. At the  
same time, the Company remains focused on integrating technology into its  
core business to create experiences and develop business partners as trusted 
partners for sustainable growth.
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Consumer behavior has changed substantially today. 
Whether that involves greater preferences for excellent 
quality foods sourced from all around the world, online 
shopping, ready-to-cook meals, ways of differentiating 
premium products for added value, or the heightened 
attention on food safety and quality, the Company  
must adapt its business model to respond to these trends. 
Doing so will enable the Company to retain its leadership 
in the retail, wholesale, and integrated food services 
industries, which are no longer merely about the sales of 
products, but about the creation of memorable experiences 
for professional customers who will ultimately choose to 
turn to the Company for all of their business needs.
 
Creating Insights and Delivering Experiences in a 
Digital Age 

 Makro Mobile application

In a digital age marked by different and rapidly changing 
customer demands, the Company recognizes the 
importance of understanding our customers’ needs in 
order to maintain the trust of existing customers, as well 
as to create opportunities to serve new customer groups. 
The Company is using big data to analyze the needs of 
its over 3 million registered customers and integrating  
these results as key input into its strategy for offering  
more targeted product selections, services, promotions  
and benefits through a number of different channels.  
These include existing channels such as printed Makro 
mail, and electronic channels such as the website 
Makroclick.com, Makro mobile application, and Makro 
LINE Official. Applying big data enables the Company 
to create opportunities for its business partners, given 
that it can provide insight into developing more targeted  
market strategies as well as recommendations on ways 

of increasing a partner’s customer base. In light of these 
developments, the Company has set up the Omni - Channel 
Sales and Services Department (OCS) to drive Makro’s 
Omni - Channel strategy in its stores, through electronic 
platforms, and through other services such as e-Commerce 
and delivery. Overall, these steps will help to deliver  
the maximum satisfaction to customers by offering 
experiences that go above and beyond their expectations. 

The Company is responding to the Thai government’s 
strategy to build a “cashless society” by developing 
stores that are more driven by and equipped with modern 
technology, thus providing customer experiences better 
suited to a digital age. Examples include offering customers 
the option of ordering products through the Makro mobile 
application and a digital catalogue. Furthermore, in May 
2018, the Company joined hands with its business partners 
to launch an “E-Wallet” payment service, which aims 
to facilitate customer purchasing experiences as they 
would no longer need to carry large amounts of cash  
with them for shopping. Professional customers are 
also entitled to receive special privileges from using the  
E-Wallet, which will also help to reduce their capital. 
The purchase volume through the E-Wallet service is 
growing steadily to date, and in 2018, over 100,000 
customers have opted to use the service.

E - Wallet payment service
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Furthermore, the Company remains committed to 
expanding its customer base in line with the Online to  
Offline (O2O) Strategy, which integrates customers’ 
online and offline activities and grants customers access 
to a wider range of services and benefits through online 
channels. Given this, the Company is working to personalize 
purchasing experiences for each individual customer 
based on their previous spending history. A personalized  
approach will enable customers to understand the 
Company’s commitment to their needs, readiness in  
offering a diverse selection of goods and services, and 
provision for modern - day customers who prefer less 
generalization and greater ease and efficiency.

Owing to the success of the above strategy, at year - end  
2018, the Makro Application has been downloaded  
531,621 times, an increase of 56 percent from 2017. In 
addition, the Company has also opened another channel to 
communicate with customers through the LINE Application. 
The Makro Official LINE account is used to communicate 
news and information to customers and to inspire new 
generations of business owners to enter the retail and food 
service industry as well as share knowledge with small retail 
and HoReCa operators about modern retail management 
and food service management respectively. The integration 
of these technologies are crucial in enhancing opportunities  
for the Company to expand its customer base in a cashless 
society.

Continuous Product Development to Deliver the Best 
for Customers
The Company is committed to the development of its own 
brand products to respond to the needs of professional 
customers, as well as the change of consumer needs. In so doing 
the Company prioritizes product variety, safety, excellence 
in quality, and suitable sizing and environmentally - friendly  
packaging - all offered at great value. Products developed 
include fresh foods, dry foods, chilled and frozen foods,

and consumer goods under the brands aro, Savepak, 
M&K, Protech and Q-BIZ. These own brand products are  
available at Makro stores and through Makroclick.com. 
Particularly for small retailers, the Company focuses on 
delivering high - quality products with good value pricing, 
for which the retailers can sell and generate a profit 
afterwards. For HoReCa customers, the Company offers 
products that are designed as solutions for each component 
of a business, such as products for a coffee shop business, 
bakery and restaurant, among others. Customers are able 
to find and purchase all of these products in one place at 
Makro stores. Moreover, the Company organizes training 
workshops to create added value for HoReCa customers, 
allowing them to develop skills for cooking with various 
different ingredients, and learn methods of using premium 
ingredients to prepare fusion and international foods 
such as Indian, Japanese and Halal food.

In 2018, the Company remained committed to expanding 
a variety of own brand product groups on the premium 
market, specifically building up wider recognition for the 
“aro” brand, which includes products such as meats, 
seafood and dairy products. These have proven popular 
amongst chefs and HoReCa customers who are looking to 
increase the value of their products through top quality 
ingredients. 

In addition, the Company developed and began piloting 
the Operational Excellence Platform (OEP), which 
integrates processes within the organization under one 
consolidated system and thereby enhances internal 
standards of operations and allows the Company to more 
efficiently serve customers. The OEP allows the Company 
to track operating performance in real - time, and sends  
immediate alerts and notifications in case any problems 
occur. The OEP has now been launched at all stores 
in Thailand and plans to expand the scope of the 
system to cover overseas stores in the future.
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 Makro’s Own Brand Products: Products for Professionals

aro M&K

Top quality products: Raw ingredients and cooking equipment 
including consumer goods.

Snacks and drinks products for small retail operators.

Savepak Protech

Good Value for Money Products. Home electronic appliances for retail operators and service 
providers.

Q-BIZ

Office equipment and stationary products. The Q-BIZ brand is 
regularly recognized for its quality by institutional, corporate, 
services customers. 

Due to the increasingly widespread demand for safe and 
healthy foods, which include organic and gluten - free 
foods, non - GMO foods and foods cooked using safe 
and healthy ingredients, a trend spearheaded by 
modern - day business owners, Makro has in response 
looked to sourcing ingredients in the superfoods group, 
foods that are HACCP - certified, and offering premium 
quality products under the Quality Pro mark. Moreover, 
the Company works closely with business partners to 
elevate product standards accordingly, starting from the 
sourcing process to product labeling, manufacturing, and 
transportation, all of which must adhere to the Company’s 
established standards. In this way, Makro’s customers  
can be confident in the freshness, safety, cleanliness and 
health qualities of the Company’s products.

Furthermore, the Company strongly underlines the 
importance of compliance to the Ministry of Public 
Health’s Notification No. 388 B.E. 2561 concerning 
the prohibition of the production, import, or sales of 
partially hydrogenated oil and food products containing 
partially hydrogenated oil. The Company has therefore  
worked closely with the Institute of Nutrition, Mahidol  
University, to develop and enhance standards for Makro’s 
bakery goods, and inspected more than 160 recipes of  
baked goods produced in Makro stores. The result is that  
presently, all bakery products that are produced in Makro’s  
stores across the country, including croissants, whole  
wheat bread, sandwich bread and cereal bread, are free  
of trans fats.
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Format Differentiation to Enhance Customer Access
Throughout 29 years of business operations, the 
Company has paid particular attention to developing 
its Makro stores to possess unique characteristics for  
differentiation. Format differentiation enhances the 
Company’s competitiveness and allows the Company to better 
access professional customers in any given location as well  
as provide all of their required products and services under 
one roof. Given the continuous expansion of Makro’s  
food service business, the Company’s strategy is to  
prioritize the development of new stores in the Foodservice  
format, which has a sales area of approximately 1,000 - 
3,000 square meters, and the Makro Food Shop format, 
which has a sales area of less than 1,000 square meters. 
The Company has also begun developing a multi - storied  
Makro Foodservice store, a format which will be used 

for expansion in dense urban areas with a high number 
of restaurants, such as in a capital city like Bangkok. In 
2018, the Company launched a total of 7 new stores in 
Thailand. Among these, 1 store was an Eco Plus store 
in Kabin Buri, and 6 stores were Makro Foodservice stores 
located in Pracha Uthit, Sukhumvit 71, Nawamin 70,  
Cha-am, On Nut, and Suksawat areas. The Company  
also launched a delivery service from more than 76 stores 
to deliver raw ingredients, fresh goods, and dry goods 
to customers in the Bangkok Metropolitan Area. Indeed, 
the delivery service to restaurants and coffee shops will  
strengthen the Company’s differentiation in the market as 
it enables professional customers to easily procure quality  
goods for their businesses. 
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 Accessing High - Quality Products and Services at Makro Stores

 Information as of 31 December 2018

Makro Classic Store

79 stores
Classic format “Cash & Carry” stores that provide a wide 
selection of consumer goods for small retail operators, who 
are the Company’s target customer groups.

Makro Foodservice

25 stores
A format catering to HoReCa customer groups which is 
specifically designed to be a one - stop shop for integrated 
food service businesses.

Eco Plus

13 stores
A format designed for HoReCa customers and small retail 
operators. Areas within the store are designated specially for 
fresh foods to enable better access for HoReCa customers 
operating in areas that have a high number of HoReCa 
businesses and strong potentials for growth.

Makro Food Shop

5 stores
A store format with a sales area of less than 1,000 square 
meters, designed to meet the needs of HoReCa operators 
in tourist areas and urban communities.

Siam Frozen 

7 Shops
A store format which specifically sells frozen foods, with a sales area of around 100 - 260 square meters. Located in easily 
accessible areas close to fresh markets, Siam Frozen shops meet the needs of small- to medium-sized HoReCa operators.
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Food Safety and Confidence in Quality
Guided by the first goal “to become the point of reference 
on food safety,” the Company places the utmost 
importance on maintaining food quality to ensure that 
its products are fresh, safe, and do not contain residual 
chemicals, antibiotics, or pathogens. This approach is  
also in keeping with modern - day food service operators 
as well as new generations of consumers who are more 
devoted to healthy living and are uncompromising on 
food safety, being more willing to pay for foods certified 
to international safety standards. The Company has in  
place a tight quality control process for fresh foods, dry 
foods and consumer products across the entire supply 
chain, covering the production process all the way through 
to transportation and distribution at Makro’s stores across 
the country. These processes ensure that the Company’s 
products adhere to international standards on food  
hygiene and safety, and that they are certified for food 
safety. Not only that, the Company has laboratories  
set up in Makro stores to conduct tests on food safety 
and quality according to the GMP and GLP standards, where 
the laboratories also have a crucial role in assessing the 
quality of products from their source.

Makro received an honorable plaque for being 
places selling standardized organic products.

Makro’s robust quality control process, especially for 
fresh foods, is highly stringent and applies from the very 
beginning of the sourcing process, with business partners. 
The Company assesses the risks of new business partners 
by conducting paper evaluations as well as business partner 
site visits, and inspects relevant certification documents.

This ensures that the Company sources its products from 
producers who are reliable and up to standard on food 
safety. Importantly, all products at Makro’s Distribution 
Centers must undergo a quality assessment process 
as stipulated by the Quality Control Work Instruction 
Manual, and be tested for residual chemicals and overall 
completeness. The Company also conducts random 
product checks by partnering with laboratories from 
internationally certified external agencies. In the case of 
fruits and vegetables, specifically those with high risks of 
residual chemicals, the Company sends these products 
for additional testing at laboratories in overseas to ensure 
food safety standard. 

Moreover, in order to maintain its standards on food quality 
and related processes, the Company regularly monitors 
and studies new laws and works closely with business 
partners to enforce strict quality controls that align with 
or go above legal requirements. Examples of regulations 
include the labeling of packaged foods, implementing a 
HACCP system in the case of an operator working in the 
frozen foods industry, and including ‘premium’ labels on 
freshly cut and ready-to-eat fruits and vegetables. The 
Company also jointly develops products with business 
partners under the Quality Pro mark. In this way, customers 
can be confident that every Company’s products are  
safe and of the highest quality. 

The Company moreover recognizes the importance of 
collaborating with all stakeholders, including governmental 
agencies, private sector networks, business partners, 
farmers, and leading national and international universities 
to develop the most efficient quality control system. 
Business partners, in particular, are crucial partners in 
the process, in light of their involvement in numerous 
activities across the supply chain. The Company thus 
engages with business partners to enhance their knowledge 
on food safety, chemical - agricultural practices, and 
methods of sourcing raw materials that consider social 
and environmental impacts in line with the Company’s 
Sustainable Sourcing Policy. During the past year, the 
Company held a business partner conference attended by 
more than 1,500 business partners to formally announce 
and explain Makro’s Sustainability Policy. 
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Another key component which supports food safety and 
quality is “Makro i - Trace,” a technology designed for 
food traceability. First launched in 2017, Makro i - Trace 
enables business owners and consumers to efficiently and 
accurately trace the origins of their products. Customers can 
scan the QR - Code that appears on the product packaging, 
following which information will be displayed regarding the 
location that the raw material was sourced from, along 
with the farming or fishing method used in sourcing the raw 
materials. In 2018, the Company also provides information 
on the recommended consumption quantity, and recipes 
to be used with the product. Ultimately, this technological 
innovation is another means of offering customers positive 
experiences and trust in the Company’s products. 

In 2018, the Company, in partnership with Greenpeace, an 
international independent advocacy organization, launched 
an initiative to improve the traceability and transparency 

of Makro’s “aro” product, Tuna Chunks in Brine. The purpose  
is to increase the transparency of the product and its 
production by allowing customers to trace the origin of 
the tuna, providing them with information including the 
species of tuna and location from which it was caught, 
such as the Pacific Ocean. Once customers scan the QR 
Code on the can, they will see that the tuna was caught 
using a roundabout method, which has been recognized 
as a safe, non - environmentally damaging fishing method. 
Going forward, the Company aims to expand the Makro 
i - Trace program further to cover agricultural produce  
such as fruits and vegetables, and ultimately secure 
the trust of professional customers in the top quality of 
Makro’s products. Currently, customers are able to trace 
the source of 2,310 products, and the Company has set the  
target to increase the number of products in the i - Trace 
system to 2,753 by 2020.
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Throughout the course of our operation, the 
Company has been committed to being a 
trusted partner to professional customers. 
This has led to continuous development of 
our business model with the result that the 
Company now has a diverse array of unique 
store formats designed to effectively reach 
and serve local entrepreneurs in all the 
markets we operate in. The goal is to be  
a “trusted partner” to our professional 
customers and grow alongside them in a 
sustainable manner.

Opportunity to achieve 
stable growth

Convenience
near you 79Makro

Classic
stores 13Makro

Eco Plus
stores25Makro

Foodservice
stores
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1. Thailand
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The Creative Journey
to Sustainability





Makro Retailer Alliance - providing consultation 
to professional customers

Conducting CSR activities

Makro realizes the importance of education and development of good quality livelihood.
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Receiving agricultural products from farmers for distributing to Makro stores all over the country under the MOU of 2018 
seasonal fruits purchasing

Providing educational opportunities for Thai youths “Good Deeds of 100 Makro Stores for 100 Communities”
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Our journey over the past 29 years has been driven by the belief that developing 
communities and societies for mutual growth is the key to business sustainability. 
The Company therefore recognizes the importance of innovating social and 
environmental projects by leveraging the strengths of the Company to support 
community and social development. During this time, the Company has analyzed 
the outstanding points of each project to build up further successes and to expand 
the scope of project operations to include a wider range of issues. In this way, the 
Company is able to more efficiently respond to the needs of its target groups in 
response to the changing global context and the third and fourth Strategic Goals 
of Makro 4.0. Employees across the organization participate in these projects. It 
is a source of pride for the Company in being able to offer employees the chance 
to positively contribute to the wider society, thus generating greater affection and 
engagement with the Company as a whole. Furthermore, the Company joins forces 
with partners from the public and private sectors as well as educational institutions 
to implement different activities in pursuit of the Company’s established targets.

Providing knowledge and opportunities for sustainable community and society
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Creating Jobs and Growing Together to Enhance 
Businesses in the 4.0 Era
Guided by our commitment to become a trusted 
partner, the Company places much significance on 
strengthening communities, particularly Sho Huay operators, 
food service businesses and farmers, as they are all 
important stakeholders for the Company and are vital in  
distributing income across local communities. Over the 
last decade, the Company has been continuously carrying 
out the Makro Retailer Alliance (MRA) and initiated new 
programs that align with its business strategy. Examples 
include the Partner for Food Business program, in which 
a team of highly experienced chefs conduct workshops for 
professional customers at Makro stores in each region to 
propose new menu items, help enhance their businesses 
and share useful new ideas to participants, and the Makro: 
Selecting Quality Products, Enhancing Farmers’ Lives 
project, which focuses on elevating farming standards 
up to international levels in order to create jobs and 
generate revenue and security for Thailand’s farming sector. 

Makro Retailer Alliance
The Company has carried out the Makro Retailer Alliance 
(MRA) project continuously since 2007 to maintain and 
emphasize its important role as a “trusted partner” for 
professional customers. The Project currently comprises 
more than 45,000 member retailers, consisting of Sho 
Huay shops and minimarts, and hosts activities to enhance 
knowledge about retail management using a variety of

New Generation of Sho Huay Show Saney Contest

Makro : Partner for Food Business

different approaches. Activities include a retail shop 
improvement design contest called “New Generation 
of Sho Huay Show Saney,” where the contest winner is 
awarded shop improvements and renovations according 
to their requested designs, which by extension also equips 
them with the capabilities to enter the 4.0 era. However, 
in view of a much more competitive business landscape, 
fast-moving technological advancements, and the widening 
generational gap of small retail operators that is gradually 
impacting the existence of traditional trade formats, the 
Company’s efforts are centered on empowering retail 
operators in Thailand and overseas to securely adapt 
to and withstand a changing social landscape, attract  
new customers, and retain existing customers by providing 
services from a wider range of sales channels.

In 2018, the Company focused on equipping Sho Huay 
operators with the knowledge to develop innovations 
and digital technologies that can be used to improve their 
own business processes, seek more growth opportunities, 
and gain access to customer groups who prefer purchasing 
products through digital channels. Similarly, the Company 
worked to prepare Sho Huay operators for a cashless 
society by organizing the 10th Makro Retailer Expo under 
the concept Sho Huay 4.0 “Trusted Partner to Enhance 
People’s Lives,” which aimed to modernize traditional 
Sho Huay shops with more distinctive characteristics 
in response to changes in the 4.0 era. The Company  
invited digital marketing experts to share their experiences 
on successful digital businesses; organized seminars 
across different locations where Makro stores are located 
and embedded new content on the topic of technology 
integration into training courses to upgrade retail 
businesses and thereby support the Company’s strategic 
aim of connecting online to offline business activities. 
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The 10th Makro Retailer Expo in response to changes in the 4.0 era
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The 13th “Makro HoReCa” event
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The Company expanded the MRA project further by 
partnering with over 85 universities on the “U - Project: 
Makro and University Students Join Forces on Local Retail 
Development,” to provide students with the opportunity 
to apply their learnings on business management in 
actual retail shops within their own communities. Team 
members from the MRA project act as mentors for students 
for a period of 5 months, sharing with them knowledge 
about retail management, product placement, shop 
improvements, and sales promotions, among others. This 
knowledge can then be applied in real life to increase sales 
volumes. Similarly, it is a way for the new generation of 
students to have hands on training to prepare themselves 
to enter the business world. Between 2008 and 2018, 33,637 
students and 6,353 professional customers participated in 
the project. Project assessments reveal that the economic 
value of these communities have increased owing to higher 
sales volumes.

In addition, the Company partnered with over 10 public 
sector agencies to share knowledge with 7,061 individuals 
from “Thong Fah Pracharat” shops in 30 provinces. The 
MRA team assumed the role of speakers and shared their 
experiences with participants on business management 
and methods of creating more sales channels through 
workshops entitled “A Professional Approach to Retail 
Management” with the goal of enhancing “Thong Fah 
Pracharat” shops. The Company’s work in this regard 
does not only cover stores in Thailand, but is extended 
to all countries in which Makro operates. At present the  
Company has successfully set up the MRA Cambodia 
Chapter and has plans to steadily strengthen its capacity.

The development of Sho Huay retailers in the 4.0 era 
does not only depend upon the systematic and efficient 
support of the Makro Retailer Alliance Center and the digital 
integration of Sho Huay shops, but is also about enhancing 
the competitive advantages of these shops to expand 
their product and service selection and helping them to  
differentiate themselves to become the retailer of choice 
in their own communities. The Company thus initiated 
the “Community Kitchen” project, which blends together 
the strengths of both the Company and Sho Huay shops, 
to deliver benefits for customers, business owners and 
consumers. In this case, the Company’s strength lies in 
its quality food products and readiness to develop that 
product further for retailers to sell at their shops. The

 “Community Kitchen” project supports Sho Huay shops 
by enabling them to sell frozen foods in refrigerators, fresh 
foods, eggs, and various spices that are used as ingredients 
for food seasoning. Customers living in that community 
can then go to that shop to purchase clean and quality 
ready-to-cook foods for their own families. Through this 
approach, retailers can differentiate themselves by offering 
products beyond what is typically offered in shops and  
can attract more customers, thereby generating more  
profit and revenue. It is also a way to keep Sho Huay shops 
an essential part of a community, a place that everyone  
can turn to for fresh food in their daily lives. The Community 
Kitchen project thus helps to enhance Sho Huay businesses 
from upstream to downstream, and supports continuous 
sustainable development.

Partner for Food Business
The continuous growth of the Company’s food business 
has been a result of the expansion of the country’s 
tourism sector, due to the increase in both the number 
of foreign tourists in Thailand and tourism revenue, 
and the Company’s strategy to expand its food service 
networks internationally under the vision “to become 
the number one food solution provider for professional 
customers.” It is why the Company has always prioritized 
the capacity development of its over 300,000 professional 
customers in the food service business, and remained 
committed to offering good quality, fresh and clean raw 
ingredients at wholesale prices. The Company carried out 
training sessions on “Food Stylist & Food Presentation” 
skills at the Makro Culinary Center at Tara Phatthanakan  
Building, Makro Head Office. The workshop was led by the 
internationally - acclaimed chef, Prachan Wong-Uthaipan, 
who shared his extensive knowledge, experiences and 
insights into creative food innovation, discussing topics 
such as the art of plate presentation, food design and 
presentation, ways of decorating foods to suit the business 
and adding value to food, as well as current trends in 
food consumption. The end goal of the workshop is 
to allow professional customers to apply these skills 
into their own businesses. Another activity held was 
“HoReCa Day,” an event designed to give consultations 
to professional customers on kitchen design, menu 
selection, cost management, and international food cooking 
demonstrations. Chefs and gurus hold these demonstrations 
for professional customers at all Makro stores across all 
regions of Thailand.
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Makro: Selecting Quality Products,
Enhancing Farmers’ Lives

Safe Thai Smile Orange Project since 2014

In addition, the Company organizes the “Makro HoReCa” 
event, which has been held annually since 2005, to give 
hotels, restaurants and catering (HoReCa) operators the 
opportunity to meet one another and exchange knowledge 
and innovations to further develop their own businesses. 
In 2018, the Company organized the 13th Makro HoReCa  
event under the theme “The Inspiration” to inspire 
existing HoReCa operators, those who are new to the 
business, and those who are carrying on the family

HoReCa business into the next generation, with a sense of 
commitment for developing their food service businesses 
and to foster their growth, enabling them to respond  
well to changing consumer trends in the 4.0 era. Within  
the event itself, there are various other activities held 
including a C.I.Y Cook it Yourself Workshop with food 
experts, the “Makro HoReCa Challenge 2018” endorsed 
by the World Association of Chefs' Societies (WACS) to select 
a winning chef to compete on the world stage, and more.

Makro: Selecting Quality Products, Enhancing  
Farmers’ Lives 
For over 29 years, our professional customers have put 
their trust in Makro’s products for their quality, freshness 
and cleanliness, and adherence to international standards 
and legal compliance. This has been a result of the 
Company’s commitment to developing and enhancing 
the knowledge of farmers in an integrated manner, from 
the production source to sales, in order to guarantee the 
delivery of safe and quality products. In 2018, the Company 
launched the project “Makro: Selecting Quality Products, 
Enhancing Farmers’ Lives” by signing a Memorandum 
of Understanding with 7 agricultural cooperatives across 
the country to stimulate collaboration with Thai farmers, 
create jobs, build careers, and generate sustainable 
revenue for its over 1,400 affiliated farmers. Over the  
past year, the Company received more than 115,000 tons  
of fruits and vegetables from various farmers and 
cooperatives throughout the country to be sold in Makro’s 
129 stores in Thailand. 

Supporting Education and Sustainable Job Creation
Educational opportunities serve as a core foundation in the 
development of good quality livelihoods for Thai youth 
and pave the path for them to become good citizens of 
society and the country. With this in mind, the Company 
provides educational scholarships for Thai youth and 
donates computer equipment to various schools. The 
Company has also continued to support its sustainable 
job creation program by donating 2,628,000 baht in 
capital to the “Chicken Hatching for the Disabled and their  
Caregivers” project in Nakhon Ratchasima.

Safe Thai Smile Orange Project
Oranges are considered to be amongst the top agricultural 
products in Thailand facing the issue of residual chemicals, 
and therefore pose a high health risk for both consumers 
and farmers. Not only that, research indicates that many 
farmers lack the proper knowledge on the safe farming 
of oranges. The Company therefore initiated the “Safe 
Thai Smile Orange Project” in 2014, in collaboration with 
the Food and Drug Administration and the Department 
of Medical Sciences of the Ministry of Public Health, 
Kasetsart University, Maejo University, partner networks 
and independent organizations. The Project is intended
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to support farmers on organic orange orchards on their 
compliance with international food safety standards, Good 
Agricultural Practices (GAP), helping farmers to establish 
standards and create innovations that reduce residual 
chemicals, and elevate their management practices from 
upstream, midstream, to downstream. Now in its fourth 
year, the Project covers an area of more than 20,000 rai of 
orange orchard in Chiang Mai. Consumers are also able 
to trace the origins of Makro’s oranges using a QR Code 
which links with the Makro i - Trace system, and thus can 
be confident that the Company’s oranges are sourced from 
clean and safe farms.

Creating Value and Developing Communities 
The wealth of experiences that Makro has gained from 
conducting corporate social responsibility activities reveal 
that flexibility is a crucial factor in the success and efficiency 
of a project. To ensure that social projects continue to 
be implemented with more and more efficiency in line 
with the Makro 4.0 Strategy, the Company encourages 
all employees, at all Makro stores, to get involved in the 
design and implementation of localized corporate social 
responsibility activities under the campaign “Good Deeds 
of 100 Makro Stores for 100 Communities” which has 
now been implemented for the second consecutive year. 
This approach is important for developing activities that are 
more flexible and better suited to the specific needs of 
each community, and which at the same time complement 
business operations and support Makro’s growth as an 
organization that is loved by local communities. Indeed, 
the activities carried out under this campaign also add an 
element of diversity to community projects. Examples 
include sharing knowledge of proper kitchen gardening 
methods with students, donating trash bins and cleaning 
up beaches near Makro stores, constructing check

 dams, cleaning up and preserving environments around 
community areas such as temples and religious sites, 
schools, public parks, beaches and roads, dredging canals 
and blood donations. These activities strengthen relations 
between the Company, communities and employees, and 
instill a sense of volunteerism amongst employees who can 
be proud of their positive contributions to society.

Makro Loves the Environment
The Company values the importance of environmental 
protection in parallel with its business operations across the 
supply chain to minimize negative impacts on surrounding 
communities and societies. This is achieved through 
energy management in internal operations and in logistics, 
greenhouse gas emissions reduction efforts, and waste and 
water resources management. The Company has applied 
the ‘3Rs’ concept: Reduce, Reuse, and Recycle, to foster 
awareness of environmental care within the organization. 
In 2018, the Company initiated a Solar Rooftop Project 
to generate electricity from solar energy by making use 
of the rooftop space of Makro stores, expected to start 
the electricity generation in 2019. The Project will enable 
the Company to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from 
Makro stores by approximately 300 tons of carbon dioxide 
equivalents per year per store, and is one of a number 
of projects that increase the Company’s proportion of 
renewable energy use along with many others that support 
resource use maximization. In 2018, the Company also 
received an award plaque in recognition of its energy 
management according to ISO 50001 standards, a success 
that stems from the Company’s energy reduction policy 
and efficient energy management strategy. This resulted 
in 5 Makro stores and operating sites receiving ISO 50001 
certifications: Makro Head Office, and Makro stores at 
Khlong Luang, Salaya, Nakhon Nayok and Nakhon In.

“Good Deeds of 100 Makro Stores for 100 Communities” Makro received an award plaque in recognition 
of its energy management according to ISO 50001

042   Annual Report 2018



At the same time, the Company also participated in the T-VER 
Program run by the Thailand Greenhouse Gas Management 
Organization (Public Organization) (TGO) on the greenhouse 
gas emissions reduction certification. The Company was 
certified by TGO for its reduction of 2,163 tons of carbon 
dioxide equivalents per year, which translates to a reduction 
in energy consumption of 3.8 million kilowatt hours  
per year.

The Company employs many approaches to continuously 
reduce its energy consumption and greenhouse gas 
emissions. This includes switching to use high performance 
LED lamps in Makro stores; increasing insulation capacity 
by 50 percent for better temperature controls; installing 
Automated Storage/Retrieval Systems (ASRS) into 30 - 
meter high refrigerated spaces to reduce the number of 
personnel required to work in the space and decrease 
energy consumption; using solar power to heat water for 
cleaning equipment in fresh food distribution centers; and 
investing in expanding its fleet of 45 - foot containers by 
405 for logistics and distribution purposes to help reduce 
the number of trips required for transporting goods as 
well as fuel consumption. In 2018, the Company was able 
to save 4.12 million liters of fuel from transportation, or 
11,417 tons of carbon dioxide, an increase in fuel savings 
of 8.33 percent from 2017. Overall, the Company reduced 
its energy consumption by 4.02 million kilowatt hours 

across the entire organization and reduced greenhouse gas 
emissions of 13,711 tons of carbon dioxide equivalents.

Furthermore, the Company is considerate of environmental 
impacts resulting from raw material sourcing and 
product development, and prioritizes raw materials 
sourced from areas that respect the environment and 
preserve biodiversity and the well - being of surrounding 
communities. The Company has expressed support for 
the government’s policy on tackling plastic pollution by 
signing a Memorandum of Understanding on the campaign 
“Beat Plastic Pollution: If you can’t reuse it, refuse it” 
and committing to the research and development of 
packaging that is composed of natural components and is 
biodegradable, as a way to reduce the amount of waste and 
plastic packaging in line with Sustainable Packaging Policy. 
Underpinning all of these efforts, throughout 29 years of 
business the Company has upheld the policy of not using 
plastic bags, which is one important way that the Company 
creates awareness amongst employees and customers 
to reduce plastic waste and prevent it from entering the 
environment. The outcome is that the Company is able to 
reduce 16.5 million plastic bags per month. The Company 
also conducts beach cleanup campaigns and donates 
recycling bins to separate plastic trash in beach areas  
near Makro stores, which helps to reduce the amount 
of plastic waste that could potentially enter the sea and 
damage marine life and ecosystems.
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Human Resources 
and Organizational 

Development





Product Innovation

Human Resources
and Organizational
Development

Thailand is committed to economic  
restructuring with a view to becoming 
a value - based economy. In the 
same spirit, Makro has undergone a 
restructuring under the Makro 4.0 
Strategy.
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Service Innovation 

Business Model Innovation
(Online to Offline (O2O), Makroclick.com)

Process Innovation  
 (Big Data, QR Code, Makro i-Trace)
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For nearly three decades of operations, the Company has always strived to develop 
our people - to allow them to grow alongside the business and advance their 
careers, ideas, knowledge and skills, and become good and highly capable 
individuals. This is because our human resources are integral to the success of 
the organization. Through their efforts and contributions, they allow us to successfully 
and efficiently achieve our mission and objectives. Given the current state of 
intensifying competition in the retail and wholesale businesses, the Company  
faces the challenge of recruiting and developing individuals in time to support 
 our business growth in Thailand and overseas. The challenge is also tangible  
in how to equip employees with the skills to effectively tackle future changes 
in the industry, in particular, how to respond to changing consumer needs and 
behaviors. Another important challenge concerns forming a work environment  
in which all employees, regardless of their diverse backgrounds or ages, 
can work together and collaborate harmoniously. Managing all of these  
considerations will be vital to leading the organization into the “Makro 4.0” era.

Human capital development for business driving through technology and innovation
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Strengthening Organizational Sustainability through 
Human Capital
The retail industry is characterized by continuous growth 
and competition. The same applies to the Company’s 
approach to human capital development, which is driven 
by our aspiration to become the employer of choice for all 
generations - the sixth Strategic Goals of Makro 4.0. Guided 
by this objective, the Company drives its human resources 
management through the “G4G Strategy,” or “Grow our 
People for Growth,” coupled with our human resources 
management framework. Potential candidates are recruited 
from both inside and outside of the organization to create 
a diversity of knowledge, experiences and expertise within 
the Company, as appropriate for our business objectives. 
At the same time, the Company prioritizes the overall  
well - being of our employees by providing opportunities 
for their development and working to build a strong 
organizational culture to create a community and sense 
of engagement with the Company over the long - term. 
Doing so will foster the growth of leadership skills and 
professionalism amongst our employees, across all levels 
of the organization.

Building the Business and Our People
The Makro 4.0 Strategy, the “New S - Curve,” focuses on 
enhancing competitiveness through technology, creativity, 
innovation and collaboration. Given this, the Company has 
laid out an approach for human resources development 
that supports an overall business strategy which caters to 
new technologically - led business models and digital sales 
channels, such as online - shopping and e - commerce 
applications. The critical challenge for the Company 
therefore concerns developing employees in this era - to 
adapt quickly and proficiently to rapid changes in digital 
technology. The Company has organized activities and

initiatives to enhance our employees’ understanding of 
current trends and of ways to implement technological 
solutions for their own development through what is 
known as the “Digital Literacy Capability Framework.” The 
Company has also worked to integrate an understanding 
of the specific applications of digital technology into 
employees’ own roles and responsibilities, also known 
as their ‘”Functional Capability,” which includes digital 
marketing, digital supply chain management, and financial 
technology. Not only that, the Company is committed to 
increasing digital literacy amongst our leadership to ensure 
that they remain abreast of all changing trends; monitor risks 
of digital disruption, and are able to formulate appropriate 
digital strategies that swiftly respond to such risks. Internally, 
the Company has applied technology to improving the 
efficiency of our human resources management, and have 
started integrating automation into certain work processes to 
reduce the workload of employees, such as those working 
in distribution centers.

As of 2018, the Company has a total of 3 international 
stores in Cambodia and India and, in 2019, the Company 
plans to open new stores in the People’s Republic of 
China and Myanmar. To prepare employees who will be 
moving overseas to assume these new responsibilities, the 
Company has provided trainings on the English language, 
local culture and customs, and agile project management 
skills. The goal is to equip employees with well - rounded 
knowledge and the readiness to assume their new roles 
in their respective countries. The Company also provides 
opportunities for local employees from international stores 
to travel to Thailand for training sessions, where they are 
able to learn and exchange experiences with Thai staff, and 
thereby stimulate knowledge exchanges and international 
collaboration. In this way, the Company is able to learn 

 Grow our People for Growth Project Food Service Academy Project
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about the unique differences of each country where we 
have operations, as is in accordance with our mission. 

Employees receive opportunities for regular training and 
development in their own career paths. Examples include 
the Staff2Potential Program for operations staff; the 
Supervisor Academy Program for supervisors; the Section 
Development & Fresh Food Development Program for 
section managers; the Food Service Academy Program, 
which prepares participants to help the Company serve a 
larger base of HoReCa customers in the future, and finally, 
training programs led by chefs and fresh food experts 
for store employees. Furthermore, the Company hosts 
workshop seminars for employees to apply their learning 
in practice, and organizes internal rotations to encourage 
employees to develop new skills by engaging with different 
departments across the organization. At the management 
level, the Company provides leadership training through 
the C.P. Leadership Institute, offering training courses such 
as the Advance Leader Program (ALP), Business Leader 
Program (BLP), and New Leader Program (NLP). In addition 
to employee development, the Company also partners 
with the Panyapiwat Institute of Management (PIM) to offer 
scholarships for 35 students up to the Bachelor’s Degree 
level. Those selected for the scholarship program have the 
opportunity to intern with the Company, and are prepared 
to take up a position with the Company in the future.

In 2018, the Company’s employees received an average 
of 9.06 hours of training per person, per year. Employees 
at the management level and up received an average of 
10.39 hours of training per person, per year.

Growing Together
To attract and recruit high - potential candidates from all age 
groups into the Makro family and foster their commitment 
to the Company over the long term, we are committed to 
delivering value to our employees in 5 dimensions: 
1. Providing a work - life balance.
2. Improving the Company’s career structure and 

implementing clear policies to ensure that all employees 
have the opportunity for career advancement.

3. Providing competitive compensation and benefits to 
employees as equal to their responsibilities.

4. Developing high - quality leaders who can lead all 
employees towards the same objective.

5. Continuously recruiting and developing employees to 
ensure that there is sufficient manpower for business 
expansion.

All of these commitments are a significant part of the 
Company’s intention to transform and restructure into 
an “Agile” organization - a model which requires greater 
inter - departmental collaboration and flexibility to change. 
Importantly, the Company encourages all of our employees 
to be open about expressing their ideas and opinions in 
order to work as one to drive the organization towards its 
vision. 

The Company currently employs more than 16,000 
employees. The majority is composed of those from 
Generations “X” and “Y”, described as the “new 
generation” of employees. Indeed, the trend is evident that 
Generations X and Y employees are moving up to assume 
managerial positions as those currently in management will 
soon reach retirement. It is therefore imperative for the 
Company to prepare for this generational transition and 
define a clear succession plan to ensure that highly qualified 
candidates are ready to transition into their new leadership 
roles without having an impact on business continuity. 
Similarly, the Company must take steps to ensure that 
the knowledge and experiences of existing management 
are passed on to the new generation, and are retained as 
the Company’s knowledge assets. Succession plans are 
especially necessary for those at the Group Chief levels 
(Chief Level); Senior Directors (Chief Level - 1), Directors 
(Chief Level - 2), Associate Directors (Chief Level - 3), and 
Senior Managers (Chief Level - 4). The level of readiness of 
successors is determined according to three levels: those 
who are ready for immediate succession; within 1 - 3 years, 

Supervisor Academy Program

050   Annual Report 2018



orientation program prior to working. Looking forward, 
the Company is working to develop the “Leadership 4.0” 
Framework, a set of values that delves deeper into the 
aspects of leadership. The objective of this Framework is 
to elevate the leadership potential of all employees in line 
with the Makro 4.0 Strategy, and to bring employees closer 
together on the foundation of a strong and sustainable 
culture to move the Company into the future.

The Company places the utmost importance on treating 
all employees with fairness and caring for their overall 
well - being, to make sure that all members of the Makro 
family come to work happily each day. In terms of human 
rights, the Company adheres to its human rights and labor 
practices policy, which aligns with the United Nations Guiding 
Principles on Business and Human Rights. All employees 
and stakeholders are required to treat one another with 
respect; no discrimination of any form is tolerated, and this 
applies across the Company’s entire supply chain. More 
details about the Company’s human rights policy can be 
found in the sustainability report.

Moving Towards an Innovation Organization
Transitioning towards an “Innovation Organization” is one 
of the most important elements of the Makro 4.0 Strategy. 
Innovations can help to generate added value for the 
business, increase efficiency, and elevate our competitive 
advantage in line with the government’s policy to create 
an innovation - driven, value - based economy. It is for 
this reason that the Company is focused on building 
an “Innovation Culture” by creating an awareness and 
understanding of the importance of innovation for all 
employees. This involves forming an environment in 
which all employees are energized by the potential for 
innovation and are cognizant of its role in enhancing 
internal efficiencies, delivering time, resources and cost 
savings, as well as in responding to business needs. The 
Synergy & Innovation Department assumes the key role in 
leading the systematic development of innovation within 
the organization. The Department promotes employee 
learning through the “Makro Innovation System” website, 
an e - learning system that provides learning materials 
and a channel for proposing new projects and ideas. The 
Department is also responsible for developing innovation 
training courses, internal communications, and organizing 
activities such as the quarterly Innovation Day, roadshows 
across various regions and Makro stores, and for submitting

or within 3 - 5 years. The level of readiness impacts the 
degree of development that successors will receive, as 
well as the methods and tools applied in their leadership 
development. Apart from developing technical skills, the 
Company focuses on improving management capabilities 
in 3 areas: 
1. Speed - Being open to and implementing new ideas, 

having a willingness to take risks and learn from 
successes and failures in order to make improvements 
quickly and efficiently; 

2. Collaborative - Working together, combining ideas, and 
leveraging the similarities and differences of each team 
member, whether in ideas or experiences, to deliver 
the highest impact; and

3. Creative and Innovative - Daring to think differently 
and to innovate new ideas to keep the organization 
one step ahead of or in time with trends.

Specifically for the new generation of young leaders, the 
Company has developed the “Young Talent Program” to 
provide opportunities for young high - potential employees 
to develop their skills and advance their careers. To date, 
23 employees are participating in the Program. 

At the heart of the Company’s vision is a strong organizational 
culture, one which will help all employees to grow and 
work together on the basis of mutual respect and unity. 
The “VICTORY – 7 Makro Values” are central to this, and 
these core values are communicated to employees from 
their very first day at the Company. For example, at the 
“Makro Day One” activities, employees receive orientation 
training and are warmly welcomed through a traditional 
Thai ceremony, which is attended by the Group Chief 
Executive Officer - Siam Makro every one of these events. 
For employees at head office, the Company provides an 

“Makro Day One” Activity
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progress reports and proposing yearly plans to the Board 
of Directors for their acknowledgement. The long - term 
target is to create 5,000 employee “innovators” within 
the organization by 2020, and to continuously increase 
the number of employees who can claim an awareness 
and understanding of innovation. As of October 2018, 129 
employees have been chosen as the Group’s “innovators,” 
having successfully participated in the development and 
completion of innovation projects per the established 
criteria.

The Company has put in place a comprehensive 
innovation management system that provides channels 
for management and employees to submit their ideas 
and participate in innovation development. The system 
is accessible to all employees, including those working in 
operations and who are based in Makro stores. Innovation 
development at the Company is classified according to 4 
categories: Process Innovation, Product Innovation, Service 
Innovation and Business Model Innovation. An employee 
representative from each department is selected by the 
Synergy & Innovation Department as the “Innovation 
Leader,” and is responsible for leading innovation efforts 
in their respective departments. Employees are chosen 
based on qualities such as the ability to innovate new ideas 
and their analytical and problem - solving skills, as they 
will become important role models on innovation for their 
fellow colleagues. Importantly, the Company encourages 
management and all department heads to act as good  
role models for their employees as well, where they should

“Rental Space Management (RSM)” Project

offer their staff opportunities to propose new ideas, and 
channels to try out new things. Ultimately, this is to 
ensure that the Company is able to embed an innovative  
mindset into all organizational processes, from the bottom 
- up and the top - down, and that it is absorbed into all 
work processes.

In 2018, the Company organized various activities to 
promote innovation, including the “One Innovation 
One Department” activity; Makro Innovation Day, under 
the theme of “365 Days Innovation Around You”; and 
the “Makro 4.0 Innovation Award,” which was formally 
organized for the first time this past year as a platform for 
employees to showcase their successful innovation projects 
and to inspire others.

An important means of delivering added value and 
sustainable growth for the Company’s business in the 
4.0 era is partnerships - particularly innovation partnerships 
between the Company and Charoen Pokphand Group. 
In 2018, the Company received the President Award for 
process innovation excellence at the “President Awards 
2017 - 2018” organized by CP ALL for the project of “Rental 
Space Management (RSM)” developed to facilitate rental 
space management and the efficiency of rent collection, 
in addition, the Company also received Honorable Mention 
Award for the project of “Document e - Meeting for BoD's” 
developed by the Legal Department to help saving time and 
improve the process of document preparation for Board of 
Directors’ meetings. Moreover, the Company also received 
Silver level awards at the “Process Excellence Awards 2018” 
orgainzed by CP ALL for 2 projects. The first, titled “Order 
Fast, Deliver Fresh,” focused on helping employees in the 
fresh food department save time on produce deliveries, 
enabling them to deliver faster, more accurately, and 
ensure that stores have sufficient quantities of produce for 
sale. The second, “U - project on web” aimed to digitize 
the current (manual) process of managing collaborations 
between the Company and university students on local 
retail store development. The collaborative projects 
currently boasts a large stakeholder participation, which 
comprises 85 universities, more than 4,000 students, and 
more than 850 shop owners.
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ENVIRONMENTAL,
OCCUPATIONAL 
HEALTH AND SAFETY 
MANAGEMENT

The Company has enacted environmental, occupational health and safety management 
guidelines in accordance with legal requirements for our internal business operations.  
The scope of these guidelines cover all of our stores, distribution centers and head office,  
and focus on enhancing the safety and good occupational health of all employees, contractors 
and customers.

From the very start of business operations, the Company 
has been committed to enhancing the occupational health, 
safety, and working environment of our workplace. We 
have defined an environmental, occupational health and 
safety management policy, and upheld a firm commitment 
to employing every available means to guarantee the 
workplace safety and good occupational health of all 
our employees. Our goal is to reduce the lost time injury 
frequency rate to zero for our full - time employees, sales 
promoters, contractors and customers. Our policy covers 
the following aspects: 
	Providing safe working conditions.
	Establishing safe work processes, which also apply to the 

tools, machinery, and other equipment used for work.
	Establishing appropriate safety measures to ensure  

that employees and customers are confident in the 
safety of their workplace and of the Company’s services, 
respectively. 

	Organizing training sessions, seminars, and providing 
recommendations for employees on their health and 
occupational safety - both during and outside of working 
hours, such as trainings for safety officers, “Big Cleaning

 Day” activities, employee enrolments in environmental 
courses within and outside of the organization, and the 
“Makro Safe Driving” campaign. 

	Providing a hygienic work environment and atmosphere 
for our employees, along with other amenities.

The Company has set up Safety, Occupational Health 
and Workplace Committees to determine strategies for  
driving occupational health and safety within the 
organization, as well as to ensure proper compliance 
and policy implementation to ultimately bring about  
the reduction in and prevention of accidents. Given this, 
the Company has carried out the following:  
	Devised accident prevention strategies to strengthen the 

capacity of management in stores and at the head office. 
Established a Safety, Occupational Health and Workplace 
Committee at every store under the provisions of the 
law to drive, support and promote safety activities and 
prevent work - related accidents and unsafe conditions. 
These steps will ultimately lead to a robust approach 
for accident prevention.
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	Developed an evaluation strategy for safety, occupational 
health and work environments. Assessments are carried 
out by Safety Audit Committees from Makro’s Business 
Groups, where the results are used to evaluate the 
safety management of each store and to encourage the 
exchange of experiences that can be applied for further 
safety improvements and developments in stores and 
at distribution centers.

	Developed a strategy to foster a safety culture through 
leadership engagement, thereby creating a safety 
culture within each store’s management that can be 
embedded amongst operational staff at each level. The 
Company also established key performance indicators 
to empirically measure performance and ultimately 
promote a sustainable culture and awareness for safety. 

The Company has designated the year 2018 as “The Year 
of Safety Culture and Sustainability.” This was driven 
through a strategy that aimed to strengthen the internal 
capability of the organization; safety assessments by 
external Audit Committee and Leadership Engagement, 
as well as the inclusion of a safety, occupational health 
and work environment course into employee orientation. 
The Company also organized safety culture - building 
training for new store managers and specified operating 
rules and requirements for employees and contractors, 
which will help them to build the necessary skills for 
their own work safety and the safety of their colleagues 
and customers. Personal safety equipment has also been 
provided for operational staff according to their level of 
risk, as well as for employees and regular contractors, 
and the Company further required that all accidents be 
reported, including accidents with impacts on lives, assets, 
and high - risk incidents. Once an incident has occurred, it 
must be investigated thoroughly for its root cause in order 
for the Company to implement future protective and 
preventative measures, and must be reported directly to 
store managers and the Makro head office. Such measures 
are geared towards embedding an awareness for safety 
throughout the organization - to foster a company - wide 
safety culture. Furthermore, the Company required that 
assessments on workplace conditions be carried out, such 
as for indoor lighting, sounds, temperature, and indoor air 
quality. The results would then be used to improve working 
environments as safe and appropriate for staff. Finally, 
occupational health risk assessments were conducted by 

occupational physicians, and employees were required to 
undergo health assessments according to their level of risk 
exposure, to allow for the monitoring and promotion of 
good occupational health for all operational staff.

The Company supports the management of safety, 
occupational health and working environments within the 
organization, which is overseen by the Safety, Occupational 
Health and Workplace Committee at each store. The 
Committee works to ensure the sustainability of safety 
management, legal compliance, and that its progress 
aligns with the direction of the public sector. In 2018, 52 
Makro stores in Thailand were recognized as outstanding 
models for occupational health, safety and workplace  
management, where 22 stores were awarded at 
the national level, 25 stores at the provincial level, 
and 5 provincial stores received honorable mentions. 
Moreover, one Makro store received an award as part of 
the National Zero Accident Campaign. The Company also 
participated in a Sustainability Report Assurance audit 
according to the GRI Standards to assess our performance 
on health and occupational safety against international 
standards. The safety performance of our stores, measured 
by the “Safety Index” - determined based on the lost  
time injury frequency rate (LTIFR) - was at 2.26 per  
1 million hours of work.

Environmental Management
The Company’s business is carried out on the principles 
of environmental protection and respect for the rights 
of communities and the wider society. Given this, the 
Company refrains from conducting any activity that might 
result in a negative impact on natural resources or the 
surrounding environment, and strictly operate under the 
framework of relevant environmental laws. The Company 
further works to instill a sense of responsibility for the 
society and environment within the organization amongst  
employees at all levels.

Our commitment to environmental management and 
the reduction of our operational impacts has been 
integrated into the Makro 4.0 Strategy. Environmental 
management under this strategy encompasses all activities 
from upstream to downstream of the supply chain, and 
relies on partnerships with various stakeholders. This 
includes working with business partners to source 
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environmentally - friendly products and biodegradable 
packaging for customers to access environmentally - friendly 
products and have the option of choosing products as 
suitable to their needs; managing environmental impacts 
within Makro’s own boundaries; separating recyclable 
materials from waste to maximize resource use, and 
ensuring the use of proper waste management practices 
according to legal requirements. Wastewater from our 
operations are treated, and under the “Zero Wastewater 
Discharge Project,” treated wastewater is used for watering 
plants at Makro stores to prevent any wastewater from 
flowing into communities, to conserve water use, and 
thereby increase the area of green spaces within our store 
areas. The Company has also started to expand the scope 
of our waste management operations, such as by initiating 
a project to study the development of soil amendments 
using food waste. These means are critical in laying the 
foundation for the Company to become a model waste - 
free store in the future.

The Company is committed to energy management, 
and has applied a comprehensive international energy 
management system to drive energy management within 
the organization. The Company has studied approaches 
for energy management according to international 
requirements, and have worked to improve and develop 
our energy management system, resulting in the successful 
certification of our system according to ISO 50001:2011 
standards on 15 June 2018. The scope of the certification 
covers Makro’s head office and 4 Makro stores, at 
Salaya, Nakhon - in, Klong Luang and Nakhon Nayok. This 
certification was an important means of enhancing the 
accuracy and credibility of our energy management system 
according to international standards, and for building the 
sustainability of our energy management approach. The 
success of our efforts in energy conservation further resulted 
in our recognition by the Department of Alternative Energy 
Development and Efficiency, Ministry of Energy, as an 
operation with excellent performance under the Ministry’s 
ISO 50001 Promotion Project on 2 August 2018. 

At the same time, building a mindset for environmental 
conservation amongst employees remains a key foundation 
for the Company’s work on environmental management. 

The Company’s activities to this end involve campaigning 
for better resource use at offices, turning lights off  
after use, and implementing temperature controls for 
air - conditioners. Environment and energy management 
is an integral component of our operations that must be 
developed continuously to ensure that the Company  
can generate positive impacts for the society in all  
areas where we operate. In 2019, the Company plans 
to increase the proportion of renewable energy use  
in Makro stores by installing solar energy systems, which will 
increase energy security, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, 
and thus work towards achieving our Makro 4.0 Strategic 
Goal of reducing greenhouse gas emissions intensity by 10 
percent by 2020.

To ensure that the above activities on environmental 
management are carried out accurately and in a transparent 
manner, the Company has retained the services of an 
external agency to audit the accuracy of our sustainability 
disclosures according to the GRI Standards. Doing so 
will build up the confidence in our approach and data 
concerning energy management, pollution management, 
waste management and occupational health and safety.

Environmental Education
The Company is committed to operating in a way that 
does not impact the environment, natural resources, or 
communities. Embedding a sense of responsibility for  
the environment, communities, and the proper use of 
natural resources amongst employees at all levels and 
across the entire organization will therefore be vital to 
fulfilling this commitment. The Company has organized 
environmental awareness training for all employees, as 
well as for management stationed at each store. All are 
required to undergo environmental training from their very 
first day on the job, at orientation held at the head office.  
Trainings are aimed at communicating about and campaigning 
for environmental conservation, impact reduction, and 
proper resource use that does not negatively impact  
the environment or communities. 

The outcomes of these activities are reported to 
management at each business unit so that they can be 
applied for improvements, devising unit - specific plans, 
and setting company targets – all of which can then be 
implemented efficiently and sustainably in the future.
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	Organized the 13th “Makro 
HoReCa” event under the theme  
of “The Inspiration” aiming  
to enhance capabil ity of 
HoReCa operators and to  
offer opportunities for their 
business growth.

	Received an honorable certificate 
from the Department of Labour 
Protection and Welfare for being 
an enterprise in the Northern  
part making self - declaration into 
the Thai labor standards system.

	Signed contract with the Trat 
golden pineapple community 
enterpr i se  by us ing  the 
Department of Internal Trade 
standard purchasing contract.

	Makro Hat Yai jointly organized 
“2018 Royal Project Products 
Festival” with the Royal Project 
Foundation to promote quality 
agricultural products from hill 
tribe farmers in the area of the 
Royal Project.

	Makro Phrae jointly organized a 
workshop on “Professional Retail  
Store Management” with 
Thailand Post Co., Ltd. and level  
10 Regional Specialists to  
enhance Thai Sho Huay shops 
by providing knowledge about  
retail store management in 
various fields to become hybrid  
Sho Huay shops in the future.

	Collaborated with the business 
alliances to organize the activity 
“Unleaded Thai Noodle - Pot  
Thais Strong, Thailand Strong” 
for eight consecutive years. This 
is a campaign for professionals 
to realize the danger of lead 
that may be interblended in 
non - quality noodle pots 
and to enhance the quality of 
consumers' lives.

	Donated Baht 2,628,000 to the 
2nd Army Area and Provincial 
Employment Office in Nakhon 
Ratchasima to promote a 
sustainable career training 
program of raising egg - laying 
hens for people living with 
disabilities and their care givers.

	Witnessed and supported the 
signing of MOU for “No Plastic 
Bottle Cap Seal” between the 
Thai Retailers Association and 
network partners, both public 
and private sectors composed 
of more than 10 agencies, 
together with the Pollution 
Control Department, the 
Ministry of Natural Resources 
and Environment.

	Opened a 1,454 sq.m. Makro 
Foodservice Pracha Uthit, 
Bangkok.

	Received an honorable plaque 
f rom Pol lut ion Cont rol 
Department, Ministry of Natural 
Resources and Environment  
for joining public - private 
partnership program for  
collecting hazardous waste 
from the community, electronic 
products and appliances.
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Receiving an honorable plaque from the 
Pollution Control Department, Ministry 
of Natural Resources and Environment The 13th “Makro HoReCa” event

Donating to the 2nd Army Area and 
Provincial Employment Office, Nakhon 
Ratchasima to promote a career training 
program for disabilities and their care givers



	Received an honorable plaque 
and certificate from the National  
Bureau of Agricultural Commodity  
and Food Standards, Ministry 
of Agriculture and Cooperatives 
for being "places sell ing 
standardized organic products" 
in 14 Makro stores.

	Received an honorable plaque 
from the Department of Medical 
Sciences, Ministry of Public 
Health for jointly developing 
the system for food safety 
monitoring and controlling 
at every step of production 
throughout the food chain.

	Signed MOU with the Department  
of Livestock Development, 
Ministry of Agriculture and 
Cooperatives to participate 
in “Antibiotic - Free Raising 
Animals for Livestock Production”  
project.

	Collaborated with Ministry 
of Commerce for welcoming 
“Back to School” with a special 
promotion of stationery and 
school supplies discounts to 
help parents save money.

	Launched the project, “Makro:  
Selecting Quality Products, 
Enhancing Farmers’ Lives” by 
signing MOU with 7 agricultural  
cooperatives to purchase 
agricultural products and 
distribute to consumers 
throughout the country.

	Joined the seasonal fruits 
caravan for distributing 
to Makro stores all over the 
country under the MOU 
of 2018 seasonal fruits  
purchasing from farmers.

	Participated in the 2nd “We 
Love Ranong” project jointed 
by Ranong Province, Ranong 
Chamber of Commerce, the 
National Identity Foundation, 
state enterprises, public 
and private sectors, people 
of Ranong and Charoen 
Pokphand Group by selecting 
products of Ranong province 
to sell at Makro stores.

	Received an honorable 
plaque for supporting “2018 
Road Safety Project in Trat 
Province.”

	Jointed the Pracharat 
campaign on “Creating 
Jobs, Market Channels, 
Opportunity and Income" 
for Buri Ram province by 
opening consulting units 
to provide knowledge in 
product introduction and 
to expand distr ibution  
channels to farmers and 
retailers. 

	Signed MOU with the  
Lampang Pineapple Growers 
Cooperative Limited to  
support as a distribution 
channel  fo r  Lampang 
pineapples as a part of 2018 
Pracharat Project.

	Signed MOU with farmers' 
community enterprises and 
the agricultural cooperatives 
in the Northern region by 
using the Department of 
Internal Trade standard 
purchasing contract. 

	Launched “the 6th Makro 
Jadhai” promotion campaign 
to stimulate sales and 
help Sho Huay customers 
to increase their profits by  
using Makro application.

April May

	Signed MOU with the Department 
of Internal Trade, Ministry of 
Commerce, to purchase 2018 
seasonal fruits from farmers, 
cooperatives and community 
enterprises for distribution  
of quality fruits to consumers 
throughout the country.

	Makro Retailer Alliance held 
a training seminar on “Retail 
Store Management” under the 
“Enhancing Thai Cooperatives, 
Strengthening Thai Retail 
Project” of the Department 
of Business Development, 
Ministry of Commerce to 
increase the potential of 
retail stores to grow strongly 
and sustainably by exchanging 
knowledge and delivering 
bu s i n e s s  mana g emen t 
experience.

Promoting and selecting products of 
Ranong province to sell at Makro stores

“Back to School” campaign in 
collaboration with the Ministry of 
Commerce



	Received the certification 
of Thailand's Private Sector 
Collective Action Coalition 
Against Corruption (CAC) 
awarded to companies 
who demonstrate their 
commitment to fight against 
corruption through the 
implementation of policies 
and effective mechanisms.

	Ob t a i n ed  I SO  5 0001 
certification by TUV NORD 
(Thailand) Limited for Makro 
Head Office, Makro Salaya, 
Makro Klong Luang, Makro 
Nakhon Nayok and Makro 
Nakhon In.

	Organized “the 5th Partner 
for Food Business” workshop 
led  by  Chef  P rachan  
Wong - Uthaipan, a level B 
Judge certified from World 
Association of Chefs Societies 
and Executive Chef of Arnoma 
Hotel Bangkok who shared 
his extensive experiences to 
HoReCa customers to apply 
these skills into their own 
businesses.

	Signed MOU with Ban Lao Ta 
Ma large - scale rice farming 
group, Borabue Cooperative 
Limited to purchase non - 
toxic Taksila rice in fiscal year 
2018 from more than 40 
cooperatives on an area of 
over 300 rai under Pracharat 
project.

	Collaborated with Songkhla 
province, Songkhla Provincial 
Fisheries Office and Songkhla 
Office of Commercial Affairs 
organized the “Makro Invite 
You to Eat Shrimp and 
Support the Shrimp Farmers” 
in order to help them from 
shrimp price depressing.

	Opened a 1,341 sq.m. Makro 
Foodservice Sukhumvit 71, 
Bangkok.

	Opened a 2,156 sq.m. Makro 
Foodservice Nawamin 70, 
Bangkok.

	Opened the 1st LOTS Wholesale  
Solutions store in Pitampura, 
New Delhi, India

	Received an honorable plaque 
at “Food Safety Expo” organized  
by Ministry of Public Health 
for being an organization that 
develops system in supervising, 
controlling and monitoring the 
quality of food at all stages of 
the food chain as well as aims 
to improve the quality of Thai 
food to international standard.

	Signed contract to support the 
purchase of fruits from the 
Southern farmers by using the 
Department of Internal Trade 
standard purchasing contract.

	Held a press conference as  
being a leader in international 
food safety standards to 
ensure the production of HACCP 
standardized quality bakery 
products which are safe from 
trans fat.

	Received an honorable plaque 
a s  a n  e n t e r p r i s e  w i t h  
outstanding performance in 
Energy Management System 
(ISO 50001) for Makro Head 
Office, Makro Salaya, Makro Klong  
Luang, Makro Nakhon Nayok  
and Makro Nakhon In.

	Received Thailand Labour 
Management Excellence Award 
2018 held by the Department of 
Labour Protection and Welfare, 
Ministry of Labour divided into 
22 national awards, 25 provincial 
awards and 5 certificates.

	Makro Nong Khai was awarded an 
honorable certificate for joining 
the campaign “reducing work 
accidents to zero in 2018” from 
the Ministry of Labour.

July AugustJune

Opening LOTS Wholesale Solutions in 
Pitampura, the 1st store in India

Opening Makro Foodservice Sukhumvit 71, Bangkok Holding a press conference to ensure 
the quality of bakery products safe 
from trans fat



	Awarded an honorable plaque 
for being an excellent Modern 
Trade of Q Mark products in 
all Makro stores nationwide 
by the National Bureau of 
Agricultural Commodity and 
Food Standards, Ministry of 
Agriculture and Cooperatives.

	Joined hands with Halal 
Affair Division, the Central 
Islamic Council of Thailand 
organized the 2018 annual 
training course “Halal Food 
and Industry Practices (Halal 
Training)” under the Thailand 
Halal learning program to 
develop and increase the 
potential of employees that 
involved in the Halal food 
process in order to correctly 
operate in accordance  
with the provisions of Islam  
and creating confidence for 
Muslim consumers. Makro 
has been certified for Halal 
certification standard for 10 
stores nationwide.

	Makro ROH, 99.99% owned 
by the Company, formed 
a new wholly - owned 
subsidiary, ARO Commercial 
Company Limited, registered 
in Myanmar, with primary 
purpose to operate retail, 
wholesale and related 
businesses.

	Received an honorable 
plaque for registering 
in Thailand Voluntary 
Emission Reduction Program 
(T - VER) from the Ministry 
of Natural Resources and  
Environment organized by 
the Thailand Greenhouse Gas 
Management Organization 
(Public Organization) (TGO) 
by installing LED lamps in 
21 Makro stores. This can 
reduce greenhouse gas by 
2,180 tons of carbon dioxide  
per year and passed the 
certification from the TGO.

	Opened a 2 ,178 sq .m. 
Makro Foodservice Cha - am, 
Phetchaburi.

	Opened  the  2 nd LOTS  
Wholesale Solutions store in 
Akshardham, New Delhi, India

	Held the 10th “Retailer Expo” 
under the concept Sho 
Huay 4.0 “Trusted Partner to  
Enhance People’s Lives,” to 
develop knowledge for Sho 
Huay operators.

	Received an honorable 
certificate from CP ALL for 
being a model organization 
on occupational health, safety 
and environment with national 
awards.

	Organized “the 6th Partner 
for Food Business” workshop 
sharing by World Class Chef 
Willment Leong, Chairman 
of World Chefs Without  
Borders who shared his 
extensive experiences to 
HoReCa operators to extend 
opportunities for their business 
growth.

	Makro Mae Sot was awarded 
Best Public Toilet of the Year 
2018 in “the World Toilet 
Day 2018” event organized  
by Ministry of Public Health.

	Opened a 2,084 sq.m. Makro 
Foodservice On Nut, Bangkok.

	Opened a 1,987 sq.m. Makro 
Foodservice Suksawat, Bangkok

	Opened a 6,921 sq.m. Makro 
Kabin Buri, Prachin Buri

	Signed MOU to participate in 
reducing the use of plastic bags 
campaign with the Department 
of Environmental Quality 
Promotion, Ministry of Natural 
Resources and Environment.

	Makro Foodservice Hua Hin 
jointly organized “2018 Royal 
Project Products Festival” with 
the Royal Project Foundation 
to promote quality agricultural 
products from hill tribe farmers 
in the area of the Royal Project.

	Supported the community 
shop project of Mueang Li 
community, Tambon Mueang 
Li, Amphoe Na Muen in  
Nan Province, to create jobs 
for people with disabilities 
by donating Baht 1,752,000.

September October November December

Receiving an honorable plaque from the 
Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment

Opening LOTS Wholesale Solutions in 
Akshardham, the 2nd store in India

Arranging “Halal Food and Industry 
Practices (Halal Training)”

Reducing the use of plastic 
bags campaign





Market Overview 
and Industry Outlook
The wholesale and retail industry remains a key component of the Thai economy and a significant part of the 
country’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP). Overall, the wholesale and retail industry continues to grow as a result of 
increased consumer spending, which has witnessed a positive trend due to the Thai economic recovery as well as the  
growing tourism sector, expanding urban communities, and the government’s economic stimulus policies. 

In 2018, the Thai economy demonstrated a growth rate of 4.1%, growing steadily higher than the previous year’s rate of 
3.9%. This was due to several factors: (1) the recovery of private sector consumption and investment, (2) government 
spending and investment, and (3) continued growth of exports.

GDP Growth Rate, Export and Private Consumption
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The wholesale and retail models that exist in Thailand  
today can be divided into the following 6 formats, as 
follows:1

1)  Discount Store/ Supercenter/ Hypermarket: Retail 
stores with sales areas of at least 1,000 square meters 
that sell daily use consumer products in the food and  
non-food categories. The strategic elements which 
distinguish this type of store consists of a modern  
store type, strategic location, convenience, and its 
ability to provide products at below the market  
prices. Examples include Tesco Lotus and Big C. 

2)  Cash & Carry: Wholesale stores that have sales areas 
of at least 1,000 square meters that sell daily use 
consumer products in the food and non-food categories, 
where the proportion of food products is higher than 
non-food products, and where such products are sold 
in large quantities or as pack sizes at wholesale prices. 
Examples include Makro.

3) Supermarkets: Retail stores that have at least 400 
square meters in sales area that offer daily use consumer 
products in the food category, particularly fresh  
and diverse food products, as well as other product  
categories. Products are sold at the market price. 
Examples include Tops and Foodland, among others.

4) Convenience Stores/ Express/ Mini Mart: Retail stores 
with at least 40 square meters in sales area that sell 
daily use products in both food and non-food categories 
and prioritize the offering of services and customer 
convenience. They are typically located in community 
areas and are open 24 hours. Examples include 7-11 
and Family Mart.

1 The Committee on Commerce, Industry and Labour, National Legislative Assembly (2016). Report on the Study of the Structure of 
the Retail and Wholesale Industry: The State of Problems and Solutions.

5) Department Store: Retail stores that have sales areas 
of at least 1,000 square meters and offer a diverse 
range of modern and high-quality products, particularly 
in non-food categories. Products are displayed clearly 
in their respective departments are sold at the market 
price or higher. Employees assist in providing counter 
and billing services. Examples include Central and 
Robinson’s Department Stores.

6) Specialty Store and Category Killer: Large retail stores 
that have sales areas of at least 1,000 square meters, 
and small retail stores that have sales areas of at least 
200 square meters. These types of stores sell non-food 
specialty products and are diverse in the product types 
and models they offer, including electronics, furniture, 
home decoration, beauty or health products, sports 
equipment and more. Employees are equipped with 
knowledge about a particular product type and are thus 
able to provide quality recommendations. Prices tend 
towards the higher end. Examples include Watsons and 
Boots.

In 2018, the wholesale and retail industry showed a 
continuously growing trend, which was supported by: 
1) the sustained growth of the Thai market from the first 
quarter of 2018, despite the slowdown in the third quarter 
owing to reduced exports, and 2) the growth of the tourism 
sector due to the higher number of international tourist 
arrivals, which will help to generate more business 
opportunities for the wholesale and retail industry in  
key tourist destination cities.
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Major wholesalers and retailers in Thailand have plans to continue expanding new branches in order to expand 
their customer base in Bangkok and other key cities, and to enable customers to more easily and conveniently  
access their stores. The trend in expansion is focused on smaller store formats given that the expansion of 
large-scale stores like hypermarkets are beginning to slow down as a result of changing consumer behaviors, the restrictions 
imposed by city planning laws, and the difficulty in securing large pieces of land. Furthermore, business owners are 
more carefully considering locations and business models, especially for expanding in Bangkok, as the city has a very 
high density of stores and high competition in each area.

Store format
Number of stores at year-end 

Increase
2017 2018

	Mini Big C
	Big C
	Big C Market
	Big C Extra 
	Big C Jumbo

650
121
60
16
3

800
129
60
16
3

+150
+8

-
-
-

	Tesco Lotus Express
	Tesco Lotus Market
	Tesco Lotus Department Store 

and Tesco Lotus Extra 

1,557
194
192

1,607
195
205

+50
+1

+13

	7-11 10,268 10,988 +720

	Makro and Siam Frozen Foods 123 129 +6

	Max Value Tanjai
	Max Value Supermarket

49
31

51
30

+2
-1

	Family Mart
	Tops Deli
	Tops Market/Supermarket

1,136
64
90

1,186
68
96

+50
+4
+6

Source: Euromonitor

Nevertheless, the wholesale and retail industry must confront the pressures of a changing digital world and the  
changing behaviors of consumers who increasingly prefer online shopping. Modern trade retailers and wholesalers  
must quickly adapt their businesses to prepare for competition and ensure their own long-term survival. To prepare for 
the entry of virtual online shops, they have therefore employed the omni-channel market strategy, which refers to a mix 
of online and offline marketing channels offering all available products. This means that in the future, businesses must  
prioritize expanding stores as well as gear their growth towards the online market. The Company has also employed  
the O2O (Online to Offline) strategy to connect its online and offline retail services, thereby enhancing its  
competitiveness and better responding to changing consumer behaviors. 
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Future 
Projects

Makro’s 4.0 Strategy, with its focus on technology, creativity, and innovation, was developed 
in response to an environment in which consumer habits are being transformed by the digital 
age, and where domestic and international businesses are seeing intensifying competition. 
The Strategy sets out 6 Strategic Goals for achieving the Company’s vision “to be number 
one food solution provider for professional customers.” Furthermore, the Company aims to 
leverage its highly qualified human resources, knowledge, and wealth of industry know - how 
amassed from over 29 years of business operations to strengthen our customer relationships 
and become a “trusted partner… for enhancing people’s lives.” These driving factors  
will help the Company grow sustainably together with our professional customers and the  
wider society.

Domestic Expansion
The Company will continue focusing on domestic business 
expansion by developing and tailoring store formats to  
meet the demands of our professional food service 
customers.The domestic food service industry has 
witnessed sustained growth, largely due to the expansion  
of the tourism sector, which has received support  
through government policies. At the same time, the  
Company will also continue prioritizing retail Cash &  
Carry customers and to provide customer - centric solutions 
for our professional customers by being a “one - stop shop” 
that offers the full range of goods and services.

In developing new goods and services to meet the diverse 
needs of our customers and to create a unique business 
model, the Company designed 2 new store formats, the 
“Makro Foodservice stores” format, which averages 1,000

to 3,000 m2 in area, and the “Makro Food shops” format, 
which averages under 1,000 m2 in area. These 2 new store 
formats directly target professional customers, particularly 
HoReCa customers in high tourism and high population 
density areas. Such formats will further offer an expansion 
of our delivery service, particularly of fresh food products -  
a key strength of the Company - and provide high quality, 
ready - to - use ingredients to professional customers.

Reaching a New Generation of Customers through 
E - Commerce
Given the increased preference of a new generation of  
customers who are turning to online shopping, coupled  
with the rapid growth of online and digital retailing  
businesses, the Company has directed its attention to 
the research and development of new digital channels to  
enter the e - commerce sphere.
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Future plans involve developing an e - commerce platform 
to facilitate online sales and increase the number of  
customer - facing channels (OMNI - Channel Sales and Services).  
The e - commerce platform will, importantly, support our 
Online to Offline (O2O) Strategy, which aims to streamline  
and connect customers’ online and offline purchasing  
activities. Examples of these plans currently in practice  
include our offer of premium quality of Siam Food Services 
Limited products on the online “Food Diary” shop, which 
is available on the “HappyFresh” and “honestbee” 
e - commerce platforms; providing an online shopping  
and delivery channel via Macroclick.com; and installing  
automatic self - service payment systems in stores. 
Going forward, the Company will continue to develop its 
e - commerce platform to enable customers to access  
events and carry out sales through all available  
channels - as well as build even stronger relationships  
with our customers.

Moreover, the Company has been focused on applying 
digital technologies to deliver added value and business 
sustainability. Specifically, the Company has applied 
Big Data analytics to deliver insights into customer 
behavior, wherein the results will be used to help the 
Company manage and better cater to the specific needs 
of our customers. Not only that, it will help to generate 
valuable insights and support the digitization of our 
Sho Huay professional customers; serve as a mark of 
business differentiation, and help us stay one step ahead 
of the changes in customer behavior in this digital age. 

International Expansion
The Company will continue its expansion into high  
potential and growing economies - Cambodia, India, China, 
and Myanmar. Entering these high - growth markets marks 
an important step to becoming a regional player. Such 
expansions will be focused on providing a diverse array of 
store formats to cater to the demands of each market, which 
accommodate local lifestyles and business environments. 
In this endeavor, the Company has conducted extensive 
research into the differences in cultures and business 
practices of each market, and have clearly identified 

target customer groups,  with the understanding that a 
thorough knowledge about the countries in which we 
serve and operate is crucial  to a successful market entry 
- and thereby the expansion of our market share. And 
while the Company plans to bring forth its know - how 
and expertise from Thailand, we will be gaining at the 
same time valuable insights and knowledge from abroad 
that can be applied to enhance our businesses. Examples 
include innovative digital technologies used in India, which 
can serve as the basis for the development of digital 
platforms in Thailand; bringing successful e - commerce 
and digital marketing strategies from Thailand to Cambodia; 
and studying the success of the cashless society in China. 
Meanwhile, the Company will continue to seek and  
build local partnerships in the region to strengthen our 
competitive advantage and grow fast, but grow strong. 

Regarding the international expansion of our food service 
business, the Company has established the Food Service  
APME business unit, which has an important role in driving the 
food service businesses under the Company in 6 countries and 
areas: Thailand, Cambodia, Vietnam, Hong Kong, Singapore, 
and the United Arab Emirates. Food Service APME will  
work to realize the Company’s vision, “to become the  
number one professional food solutions provider  
serving food professionals in Asia Pacific and the Middle East.”  
Its five - year plan is focused on developing differentiated 
own brands, building a core team with food service industry 
expertise, operating a full - service model, producing 
goods at an international standard, and continuing 
to develop innovations to maintain competitiveness. 
The five - year plan is composed of 3 main strategies:  
(1) Greater value creation, such as through the expansion of our  
MAXZI The Good Food Shop brand in Dubai to reach  
more retail customers; (2) Developing human capital, 
particularly focusing on high - potential employees and 
applying the results of employee engagement surveys 
to improve employee training, overall well - being,  
and the working environment; and (3) Developing 
teams and leaders, as well as offering employees the  
opportunity to share their experiences and expertise.
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Aside from this, the Food Service APME business unit is  
engaging in the research and development (R&D) of “own 
brand” products as well as product customization to better 
suit customers’ unique needs. Indeed, the Company’s focus 
on building our competitive platform is evident through our 
commitment to R&D, and to further integrate and develop 
Siam Food Service and Indoguna as a competitive brand 
poised for international expansion. In 2019, Food Service 
APME business unit plans to utilize regional office for 
Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited in Phnom Penh 
in a move to further strengthen our position amongst 
HoReCa customers in Cambodia.

Human Capital Development Projects
The Company continues to face challenges stemming 
from the rapid growth of our domestic and international 
businesses, wherein the Company must work to recruit 
and develop the sufficient amount of employees - in 
terms of both quality and quantity. The “Grow our 
People for Growth - G4G” Strategy will therefore remain 
critical in helping us meet our human resources needs, 
and covers everything from recruiting diverse groups of 
employees, developing skills and capabilities in line with the 
business strategy, to fostering a strong organizational 
culture that is ready to adapt to changes in the business 
environment by using the approach of agile project 
management.

Another issue of paramount importance concerns the 
development and application of new advanced technologies. 
The Company is therefore focused on equipping our  
employees with technological skills, general related 
knowledge, and the know - how in applying technology 
to their job - specific functional capabilities, for instance, 
in digital marketing. The overarching objective is to enable 
employees to integrate technology as part of their work 
processes, ultimately leading to further developments 
in innovation. Moreover, the Company provides training

for employees who will assume international postings 
in Makro’s stores overseas, which will ensure that they 
are confident, ready, and able to adapt well to a new  
local culture and business environment. This is supported  
by Makro’s strategy that focuses on hiring local labor  
in each country to support future business expansion.

The Company is a large organization that employs 
individuals of diverse ages and demographics. For this 
reason, creating a working environment and organizational 
culture that fosters acceptance and mutual collaboration 
of all employees is another strategic focus for the  
Company. We seek to integrate the “Makro DNA” into all our 
employees’ mindsets, in addition to the “VICTORY - 7 Makro 
Values” and the leadership framework, “Leadership 4.0,” 
the latter which is currently being developed to strengthen 
employees’ leadership potential in support of Makro 4.0. 
All of these activities and projects seek to further build a 
stronger “Makro” brand that is competitive in the labor 
market. Concurrently, the Company also plans integrate the 
results of our employee engagement survey to improve the  
organization and ultimately become “one of the top 5 
organizations that people want to work with.”

Innovation Drive
The Company remains committed to becoming an “innovation 
organization” by organizing activities and programs that  
build employee “innovators.” This objective is implemented 
through the e - learning platform on the “Makro Innovation  
System” website, which allows employees to share their 
ideas and suggestions for training programs. The goal 
is to encourage the development of all 4 categories of  
innovation: Process Innovation, Product Innovation, Service  
Innovation,  and Business Model Innovation, which will  
enable us to be more competitive and differentiate the  
brand in an ever more crowded business landscape.  
The Company is also on track to reaching our goal of building 
5,000 “innovators” by 2022.
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Shareholding and 
Management Structure

1. Company Assets and Shareholder Information
1.1 Ordinary shares
 On the record date for payment of interim dividend, as of August 23, 2018, the Company’s registered capital 

was Baht 2,400,000,000 and the paid - up capital was Baht 2,400,000,000, comprised of 4,800,000,000 ordinary  
shares at the par valued at Baht 0.50 per share. 

1.2 Shareholders
 As of August 23, 2018, the top 10 major shareholders of the Company are as follows:

Name No. of Shares Shareholding Percentage

1. Siam Makro Holdings (Thailand) Limited* 2,640,302,800 55.01

2. CP ALL Public Company Limited* 1,827,598,700 38.07

3. Bualuang Long - Term Equity Fund 40,296,000 0.84

4. Bualuang Top - Ten Fund 25,195,300 0.52

5. Bualuang Long - Term Equity Fund 75/ 25 17,688,400 0.37

6. AIA COMPANY LIMITED - EQ2 - P 15,882,000 0.33

7. Mr. Prinya Tieanworn 15,100,000 0.31

8. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 11,258,900 0.23

9. Bualuang Flexible RMF 10,960,100 0.23

10. Mr. Surachai Boonyaprateeprat 9,195,000 0.19

Total 4,613,477,200 96.10

Remark : * Siam Makro Holdings (Thailand) Limited and CP ALL Public Company Limited are subsidiaries of CP ALL Group, in which  
holds the combined shareholding of 93.08% of total issued and paid up shares.
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1.3 Dividend Payment Policy 
 Unless it is otherwise required due to other considerations, the Company’s Board of Directors intends to  

propose at the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting for approval that the Company pays dividends that is  
not less than 40% of its annual net profit after tax, whereby this has been effective as from 1994 onwards.

 Additionally, with regard to the dividend payment policy for its subsidiaries, the Board of Directors of the  
subsidiaries shall consider and propose payment of dividends on a case by case basis.

1.4  Dividend Payout Information (Year 2013 - 2017)

Year 2013** 2014** 2015 2016 2017

Earnings per share (Baht per share)* 0.90 1.03 1.12 1.13 1.29

Dividend per share (Baht per share)* 0.80 0.77 0.85 0.85 0.96

Dividend payout ratio (%) 89.1 75.1 75.9 75.4 74.6

Remark: * Earnings per share and Dividend per share are calculated from the total shares, 4,800,000,000 shares at the par valued at Baht 
0.50 per share in order to the comparison, according to the resolution of the Extraordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting 
of the Company which held on 20 September 2013, approved the change of the par value of the Company’s ordinary 
shares from Baht 10 per share, totaling 240,000,000 shares to Baht 0.50 per share, totaling 4,800,000,000 shares. Dividend 
per share according to the Board and Shareholders’ resolutions for the year 2011 and 2012 were Baht 10.50 per share  
and Baht 12.50 per share, respectively.

 ** In 2015, the Company has restated 2013 & 2014 financial statements due to the adoption of new and revised TFRS - TAS 19  
(revised 2014) Employee Benefits.
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Siam Makro Public Company Limited

Organization Structure

As at 31 December 2018

Board of Directors

Audit Committee

Group Chief Information 
Officer

•
Siam Makro

Chief Executive Officer
•

Food Service 
Asia Pacific and Middle East

Group Chief 
Financial Officer

•
Siam Makro

Group Chief Human 
Resources Officer

•
Siam Makro

Corporate Governance 
Committee

Group Chief Executive 
Officer - Siam Makro

Head of Internal 
Audit

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee
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2. Management
2.1 Management Structure
 The management structure of Siam Makro Public 

Company Limited comprises of
 The Board of Directors 
 The 3 Board Committees support ing the 

consideration of important issues as assigned 
by the Board of Directors: the Audit Committee,  
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee  
and the Corporate Governance Committee.

 The managements with the Group Chief Executive 
Officer - Siam Makro as the highest executive of the 
Company

The Board of Directors
As at 31 December 2018, the Board of Directors is comprised 
of 15 directors as follows: 
 7 Non - Executive Directors, 5 of which are independent 

directors (equivalent to 1/ 3 of total directors)
 8 Executive Directors (who are authorized signatories)

The Board of Directors appoints the Chairman and Vice 
Chairman. The Chairman or his/ her delegate calls the 
meetings of the Board, having meeting notices sent at least 
7 days ahead of each meeting so that the directors may 
have adequate time to study, review, and make proper 
decisions. The Chairman oversees the meeting unless  
he/ she may lack independence or have a conflict of  
interest in the meeting. The independent directors also 
presided over a meeting to consider such item.

The Board of Directors as of December 31, 2018 comprised of:

Name - Surname Position

1. Mr. Arsa Sarasin Chairman/ Member of the Corporate Governance Committee 

2. Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn Chairman of the Audit Committee/ Independent Director

3. Mr. Thira Wipuchanin Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee/ Member of the Audit 
Committee/ Member of the Corporate Governance Committee/ Independent Director

4. Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee/ Independent Director/ Member 
of the Audit Committee/

5. Mr. Joti Bhokavanij Member of the Audit Committee/ Member of the Corporate Governance Committee/ 
Independent Director 

6. Mr. Chavalit Uttasart Member of the Audit Committee/ Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee/ Independent Director/

7. Mr. Korsak Chairasmisak First Vice Chairman/ Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

8. Mrs. Suchada Ithijarukul Second Vice Chairman/ Group Chief Executive Officer - Siam Makro

9. Dr. Prasert Jarupanich Director

10. Mr. Pittaya Jearavisitkul Director 

11. Mr. Piyawat Titasattavorakul Director

12. Mr. Narong Chearavanont Director

13. Mr. Adirek Sripratak Director

14. Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong Director/ Member of the Corporate Governance Committee

15. Mrs. Saowaluck Thithapant Director/ Group Chief Financial Officer - Siam Makro
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Shareholding Report of the Board of Directors and Executives in 2018 and 2017 (including Spouse and Minor Children)

Name - Surname
No. of Shares (shares)

as at 31 December No. of Shares 
Addition / (Reduction)

2018 2017
1. Mr. Arsa Sarasin - - -
2. Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn - - -
3. Mr. Thira Wipuchanin - - -
4. Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi - - -
5. Mr. Joti Bhokavanij - - -
6. Mr. Chavalit Uttasart - - -

7. Mr. Korsak Chairasmisak - - -

8. Mrs. Suchada Ithijarukul - - -
9. Dr. Prasert Jarupanich 200 200 -
10. Mr. Pittaya Jearavisitkul - - -
11. Mr. Piyawat Titasattavorakul - - -
12. Mr. Narong Chearavanont - - -
13. Mr. Adirek Sripratak - - -
14. Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong - - -
15. Mrs. Saowaluck Thithapant - - -
16. Mr. Lin, Chi - Lung - - -
17. Mr. Paul Stephen Howe - - -

18. Ms. Naruemol Worasunthararom(1) - N/A -

19. Mr. Axel Michael Hluchy(2) - N/A -

(1) Has been appointed on 3 January 2018
(2) Has been appointed on 8 January 2018 and has resigned from the Company with effective on 1 May 2018

Authorized Directors
The authorized directors whose signatures shall bind 
the Company must include 2 authorized directors -  
consist ing of either Mr. Korsak Chairasmisak or 
Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong or Mr. Narong Chearavanont  
or Mr. Prasert Jarupanich signing jointly with either  
Mrs. Suchada Ithijarukul or Mrs. Saowaluck Thithapant or  
Mr. Pittaya Jearavisitkul or Mr. Piyawat Titasattavorakul, 
totaling two persons, with the Company’s seal be affixed.

Structure of the Board of Directors 
According to the Company’s Articles of Association, the 
Board of Directors must consist of not less than five (5) 
Directors or any minimum number as required by the 
laws and the resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting but 
not more than fifteen (15) Directors, whereby the Board 

of Directors must comprise of those who are qualified  
as well as not having any disqualifying criteria as prescribed 
by the law governing public limited companies and any 
other relevant laws. Additionally, not less than half of the 
number of such Directors must reside in the Kingdom of  
Thailand and at least one non - executive Director having  
prior working experience in the major industry the company 
is operating in. A Director needs not be a shareholder  
of the Company.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Chairman of the Board
1) The Chairman or his/ her delegate calls the meetings 

of the Board, having meeting notices sent at least 
7 days ahead of each meeting so that the directors 
may have adequate time to study, review, and make 
proper decisions.
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2) Jointly with the Group Chief Executive Officer - Siam 
Makro, decides the agenda of each meeting.

3) Ensure each meeting’s efficiency by allocating enough 
time for the management to present data, encouraging 
and allowing directors’ queries and expression of free 
views, controlling the issues under discussion, and 
summarizing the meeting’s resolutions.

4) Play a key role in encouraging the Board’s conformance 
to corporate governance principles, including identifying 
oneself, refraining from voting, and leaving the meeting 
when agenda items of his/ her conflicts of interest are 
up for discussion.

5) Inform the Board of all significant matters.
6) Encourage the Board to attend Shareholders’ Meetings 

and presides over such meetings to ensure the 
meetings’ efficiency and address shareholders’ queries.

7) Encourage the Board to do their duties under their scope 
of authority under the law and corporate governance. 

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
1) The Company’s Board of Directors has duties to 

establish the Company’s principle policy and direction 
and to monitor the Corporate General Affairs to 
effectively comply with the Company’s policy for the 
highest benefit of the Company and the Shareholders 
with transparency and fairness under the legislative and 
regulatory frameworks, the code of business conduct, 
social and environmental awareness as well as the 
relevant standards in both domestic and international.

2) The Company’s Board of Directors has duties to 
establish the Company’s vision, business plans and 
budgets and to continuously supervise management 
team to proceed in compliance with the prescribed plan 
and budget in order to ensure effective and efficient 
implementation to maximize the economic value 
of the business and to review the Company’s vision 
and business plan at least once a year. 

3) The Company’s Board of Directors shall establish 
a Business Ethics Guideline of the Company 
for compliance by the Board of Directors, Executives, 
Employees and all staffs together with the Company’s 
rules and regulations for fairness to all relevant 
persons. 

4) The Company’s Board of Directors shall fully perform 
their duties with knowledge and ability and also be 
responsible for their own decision with independent 
discretion based on honesty, carefulness and diligence 
in considering the highest benefit of the Company and 
the fairness to all Shareholders.

5) The Company’s Board of Directors has a duty to approve 
any financial transaction on the Company’s investment 
in considering the highest benefit of the Company and 
the fairness to all relevant persons.

6) The Company’s Board of Directors shall arrange for 
accounting system, financial report, accounting audit, 
internal controls and reliable internal audit. In addition, 
the Board shall also regularly review the internal 
control and internal audit systems for the efficiency 
and effectiveness.

7) The Company’s Board of Directors shall omit or avoid 
participating in any business which has interest with the 
Company’s business or potentially cause conflict of 
interest with the Company. In addition, the Board shall 
inspect the conflict of interest solution and connected 
transaction.

8) The Company’s Board of Directors shall arrange for the 
Company’s Secretary to provide legal and regulatory 
advice required by the Board for acknowledgement 
and for the Board and the Company to comply  
with any enforceable law and regulation. 

9) The Company’s Board of Directors shall regularly 
arrange for review and evaluation of the Board’s 
self - performance as a whole and an individual every 
year. The Board shall jointly consider their operational 
result and problems in order to reflect the efficiency 
of their performance and seek improvement. 

10) The Company’s Board of Directors has the duty 
of conducting the annual performance appraisal 
and determining the annual compensation for the  
Group Chief Executive Officer - Siam Makro.

11)  The Company’s Directors has a duty to attend the 
Board of Directors’ Meeting and every Shareholders’ 
Meeting. If there is any important task and could not 
attend the meeting, notification to the Chairman  
shall be made.

12) The Company’s Board of Directors shall arrange for 
an assessment on compliance with the Company’s 
Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct at least 
once a year.
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13) The Company’s Board of Directors has the duty to 
oversee and promote the creation of innovation as 
well as the implementation of such innovation and 
associated technology, so as to achieve the overall 
capabilities and competitiveness of the Company in a 
sustainable manner and based on its positive corporate 
responsibilities towards society and the environment.

14) The Company’s Board of Directors has the duty 
to determine the Corporate Governance Policy for 
its subsidiary companies, as well as to appoint to 
such subsidiaries various persons to be directors, 
management members or persons having a controlling 
authority, and to establish the appropriate internal 
controls system.

15) The Company’s Board of Directors has the duty 
to encourage ongoing development of directors 
on a regular basis - such as, through attending  
training programs and seminars, or making overseas 
business visits.

16) The Company’s Board of Directors oversees that there 
are succession plans in place, so as to be prepared for 
persons to succeed to director positions together with 
the Group Chief Executive Officer/ Managing Director 
and other senior management positions, as well as that 
the Group Chief Executive Officer/ Managing Director 
reports on the progress of this issue according to agreed 
succession plans to the Board of Directors at least once 
a year.

17) The Company’s Board of Directors should oversee 
to ensure that the management group reviews and 
develop measures in overseeing the use of various  
resources to be effective and efficient - such as:  
financial resources, production resources, intellectual 
property resources, human resources, social  
resources and associated relationships, and natural 
resources - through keeping in mind the ever - changing 
internal and external business factors.

18) The Company’s Board of Directors has the duty to 
determine the Anti - Corruption Policy and associated 
operating guidelines, as well as to promote and instill 
into all the Company personnel the need for full 
compliance with all relevant applicable laws and 
associated rules and regulations.

19) The Company’s Board of Directors should oversee and 
ensure that the disclosure of information, including 
company financial reports and statements, Annual 
Report and Form 56 - 1, accurately reflects the financial 
status and operating performance results of the 
Company in an adequate manner, as well as support 
that the Company discloses a Management Discussion 
and Analysis (MD&A) report as part of disclosing its 
financial statements every quarter. Furthermore, in 
the event that a disclosure is to be made specifically 
concerning any one director in particular, then the 
director in question should ensure that such a disclosure 
should be fully comprehensive and accurate.

20) The Company’s Board of Directors has the duty to 
oversee that the management group monitors and 
assesses the financial status of the business so as to 
report to the Board of Directors on a regular basis. In 
the event that the Company faces or has the potential 
to face any associated financial issue or problem,  
then the Board of Directors has the duty to ensure 
that the Company determines a plan for overcoming 
and surviving the financial problem in question and/ or 
for looking after the interest of all stakeholder groups.

21) The Company’s Board of Directors has duties and 
responsibilities towards the shareholders and for 
conducting the business of the Company for the benefit 
of its shareholders, as well as for holding a Shareholders 
Meeting in accordance with the law and applicable 
regulatory requirements so as to facilitate shareholders 
to be able to exercise their respective rights.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Group Chief Executive 
Officer - Siam Makro
The Group Chief Executive Officer - Siam Makro (Group 
CEO - Siam Makro) is assigned by the Board of Directors to 
conduct the Company’s business under the approved business 
plans and budget with stringency, integrity, and maintaining 
Corporate Governance with fairness. This is in order to achieve 
maximum benefits for all stakeholders and includes controlling 
the disclosure of the Company’s general and financial 
information in accordance with best practices, while protecting 
the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The 
Group CEO - Siam Makro must not be engaged in any conflicts 
of interest with the Company and its subsidiaries, and must not 
hold the Board positions in other firms except Board positions 
of a company related to the Company with the approval of 
the Board of Directors.
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Company Secretary
The Board of Directors has appointed Miss Siriporn Withannititam 
as the Company Secretary with effective date from September 
1, 2017, responsible for the undertaking the following activities 
on behalf of the Company or the Board of Directors:
1) Preparing, updating and keeping on file the following 

documents:
 a. a register of the Directors;
 b. notices calling for Directors’ Meetings, Minutes of  

 the Board of Directors’ Meetings, and the Annual  
 Reports;

 c. notices calling for the Shareholders’ Meetings and  
 Minutes of the Shareholders’ Meetings.

2) Keeping a record of all points of interest as reported 
by Directors and Executives.

3) Performing any other activities as prescribed in the 
Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board.

4) Submitting a copy of the report on points of interest 
(as reported by Directors/ Executives/ related parties) 
to the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee within 7 days from the date on which 
the Company has received such report.

5) Performing the duties as described above in good 
faith and with care and responsibility as well as in 
full compliance with the laws and regulations, the 
Articles of Association, objectives of the Company and 
the Resolutions of the Board of Directors and of the 
Shareholders’ Meetings.

Biographical Information of the Company Secretary
Miss Siriporn Withannititam
Age  43 
Shareholding  None
Relationship with Executives  None
 
Education
 Bachelor of Business Administration (International 

Business Management) Assumption University, Bangkok, 
Thailand 

 Master of Business Administration (Finance/ Marketing)
 RMIT University, Melbourne, Australia

Company Secretary Training
Thai Institute of Directors (IOD)
 Company Secretary Program (CSP) 82/ 2017)
 Company Reporting Program (CRP 19/ 2017)
 Board Reporting Program (BRP 24/ 2017)

 Anti-Corruption: The Practical Guide (ACPG)
 Successful Formulation & Execution of Strategy (SFE)
Thai Listed Companies Association (TLCA)
 Fundamentals Practice for Corporate Secretaries
 Advances for Corporate Secretaries

Experiences
2004 - 2008 Business Strategic Planner - Supervisor, 

Thai Oil PCL 
2008 - 2013 Investor Relations Manager, 
 Thai Oil PCL 
2013 - 2014 Liability & Financial Risk Management 

Manager, Thai Oil PCL
2014 - Jun. 2018 Senior Manager - SET & Investor 

Relations, Siam Makro PCL
Jul. 2018 - Present Associate Director - SET & Investor 

Relations, Siam Makro PCL
1 Sep. 2017 - Present Company Secretary, Siam Makro PCL

Board - Committees
The Board of Directors has appointed several committees 
to scrutinize and supervise the operation of the Company 
over specific issues, in order to perform their duties efficiently 
and effectively as well as to ensure that the Company 
complies with rules and regulations of the SEC and SET. The  
Board - Committees, as of December 31, 2018 are as follows:

1) Audit Committee
 As at December 31, 2018, Members of the Audit Committee 

consists of 5 independent directors as follows:
 1. Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn
  Chairman of the Audit Committee (Independent)
 2. Mr. Chavalit Uttasart
  Member of the Audit Committee (Independent)
 3. Mr. Thira Wipuchanin
  Member of the Audit Committee (Independent)
 4. Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi
  Member of the Audit Committee (Independent)
 5. Mr. Joti Bhokavanij
  Member of the Audit Committee (Independent)

Remark: The Audit Committee’s qualification fully complied by 
criteria of the SEC and SET, to review business operations, financial 
reports, and internal control systems, to select independent 
auditors, and to review conflicts of interest. The members of the 
Audit Committee have qualified knowledge and experiences to 
review the reliability of the financial statements.
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee
1. To review the Company’s financial reporting process in 

order to ensure that it is accurate and adequate;
2. To review the Company’s internal controls system and 

internal audit functions ensuring that they are suitable 
and efficient, to determine the degree of independence 
of the internal audit group, as well as to approve the 
appointment, transfer and dismissal of the head of an 
internal audit group or any other group responsible for 
internal audit functions within the Company;

3. To review the Company’s compliance with the law on 
Securities and Exchange, the SET’s regulations, and any 
other laws relating to the Company’s business; 

4. To consider the qualifications, independence, 
performance and audit fee of the external auditor, in 
order to exercise final approval on the appointment  
or termination of the auditors;

5. To meet separately with the external auditor at 
least once a year without members of the  
Management group being present;

6.  To review any connected transactions or transactions 
that may lead to a conflict of interests situation, in 
order to ensure that they are in full compliance with 
the laws and regulations of the SET/ SEC as well as 
that such transactions are reasonable and undertaken 
for the fullest benefit of the Company;

7. To prepare the Audit Committee’s Report to be  
included in the Company’s Annual Report which must be 
signed by the Audit Committee Chairman and consist 
of at least the following information:
a. an opinion on the accuracy, completeness and 

reliability of the Company’s financial report,
b. an opinion on the adequacy of the Company’s risk 

management and internal controls systems,
c. an opinion on the compliance with the laws on 

Securities and Exchange, the SET’s regulations or 
any other laws relating to the Company’s business,

d. an opinion on the suitability of an auditor,
e. an opinion on the transactions that may lead to 

conflict of interests situations,
f. the number of the Audit Committee meetings and 

the attendance record at such meetings by each 
member of the Audit Committee,

g. any opinions or comments that are received by 
the Audit Committee in performing its duties in 
accordance with its Charter, and

h. other transactions which, in the opinion of the 
Audit Committee, should be made known to the 
Shareholders and general investors, subject to the 
scope of duties and responsibilities as assigned  
by the Company’s Board of Directors; 

8. To review the Company’s self - evaluation tool of 
anti - corruption program in order to get certified 
by the Private Sector Collective Action Coalition 
Against Corruption (CAC).

9. To perform any other activities as assigned by  
the Company’s Board of Directors and concurred to by  
the Audit Committee.

In 2018, the Audit Committee performed duties under 
the aforementioned roles. The summary of activities is  
shown in the “Audit Committee Report.”

2) Nomination and Remuneration Committee
As at December 31, 2018, Members of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee consists of 3 directors as follows:
1. Mr. Thira Wipuchanin
 Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee (Independent)
2. Mr. Chavalit Uttasart
 Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee (Independent)
3. Mr. Korsak Chairasmisak
 Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee

Roles and Responsibilities of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee
1. Select and nominate suitable and qualified persons to 

be members of Board Committees in accordance with 
the composition and qualifications as prescribed by  
the law/ relevant regulations and focus on skills, 
experience, genders, specific capabilities beneficial to 
the company, and dedication of time and personal 
endeavor to perform as directors; and present 
its recommendations to the Board of Directors for 
consideration and approval or for further submission 
to the Board of Directors which will be presented  
to the Shareholders’ Meeting for its consideration and 
approval (as the case may be);
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2. Consider the criteria relating to and determination of 
remuneration schemes for the Company’s Directors 
and the Board Committees appointed by the Board of 
Directors, and to ensure that these are consistent with 
and appropriate for the Company’s performance result 
and respective responsibilities as well as comparable to 
the remuneration schemes of other companies in the 
same industry. Additionally, NRC conducts performance 
appraisal and decide the compensation for the Group 
Chief Executive Officer - Siam Makro for proposing to 
the Company’s Board of Directors for consideration  
and approval.

3. Conduct performance appraisal and decide on the 
compensation for the Group Chief Executive Officer - 
Siam Makro; and then the Committee will propose any 
appropriate revisions to the Board for consideration and 
approval.

4. Support the Company in giving an opportunity to 
minority Shareholders to propose names of qualified 
persons to be considered for possible nomination and 
appointment as a Board of Director of the Company.

5. Perform other activities as assigned by the Board of 
Directors.

In 2018, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
performed duties under the aforementioned roles. The 
summary of activities is shown in the “Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee Report.”

3) Corporate Governance Committee
As at December 31, 2018, Members of the Corporate 
Governance Committee consists of 5 directors as follows:
1. Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi
 Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee  

(Independent)
2. Mr. Arsa Sarasin
 Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
3. Mr. Joti Bhokavanij
 Member of the Corporate Governance Committee  

(Independent)
4.  Mr. Thira Wipuchanin
 Member of the Corporate Governance Committee  

(Independent)
5. Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong
 Member of the Corporate Governance Committee

Roles and Responsibilities of the Corporate Governance 
Committee
1. Constantly define an international - standard corporate 

governance policy for the Company and its subsidiaries 
to adopt as its principles.

2. Define a self - assessment policy and procedure on 
corporate governance policy, while promoting standard 
assessment by renowned and internationally accepted 
appraisers.

3. Oversee the Company’s business in line with the 
corporate governance principles set forth by regulators, 
including SET and SEC.

4. Review the corporate governance policy regularly 
and adjusting it to international practices and  
recommendations made by regulators or related 
institutes.

5. Regularly promote sharing of the corporate governance 
culture among all executives and employees for clear 
understanding and adoption for the Company’s and its 
subsidiaries’ implementation.

6. Perform other activities as assigned by the Board of 
Directors.

In 2018, the Corporate Governance Committee performed 
duties under the aforementioned roles. The summary of 
activities is shown in the “Corporate Governance Committee 
Report.”

Criteria Selection of Independent Directors
Qualifications of Independent Directors
Independent directors must have all the qualifications 
required by the Capital Market Supervisory Board which are:
1. Holding shares not exceeding 0.5% of the total number 

of shares with voting rights of the Company, its parent 
company, subsidiary companies, major shareholder 
or controlling person of the Company, which shall be 
inclusive of the shares held by related persons of such 
independent director; 

2. Neither being nor used to being a director who takes 
part in the management, employee, staff member, 
advisor who receives a regular salary, or controlling 
person of the Company, its parent company, subsidiary 
companies, same - level subsidiary companies, 
major shareholder or of the controlling person of 
the Company, unless the foregoing status has ended 
not less than 2 years. However, such prohibited 
characteristic shall not include the case where the 
independent director used to be a government  
official or advisor of a government unit which is a major 
shareholder or controlling person of the Company;
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3. Not being a person related by blood or by legal 
registration as father, mother, spouse, sibling, and 
child, including spouse of child, of the executive, 
major shareholder, controlling person, or person to 
be nominated as executive or controlling person of  
the Company or its subsidiary companies;

4. Neither having nor used to having a business 
relationship with the Company, its parent company, 
subsidiary companies, major shareholder or controlling 
person of the Company, in the manner which may 
interfere with his independent judgement, and  
neither being nor used to being a significant shareholder  
or controlling person of any person having a business 
relationship with the Company, its parent company, 
subsidiary companies, major shareholder or controlling 
person of the Company, unless the foregoing 
relationship has ended not less than 2 years.

 The term “business relationship” under the first  
paragraph shall include any normal business 
transaction, rental or lease of immovable property,  
transaction relating to assets or services or granting 
or receipt of financial assistance through receiving or  
extending loans, guarantee, providing assets as 
collateral, and any other similar actions, which result 
in the Company or its counterpart being subject 
to indebtedness payable to the other party in the  
amount of 3% or more of the net tangible 
assets of the Company or Baht 20 million or 
more, whichever is lower. The amount of such 
indebtedness shall be calculated according to  
the method for calculation of value of connected 
transactions under the Notification of the Capital  
Market Supervisory Board governing rules on  
connected transactions mutatis mutandis. The  
consideration of such indebtedness shall include  
indebtedness occurred during the period of 1 year 
prior to the date on which the business relationship  
with the person commences;

5. Neither being nor used to being an auditor of the 
Company, its parent company, subsidiary companies, 
associated companies, major shareholder or  
controlling person of the Company, and not being 
a significant shareholder, controlling person, or  
partner of the audit firm which employs auditors of the 
Company, its parent company, subsidiary companies, 
associated companies, major shareholder or controlling 
person, unless the foregoing relationship has ended  
not less than 2 years;

6. Neither being nor used to being any professional service 
provider including a legal counselor or financial advisor 
who receives service fee of exceeding Baht 2 million  
per year from the Company, its parent company, 
subsidiary companies, major shareholder or controlling 
person of the Company, and not being a significant 
shareholder, controlling person or partner of the 
aforementioned professional service provider, unless 
the foregoing relationship has ended not less than 
2 years;

7. Not being a director appointed as representative 
of directors of the Company, major shareholder or 
shareholder who is related to major shareholder;

8. Not undertaking any business of the same nature 
as and competing with that of the Company or 
its subsidiary companies or not being a significant 
partner in a partnership or being a director who takes 
part in the management, employee, staff member, 
advisor who receives regular salary or holding shares  
exceeding 0.5% of the total number of shares with  
voting rights of other companies which undertake 
businesses of the same nature as and competing  
with that of the Company or its subsidiary companies;

9. Not having any other characteristics which cause the 
inability to render independent opinions with regard  
to the Company’s business operations.

10. The Company’s independent directors shall serve not 
more than 9 consecutive years. (Director’s term shall 
be counted as of 2017 Annual General Shareholders 
Meeting onwards)
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Independent Director with qualifications described in 1 - 10 
above may be empowered by the Board of Directors to 
make decision for the business operation of the Company, 
its parent company, subsidiary companies, the same - 
level subsidiary companies, major shareholder or the  
controlling person of the Company in the form of collective 
decision.

In case the person appointed by the Company as the 
Independent Director is person having or used to having 
business relationship or providing professional service 
with value of exceeding those prescribed in item 4 or 
item 6, the Board of Directors may consider waiving this 
disqualification if the Board opines that the appointment of 
the said person does not affect his duty performance and 
his rendering of independent opinion and the Company 
has disclosed the following information in the notice calling 
for the shareholders’ meeting on agenda regarding the 
appointment of the said Independent Director: 

a.  Manner of business relationship or professional service 
causing the said person not being qualified under the 
prescribed criteria;

b.  Reason and necessity to maintain or to appoint the 
said person as the independent director;

c.  Opinion of the Company’s Board of Directors to 
nominate the said person as the independent director.

To encourage the independent directors and non - 
executive directors to independently hold meetings to 
discuss, recommend, and define guidelines to develop 
the quality of corporate governance, the Company ensures 
that there is a meeting of the independent directors at 
least once a year and the meeting of directors without the 
management at least once a year.

Nomination of Independent Directors
The nominating procedure for proposed Independent 
Directors of the Company is as described in the section on 
“Nomination of Directors.”
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Details of the Board of Directors and Executives in the Company and its Subsidiaries and/ or Related Company 
as at December 31, 2018

Company Name
SML

Subsidiaries
Name - Surname SFS INDV INDS INDD LL JM MAXZI INDC PRO MROH ARO MAC CPWI MGZ MM

Mr. Arsa Sarasin £

Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn r
Mr. Thira Wipuchanin r
Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi r
Mr. Joti Bhokavanij r
Mr. Chavalit Uttasart r
Mr. Korsak Chairasmisak 

Mrs. Suchada Ithijarukul ,«               

Dr. Prasert Jarupanich 

Mr. Pittaya Jearavisitkul 

Mr. Piyawat Titasattavorakul 

Mr. Narong Chearavanont 

Mr. Adirek Sripratak 

Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong 

Mrs. Saowaluck Thithapant                

Mr. Lin, Chi - Lung à            

Mr. Paul Stephen Howe à

Ms. Naruemol Worasunthararom à 

Ms. Thanyamas Vorachart      

Mrs. Rattaya Ngernbumroong   

Mr. Leong Siew Pong    

Mr. Tanit Chearavanont 

Mr. Saksit Panurach   

Mr. Noppachai Meetam 

Mr. Yuttapoom Jarernsuk 

Mr. Sameer Singh 

Ms. Dy Sopheak Pagna 

Oknha Seng Nhak 

Mr. Gauthier Bouillot 

Ms. Helene Raudaschl (Wong Helene)    

Ms. Wong, Oi Lin Irene  

Mr. Yiu, Chung Sing 

U Aung Din (Mr. At Thitayaporn)  

Remark: Positions
£ =  Chairman            = Director         r = Independent Director        « = Group Chief Executive Officer - Siam Makro
à = Executives as per SEC definition

Company’s Name 
SML Siam Makro Public Company Limited INDC Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited
SFS Siam Food Services Limited PRO ProMart Company Limited
INDV Indoguna Vina Food Service Company Limited MROH Makro ROH Company Limited
INDS Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd ARO ARO Company Limited
INDD Indoguna Dubai L.L.C MAC Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited
LL Indoguna Lordly Company Limited CPWI CP Wholesale India Private Limited
JM Just Meat Company Limited MGZ Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited
MAXZI MAXZI The Good Food Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C MM ARO Commercial Company Limited
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2.2 Nomination, Appointment and Termination of 
Directors

 Nomination Criteria
1) The Directors must have qualifications consistent 

with the Public Company Limited Act and the 
Company’s regulations.

2) The Directors must have specific skills, experiences, 
capabilities as well as genders and ages that are 
beneficial to the Company.

3) The Directors must perform their duties with a fully 
integrity and ethical manner as well as can devote 
sufficient time and effort to performing duties.

4) The nomination and appointment of Independent 
Directors must take into account the number of 
Independent Directors on the Board. There should 
be at least one - third Independent Directors of 
all Directors with the qualifications as specified by 
SEC and the number must not be less than 3. The 
composition of the Board must have a proportional 
number of Independent Directors for checks and 
balances of the Board and the management to 
protect the best interests of shareholders.

5) The Company considers potential conflicts of 
interest that the directors may have with it.

Nomination and Appointment of Directors
The Company gives minority Shareholders an opportunity to 
nominate suitable and qualified persons to be considered 
for selection as Directors of the Company in accordance with 
the Company’s established criteria in advance of the Annual 
General Shareholders’ Meeting for 2019 is as described  
in the section on “Equitable Treatment of Shareholders”.
 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible  
for the selection and nomination of suitable and qualified 
persons as Directors or Independent Directors of the 
Company by considering their qualifications, knowledge, 
competency, experience, details of which are presented 
to the Board of Directors for consideration. The Board of 
Directors then presents its opinion to the Shareholders’ 
Meeting for consideration and approval. The resolution 
on the election of the Directors must be adopted by 
an affirmative majority vote from the total number of 
votes of those Shareholders attending and present at the 
Meeting as well as entitled to vote in accordance with the  
following criteria and procedures prescribed in the 
Company’s Articles of Association:

a. A shareholder shall have a number of votes which is 
equivalent to the number of shares held by him;

b. Each shareholder may exercise all the votes he has under 
clause a), to elect one or more persons as directors but he 
may not split his votes among any such persons;

c. The persons receiving the highest number of votes in the 
respective order of the votes shall be elected as directors  
up to the total number of directors required or to be 
elected at such time. In the event that a number of persons 
receiving an equal number of votes for the last directorship 
exceed the number of directors the Company required or 
to be elected at such time, the chairman of the meeting  
shall have a casting vote.

Termination of Directors
1. At every Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, one - 

third of the Directors, or, if the number of Directors 
cannot be divided exactly into 3 parts, the number 
of Directors nearest to one-third shall vacate office. 
A vacating Director may be eligible to re - election.  
The Directors who have remained in office for the 
longest time shall vacate office.

2. Apart from vacating at the end of his office term, a 
Director shall vacate office upon death, resignation, 
lack of qualifications or disqualifications under the law 
pertaining to Public Company Limited and/ or under 
the Securities and Exchange Act, removal pursuant 
to resolution passed at the shareholders meeting, or 
removal pursuant to a court order.

3. To resign from office, a Director has to hand in his/
her resignation letter. Such resignation shall become 
effective on the date when it reaches the Company. 
The Director who has resigned may also inform the 
registrar of the facts.

4. The shareholders’ meeting may pass a resolution to 
remove any Director from office prior to retirement 
by rotation, by a vote of not less than three - fourths 
of the number of shareholders attending the meeting 
and having the right to vote and the shares held 
by them shall, in aggregate, be not less than half 
of the number of shares held by the shareholders 
attending the meeting and having the right to vote.

5. In the event that a position of Director becomes vacant 
for any reason other than the end of his/ her office term, 
the Board of Directors shall on the next Board meeting 
appoint a qualified person, not having unacceptable 
qualities under the laws pertaining to Public Limited
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 Company and the Securities and Exchange Act to be 
a new Director, except if such office term remaining is 
less than 2 months. The replacement Director shall hold 
office only for the remainder of the term of office of 
the Director whom he/ she replaces. The resolution of 
the Board of Directors must be approved by the votes 
of not less than three - fourths of the number of the 
remaining Directors.

2.3 Director and Executive Remuneration in 2018
1) Financial Remuneration

a. Board of Directors
 In 2018, the remuneration of 15 Board of 

Directors (Including the directors who resigned 
during the year) as of 31 December 2018 was 
Baht 43.62 million which was conformed to the 
2018 Annual General of Shareholders’ Meeting 
held on 19 April 2018. The remuneration 
is considered through the comparison with 
organizations with the equal size in the same 
industry, as well as the Company’s performance, 
achievement, responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors, and overall business circumstances. 
Individual Directors’ remuneration rate for the 
year 2018 are as follows: 

Name - Surname Remuneration Rate
(Baht / Month)

1. Mr. Arsa Sarasin 160,000

2. Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn 140,000

3. Mr. Thira Wipuchanin 135,000

4. Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi 130,000

5. Mr. Joti Bhokavanij 120,000

6. Mr. Chavalit Uttasart 120,000

7. Mr. Korsak Chairasmisak 105,000

8. Mrs. Suchada Ithijarukul 100,000

9. Dr. Prasert Jarupanich 100,000

10. Mr. Pittaya Jearavisitkul 100,000

11. Mr. Piyawat Titasattavorakul 100,000

12. Mr. Narong Chearavanont 100,000

13. Mr. Adirek Sripratak 100,000

14. Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong 105,000

15. Mrs. Saowaluck Thithapant 100,000

Bonus Baht 23.04 million

b. Audit Committee
 The 5 Directors of the Audit Committee received 

remuneration in their capacity as a member 
of the Board of Directors, details of which are 
included in clause (a) above.

c. Nomination and Remuneration Committee
 The 3 Directors of the Nomination and  

Remune ra t i on  Commi t t ee  r ece i ved 
remuneration in their capacity as a member 
of the Board of Directors, details of which are 
included in clause (a) above.

d. Corporate Governance Committee
 The 5 Directors of the Corporate Governance 

Committee received remuneration in their 
capacity as a member of the Board of Directors, 
details of which are included in clause (a) 
above.

e. Executives
 The 6 Executives (Including the executives  

who resigned and rotated during the year) 
received remuneration in the form of salaries  
and bonus totaling Baht 137.31 million.

2) Other Remuneration
a. Board of Directors / Audit Committee / 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
 Bonus totaling Baht 23.04 million 
b. Executives
 In 2018, the Company paid 6 Executives  

(Including the executives who resigned and  
rotated during the year) other remuneration  
totaling Baht 29.27 million, consisting of the  
Company’s contribution to the provident 
fund (equal to 3% of salary) together with  
expatriate executives’ expenses, i.e. house  
rent, utility bills, telephone expenses, income 
tax payable, life insurance premium, and 
travelling expenses etc.

 
 The above remuneration for Executives is 

based on actual payments made during 2018, 
which amount differs from the total amount 
as stated in the Consolidated and Company 
Financial Statements, in compliance with the 
Thai Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, 
under the Accounting Act of B.E. 2543.
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2.4. Compliance with established Best Practices and 
Code of Conduct for Directors of listed Companies

 The Board of Directors complies with the Best 
Practices and Code of Conduct for Directors of listed 
Companies of the Stock Exchange of Thailand. It has 
also performed its duties in compliance with all legal 
requirements and regulations relating to the role and 
responsibilities of Directors as well as in accordance 
to the stated objectives and the Articles of Association 
of the Company and resolutions of the Shareholders’ 
Meetings, with honesty and due care, in order to protect 
the interests of the Company, and with accountability 
to the Shareholders. The Board of Directors determines 
the direction and policies of the Company, supervises 
and closely monitors that Management follows all 
agreed policies and procedures as well as complies 
with all legal or regulatory requirements. The Board of 
Directors also continuously follow - up on the achieved 
operating performance results of the Company. 
Additionally, the Board of Directors has established 
adequate internal control together with an internal 
audit function, in order to ensure ongoing effectiveness 
of the Company’s operations.

2.5 Supervision on the Use of Inside Information
 The Company is a public listed company on the Stock 

Exchange of Thailand (SET); and as such it is considered 
to be a key policy to operate its businesses on an equal 
and equitable basis for all Shareholders - whether 
majority or minority Shareholders. As such, any internal 
information or news that may have some significant 
impact on the Company’s share price are considered 
to be confidential internal information related to the 
operations of the Company’s business that have not 
yet been disclosed to the general public. If improperly 
disclosed, such internal information will have some 
impact for the Company. 

 Therefore, preventing unauthorized disclosure of such 
internal confidential information is of vital importance 
to the Company’s ongoing success as well as for the 
continuing security of all the Company’s Staff. In order 
to enable that effective disclosures of any internal 
information to outside parties be undertaken in a 
manner that will not result in any damaging effects 
for the Company’s business operations as well as to 
its reputation, the Company has determined specific 
measures and an associated system of internal 

controls, together with requirements for all Company 
personnel to maintain the security and confidentiality 
of such information and not to make use of such 
inside information for any personal gain – even if they 
no longer have a position or have any associated 
responsibilities within the Company.

 
 As such, internal confidential information means these 

various information: business operations and activities 
plans; trade and business secrets; information regarding 
the Company’s performance results;  information on 
suppliers of products together with any associated 
trade or business agreements; financial information; 
any information that may affect the overall corporate 
image and value of the Company; information that are 
legally required to be kept confidential; information 
about land plots searches, surveys and associated 
assessments; Company Staff’s personal information; 
various IT systems security passwords; and/ or any 
other information, if disclosed, that may result in 
some damages or discredit to the Company, its Staff, 
its contractors, and Business Partners/ suppliers or 
customers.

Guidelines
i)  Personnel should maintain inside information and 

sensitive documents that could lead to undue 
exploitation for themselves, their families, or their 
associates, including any information influencing 
stock prices and the Company’s proprietary 
commercial secrets, formulae, and inventions.

ii) Personnel must not exploit the Company’s 
confidential information for personal or others’ gains.

iii)  Personnel who have received personal information 
must take good care of or use it cautiously.

iv) The Company should institute strict measures and 
processes for guarding its information within its 
departments to prevent publicity before its formal 
distribution. These measures and processes are an 
integral part of the Company’s risk control measures.

v) The Company has defined the information about 
contractual parties and the agreements with these 
parties as sensitive information not to be shared 
with others except when both the Company and 
its contractual parties have given their consent.

vi) Even after their termination or retirement, personnel 
must not disclose the Company’s confidential 
information.
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vii) If asked to reveal information beyond one’s 
responsibility, one must politely refuse to 
comment and then refer questions to assigned 
and responsible parties for disclosure to ensure 
accurate and uniform information provision.

viii) In the event of any rumors or any unauthorized  
leaks of information that is incomplete and not  
yet ready for disclosure, then the immediate 
Supervisor/ Superior should be informed 
immediately, so as to then inform the next level of 
the Company Management to consider announcing 
the true facts or making a full disclosure of the 
information in question to the general public.

2.6 The Board of Directors’ opinion related to Internal 
Control of the Company and Subsidiaries

 The Company recognizes the importance of internal 
control system and risk management as a tool 
for driving the business operations efficiency and 
effectiveness as well as achieving the Company’s 
defined business goals. Additionally, internal  
control process is designed with the objective of 
providing reasonable assurance on finance, financial 
reporting and compliance with laws, regulations, and 
policies. Internal Control facilitates the correctness and 
transparency of the Company’s operations including 
reducing and preventing potential risks that may 
occur. Furthermore, the Company continues to 
develop its internal controls to ensure efficiency  
and effectiveness. 

 The Board of Directors appointed the Audit Committee, 
which consists of five Independent Directors  
who are knowledgeable in various areas such as  
legal, organizational management, accounting, 
finance, and risk management. The Audit Committee 
is independent according to the SET’s requirements. 
The Audit Committee has the responsibility to review 
financial reports, the disclosure of the Company’s 
information and connected transactions or conflicts 
of interest business transactions in order to ensure 
that they are reasonableness and undertaken for the 
maximum benefit of the Company.

 The Audit Committee also reviews the adequacy  
and appropriateness of risk management system, 
internal control system, and internal audit plan. The 
Audit Committee is also responsible for considering

 significant issues related to internal control and 
providing recommendations of any improvements 
to the management. The Audit Committee also 
considers the appointment or termination of external  
auditors and expresses its’ opinion to the Board 
of Directors, including reviews the Company’s 
compliance with the law on Securities and Exchange 
(SEC) and the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET)’s 
regulations and any other laws relating to the  
Company’s businesses.

 
 The Audit Committee delegates Internal Audit 

Department as an independent unit from the 
Company’s management to evaluate internal control 
system and review each department’s operations 
within the Company and subsidiaries in order to 
ensure that each department has properly performed 
in accordance with internal control policies and 
procedures. Internal Audit Department has evaluated 
the adequacy and appropriateness of internal 
control system under internal control framework as  
follows;

1. Internal Environment
 The Company promotes and supports a good internal 

control environment with written policies related to 
corporate governance and code of conduct manual, 
which has clearly defined roles and responsibilities 
of directors, management and employees. The 
Company also formulated Code of Conducts as 
the fundamental of internal control processes for 
business operations. The corporate governance and 
code of conduct manual has been communicated to 
employees at all levels to acknowledge and strictly 
comply including the punishment if any violations. 
The organizational structure has been established  
to correspond with the business plan and is 
regularly adjusted to be appropriate with operations 
to ensure that management and employees’  
operation is efficient and able to be clearly monitored, 
inspected and evaluated. The Internal Audit  
Department is responsible for examining and  
verifying performance and supporting a good internal 
control environment. In addition, the Company 
recognizes the importance of continuous human 
resource development and provides trainings in order 
to enhance knowledge and skills required for the 
assigned task. 
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2.  Objective Setting
 The Company has clearly defined its measurable 

business goals, long - term and short - term strategies.  
The aforementioned business goals and strategies are 
structured in accordance with risks occurrence, risks 
appetite and risk management. 

3.  Event Identification
 The Company identified potential events of risks that 

may occur from internal and external sources; for 
example personnel, operation, finance, information 
technology, accounting system, laws and regulations 
in order that management can consider the policy 
and guideline for managing the potential risks.

4.  Risk Assessment
 The Company aims the importance of enterprise 

risk management system and a Risk Management 
Committee has been appointed to oversee risk 
assessment framework including risk management 
system. Every business unit shall assess risk factors in 
various areas, the likelihood of occurrence and the 
impact from internal and external factors and has 
measures to manage risks at acceptable risk tolerance 
level. The Risk Management Committee shall report 
to the Audit Committee at least once a year.

5. Risk Response
 The Company determines the measure of risk 

management considering the likelihood and impact 
of each evaluated risk in order to mitigate risks to 
acceptable risk tolerance level. Furthermore, the 
Company recognized changes in business environment 
and reviewed both long - term and short - term 
strategies in order to correspond with those changes.

6. Control Activities
 The Company has clear and appropriate internal 

control systems. Key performance indicators (KPIs) 
will be used as tools in planning and control. The 
Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct Manual 
provides guidelines for all employees to perform 
their duties. The Company has segregation of duties 
and defined clear responsibilities of various functions. 
The procedure of power of authority level, for 
example, clearly determines the authority level of 
management in transactions approval. Standard 
operation procedures are written and regularly 
reviewed.  In addition, the IT system classifies the 
roles as well as control and access to information at 
various levels. The IT system has set access codes and 
an information database that can be later retrieved 
for verification. The procedure regarding connected 
transactions is clearly stated to ensure transparency 
and the maximum benefits of the Company. Internal 
Audit Department has been assigned to regularly 
review the adequacy and appropriateness of internal 
control system, which is aligned with the audit plan 
covering significant operation areas. In addition, 
the Company has consistently monitored the 
operations of its subsidiaries to ensure their operations 
aligned with the Company’s business policy.

7.  Information and Communication
 Information and communication plays an important 

roles in the Company. Information technology has 
been developed in order to manage information and 
analyze data to support management’s decision. 

 
 Every staff has been communicated the Company’s 

information relating to policies, regulations and 
announcements through many communication 
channels, e.g. intranet, stores’ notice board, Company’s  
emails and VDO Conference (Broadcast) for correctness, 
completeness and timeliness of the information. 
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 The Company has put in place complaint - making 
and whistle - blowing communication channels. 
These cover offenses or suspicious behavior that 
may imply fraud or corruption or misconduct of any 
persons in the organization for employees, which has 
been publicized on the Company’s website or e-mail 
cgoffice@siammakro.co.th.  Furthermore, the Company 
has any other appropriate and efficient communication 
channels with external stakeholders such as  
Call Center (0 2335 5300) for customers’ inquiries 
or complaints about products and services of the  
Company, and Investor Relations Department 
for shareholders and investors to ensure that  
stakeholders can access the Company’s information  
at all time. This will provide understanding about  
the Company’s business to the stakeholders, as  
well as disclose of information to SET. Additionally, 
the Company has clear policies to control unauthorized  
access information and prevent inappropriate use of 
the Company’s information in compliance with the Act 
on Commission of an Offence Relating to Computer.

8. Monitoring
 The Company continues to monitor whether business is 

operated in accordance with the Company’s targets as 
well as analyzes reasons of any under - performance as 
well as re - organized in accordance with circumstance 
changes. Furthermore, Internal Audit Department 
as an independence unit will review whether 
operations appropriately follow the internal control 
procedures by emphasizing the risk - based audit  
plan approved by the Audit Committee. In addition, 
the recommendations to improve the business  
process, the efficiency and effectiveness of the  
internal control are provided to management to 
implement corrective action plans and reported to 
the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

In 2018, the Audit Committee is of the same opinion with 
the external auditor that there is no significant issue on 
internal control. The Company has appropriate internal 
control which corresponds with business. Furthermore, 
all departments have performed the duties in accordance 
to the determined processes and procedures.
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2.7 Auditor’s Remuneration in 2018
 Audit fees
 The Company and its subsidiaries paid to the Audit Firm the following fees during in the fiscal year 2018:

Company Audit Firm Audit Fee (Baht)

Siam Makro KPMG Phoomchai Audit Limited 6,530,000

Siam Food Services KPMG Phoomchai Audit Limited 1,300,000

Makro ROH KPMG Phoomchai Audit Limited 200,000

Indoguna Vina Food Service KPMG (Vietnam) Limited 351,000(2)

ProMart KPMG Phoomchai Audit Limited 50,000

ARO(1) Khin Su Htay & Associates Limited 32,311(3)

CP Wholesale India KPMG India 711,450(4)

Makro (Cambodia) KPMG Cambodia 565,437(5)

Makro (Guangzhou)(1) BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP 48,913(6)

Indoguna (Singapore)(1) Chong, Lim & Partners LLP 814,541(7)

Indoguna Dubai(1) FRG Chartered Accountants 668,542(8)

Indoguna Lordly(1) PLC (CAP) Limited 395,760(9)

Just Meat(1) PLC (CAP) Limited 127,798(10)

MAXZI The Good Food(1) FRG Chartered Accountants 43,983(11)

Indoguna (Cambodia)(12) Fii & Associates 126,012(12)

ARO Commercial(13) N/A -

Remark: 
(1)Auditor is not the same audit company as the Company’s auditor
(2)Equivalent to VND 250,000,000 (VND 1 = Baht 0.0014)
(3)Equivalent to USD 1,000 (USD 1 = Baht 32.3107)
(4)Equivalent to INR 1,500,000 (INR 1 = Baht 0.4743) 
(5)Equivalent to USD 17,500 (USD 1 = Baht 32.3107)
(6)Equivalent to RMB 10,000 (RMB 1 = Baht 4.8913)
(7)Equivalent to SGD 34,000 (SGD 1 = Baht 23.9571)
(8)Equivalent to AED 76,000 (AED 1 = Baht 8.7966)
(9)Equivalent to HKD 96,000 (HKD 1 = Baht 4.1225)
(10)Equivalent to HKD 31,000 (HKD 1 = Baht 4.1225)
(11)Equivalent to AED 5,000 (AED 1 = Baht 8.7966)
(12)Equivalent to USD 3,900 (USD 1 = Baht 32.3107)
(13)Appointment of auditor is in process. The first fiscal year is on 31 March 2019
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 Non - audit fees
 The Company and its subsidiaries also paid to the Audit Firm during fiscal year 2018 non - audit fees, namely, for 

other consulting engagements not related to audit services, tax & legal consulting services, and other engagements 
to review and observe specifically agreed procedures and activities as per the following details: 

Company Non - Audit Service Service Providers
Paid 

(Baht)

Contingent 
Expenses 
(Baht)(11)

Siam Makro Engagement to review and 
observe specifically agreed 
procedures and activities(1)

KPMG Phoomchai Audit Limited - 20,000

Siam Food Services Engagement to review and 
observe specifically agreed 
procedures and activities(1)

KPMG Phoomchai Audit Limited 30,000   -

Siam Makro Tax & Legal Consulting Services(2) KPMG Phoomchai Tax Limited - 750,000

Siam Makro Business Advisory Services(3) KPMG Phoomchai
Business Advisory Limited

1,350,000 -

Siam Makro Tax & Legal Consulting Services(4) KPMG Phoomchai 
Tax Limited

- 120,000

Siam Makro Assurance Services(5) KPMG Phoomchai Audit Limited - 280,000

Indoguna Vina 
Food Service

Accounting, Tax & Legal 
Consulting Services(6)

KPMG (Vietnam) Limited 75,816 244,296

Indoguna Dubai Business Advisory Services(7) FRG Chartered Accountants 39,585 -

Indoguna Lordly Business Advisory Services(8) PLC (CAP) Limited 50,327 -

Just Meat Business Advisory Services(9) PLC (CAP) Limited 23,461 -

CP Wholesale India Tax & Legal Consulting Services(10) KPMG India 71,145 -

Total 1,640,334 1,414,296

Remark:   
(1)Attendance to observe inventory destruction
(2)Transfer pricing advisory services on BEPS Action Plan 13
(3)Management workshop
(4)Tax advisory services according to the contract review
(5)Assurance of sustainability report
(6)These service providers are in the same Group as with the Audit firm. The paid amount for the year 2018 is VND 54,000,000 and 

contingent expense as at 31 December 2018 is VND 174,000,000 (VND 1 = Baht 0.0014)
(7) These service providers are in the same Group as with the Audit firm. The paid amount for the year 2018 is AED 4,500 

(AED 1 = Baht 8.7966)
(8) These service providers are in the same Group as with the Audit firm. The paid amount for the year 2018 is HKD 12,208  

(HKD 1 = Baht 4.1225)
(9) These service providers are in the same Group as with the Audit firm. The paid amount for the year 2018 is HKD 5,691 

(HKD 1 = Baht 4.1225)
(10)These service providers are in the same Group as with the Audit firm. The paid amount for the year 2018 is INR 150,000  

(INR 1 = Baht 0.4743)
(11)Contingent expenses as at 31 December 2018
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Board of 
Directors and 

Executives



Mr. Arsa Sarasin
Chairman and Member of the 
Corporate Governance 
Committee
Age 82 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 26 January 1994

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• B.A. in Business Administration,  

Boston University, USA
• Honorary Doctoral Degree in Political 

Science (International Affairs),  
Thammasat University

Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2013 Role of Chairman Program (RCP)
2008 Finance for Non - Finance Director (FND)
2007 Audit Committee Program (ACP)
2003 Director Accreditation Program (DAP) 

Working Experiences
Working Experiences in Listed Company
2018 - Present Independent Director
 Bangkok Dusit Medical Services Public Company Limited
August 2016 - Present Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
 Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2015 - Present Chairman of Board of Director/ Independent Director
 Dusit Thani Public Company Limited
1999 - Present  Chairman
 Siam Makro Public Company Limited
1998 - Present  Chairman
 Padaeng Industry Public Company Limited
2015 - March 2018 Chairman of the CSR Committee for Sustainable 

Development
 Siam Cement Public Company Limited
2013 - May 2016  Vice Chairman/ Chairman of the Audit Committee/

Chairman of the Remuneration and Nominating 
Committee/ Chairman of the Corporate Governance 
Committee

 Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited
2007 - August 2016 Independent Director
 Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2001 - March 2018  Director/ Member of the Governance and Nomination 

Committee 
 Siam Cement Public Company Limited
1999 - May 2016 Independent Director
 Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
2013 - Present  Chairman
 Mitsubishi Elevator Asia Company Limited
2003 - Present  Director
 Thainamthip Company Limited
1995 - Present  Chairman
 Amata City Company Limited
1993 - Present  Chairman
 Thai Asia Pacific Brewery Company Limited

Present positions in other organizations / institutions 
November 2018 - Present Chairman 
 Bualuang Foundation
October 2018 - Present Chairman 
 The Queen’s Gallery Foundation
2014 - Present Chairman 
 Education and Public Welfare Foundation
2014 - Present Chairman
 Mitsubishi Electric Thai Foundation
2005 - Present  Vice Chairman 
 Thai Tapioca Development Institute 
2004 - Present  Chairman of Advisors
 Thai - Laos Friendship Associate
December 1988 - Present Chairman
 Padaeng Zinc Foundation

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -
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Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2009 Director Certification Program (DCP) 
2004 Director Accreditation Program (DAP)

Working Experiences
Working Experiences in Listed Company
2005 - Present  Chairman of Audit Committee/ Independent Director
  Goodyear (Thailand) Public Company Limited
1999 - Present  Chairman of the Audit Committee/ Independent Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
1992 - 1996 Managing Director
  Price Waterhouse, Bangkok

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -

Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and Independent Director
Age 74 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 16 November 1999

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Former member of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in Australia
• Associateship in Accounting from Western 

Australian Institute of Technology (presently 
known as Curtin University of Technology)
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Mr. Thira Wipuchanin
Chairman of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, 
Member of the Audit Committee, 
Member of the Corporate  
Governance Committee and 
Independent Director 
Age 69 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 14 May 2003

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Bachelor of Economics and  

Business Administration,  
University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point, USA

Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2014 Chartered Director Class (CDC)
2005 Audit Committee Program (ACP) 
2001 Director Certification Program (DCP)

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
August 2016 - Present Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2010 - Present Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2003 - Present  Member of the Audit Committee/ Independent Director 
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited 
2000 - Present Chairman/ Independent Director
  Precious Shipping Public Company Limited
1995 - Present Chairman/ Chairman of the Audit Committee/ 
  Independent Director
  United Palm Oil Industry Public Company Limited
2008 - 2009 Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2005 - 2017 Chairman of the Audit Committee/ Independent Director
  Bangkok First Investment & Trust Public Company Limited
2005 - 2016 Chairman/ Independent Director
  Interhides Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
1998 - 2004  Senior Executive Vice President
  Export - Import Bank of Thailand
1995 - 1997  Senior Vice President
  Premier Group of Companies
1990 - 1994  Thailand Branch Representative
  Prudential Asset Management Asia Limited

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -
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Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2006 Director Certification Program (DCP) 
2004 Director Accreditation Program (DAP)

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
August 2016 - Present Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
August 2016 - Present Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee
  Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited
July 2016 - Present Chairman of the Audit Committee
  Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited
2013 - Present Member of the Audit Committee/ Independent Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2010 - Present Chairman of the Corporate Social Responsibility and 

Sustainable Development Committee/ 
  Independent Director
  Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited
2010 - August 2016 Member of Corporate Governance Committee
  Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited
2010 - July 2016 Member of the Audit Committee
  Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
-

Present positions in other organizations/ institutions (if any)
2015 - Present Chairman
  The Stock Exchange of Thailand
2015 - Present Economic Advisor to Deputy Prime Minister

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -

Dr. Chaiyawat 
Wibulswasdi
Chairman of the Corporate 
Governance Committee, 
Member of the Audit Committee 
and Independent Director
Age 72 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 5 July 2013

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Bachelor of Economics,  

Williams College, USA
• Ph.D. in Economics,  

Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA
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Mr. Joti Bhokavanij
Member of the Audit Committee, 
Member of the Corporate 
Governance Committee 
and Independent Director
Age 76 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 5 July 2013

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Fellow of the Association of Chartered 

Certified Accountants, England
• Programme for Management 

Development,  
Harvard Business School, USA

• Marketing Management Programme, 
Stanford Graduate School of Business, 
Stanford University, USA

Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2012 IOD National Director Conference 2012 - Moving Corporate Governance  
 Forward: Challenge for Thai Directors 
2012 Monitoring the Quality of Financial Reporting (MFR)
2012 Successful Formulation & Execution of Strategy (SFE)
2012 How to Measure the Success of Corporate Strategy (HMS)
2012 Monitoring Fraud Risk Management (MFM)
2012 Monitoring the Internal Audit Function (MIA)
2012 Monitoring the System of Internal Control and Risk Management (MIR) 
2009  Director Certification Program (DCP)
2003  Director Accreditation Program (DAP)
2000 Chairman

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
September 2017 - Present Chairman of the Audit Committee/
  Independent Director
  True Corporation Public Company Limited
August 2016 - Present Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2013 - Present Member of the Audit Committee/ 
  Independent Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2013 - Present Chairman
  Bangkok Ranch Public Company Limited
2012 - Present  Member of Finance Committee/ 
  Member of Remuneration Committee
  True Corporation Public Company Limited
2012 - Present Independent Director
  Loxley Public Company Limited
2012 - April 2018 Member of Audit Committee
  Loxley Public Company Limited  
1999 - September 2017  Member of Audit Committee/ Independent Director
  True Corporation Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
2009 - Present Director
  Thai Smart Card Company Limited
2002 - 2017 Director
  Bangkok Inter Teletech Public Company Limited
2002 - 2017 Director
  True Move Company Limited
1999 - 2017 Director
  Kingfisher Holdings Limited
1992 - 1994 Consul - General of Denmark for Bangkok
  Embassy of Denmark (Bangkok, Thailand)

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -
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Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2009 Director Certification Program (DCP) 
2005 Director Accreditation Program (DAP)

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
2015 - Present Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
1999 - Present Member of the Audit Committee/ Independent Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2009 - 2013 Member of the Audit Committee/ Independent Director
  Internet Thailand Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
2013 - Present Director
  SCL Tax Consultants Company Limited
2005 - Present  Managing Director
  Siam City Law Offices Limited
2005 - Present Managing Director
  Chavalit and Associates Limited
1977 - 2005 Director
  International Legal Counselors Thailand

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -

Mr. Chavalit Uttasart
Member of the Audit Committee, 
Member of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee and 
Independent Director 
Age 70 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 16 November 1999

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• LL.B. (Second Class Honours),  

Chulalongkorn University
• Barrister - At - Law, 

The Institute of Legal Education, Thai Bar 
Association

• Barrister - At - Law,  
The Honorable Society of Gray’s Inn,  
London, England
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Mr. Korsak Chairasmisak
First Vice Chairman and
Member of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee
Age 66 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 5 July 2013

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Certificate of Commerce,  

Assumption Commerce College
• Bachelor of Economics,  

Thammasat University
• Honorary Doctorate in Business 

Administration in Management,  
Suan Dusit Rajabhat University

• Honorary Doctorate in Arts,  
North Chiang Mai University

• Honorary Doctorate in Business 
Administration in Management,  
Sripatum University

• Honorary Doctorate in Philosophy,  
Faculty of Accounting,  
Rajamangala University of Technology 
Srivijaya

Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2006 The Role of Chairman  
2000 Director Certification Program (DCP) 

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
November 2016 - Present Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2013 - Present First Vice Chairman
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
1990 - Present Vice Chairman/ Chairman of Executive Committee
  CP ALL Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
1990 - Present Vice Chairman
  Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited

Present positions in other organizations/ institutions
Chairman - Panyapiwat Institute of Management Council
Council Committee - Panyapiwat Institute of Management
President - World Chinese Wei Qi Federation
Chairman - Go Association of Thailand

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -
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Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2003 Director Certification Program (DCP)

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
January 2018 - Present Group Chief Executive Officer - Siam Makro
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2013 - Present Second Vice Chairman
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
March 2017 - January 2018 Group Chief Executive Officer
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2010 - February 2017 Chief Executive Officer
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2001 - 2013 Vice Chairman
   Siam Makro Public Company Limited
1996 - 2001  Director
   Siam Makro Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
September 2018 - Present Director
   ARO Commercial Company Limited
2017 - Present  Director
   Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited
2017 - Present  Director
   MAXZI The Good Food Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C
2017 - Present  Director
   Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd
2017 - Present   Director
   Indoguna Dubai L.L.C
2017 - Present  Director
   Indoguna Lordly Company Limited
2017 - Present  Director
   Just Meat Company Limited
2017 - Present  Director
   Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited
2017 - Present  Director
   CP Wholesale India Private Limited
2016 - Present   Director
   Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited
2015 - Present  Director
   ProMart Company Limited
2014 - Present   Director
   ARO Company Limited
2014 - Present   Director
   Makro ROH Company Limited
2012 - Present  Director
   Indoguna Vina Food Service Company Limited 
2005 - Present   Director
   Siam Food Services Limited

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -

Mrs. Suchada Ithijarukul
Second Vice Chairman and 
Group Chief Executive Officer - 
Siam Makro
Age 66 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 29 August 1996

Relationship with Executives
None

Education
• Bachelor Degree in Accountancy 

(Second Class Honours),  
Chulalongkorn University

Siam Makro Public Company Limited    097



Dr. Prasert Jarupanich
Director
Age 70 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 7 May 1988

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Ph.D. in Industrial Engineering and 

Management,  
Oklahoma State University, USA

Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2008 Role of the Compensation Committee
2004 Director Certification Program (DCP)
2004 Finance for non - finance director 

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
2010 - Present Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited 
1988 - Present  Director
  CP ALL Public Company Limited
2010 - November 2016 Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2008 - 2009  Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2007 - 2010  Independent Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
1988 - 2007  Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
-

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) 200
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -
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Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2000  Director Certification Program (DCP) 

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
2013 - Present  Vice Chairman of Executive Committee/ Director
  CP ALL Public Company Limited
2013 - Present Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2013 - 2015 Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
1999 - 2013 Director/ Deputy Chief Executive Officer
  CP ALL Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
Present Council Committee
  Panyapiwat Institute of Management
Present Director
  All Corporation Limited
Present Director
  All Training Company Limited
Present Director
  Panyatara Company Limited
Present Director
  Suksapiwat Company Limited
Present Director
  Dynamic Management Company Limited
Present Director
  MAM Heart Company Limited
Present Director
  Gosoft (Thailand) Company Limited
Present Director
  CP Retailink Company Limited
Present Director
  Counter Service Company Limited
Present Director
  CPRAM Company Limited
Present Director
  24 Shopping Company Limited
Present Director
  OHT Company Limited
Present Director
  Siam Makro Holding (Thailand) Limited

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -

Mr. Pittaya Jearavisitkul
Director
Age 63 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 5 July 2013

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Bachelor of Economics (First Class Honour), 

Thammasat University
• Master of Business Administration,  

Thammasat University
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Mr. Piyawat Titasattavorakul
Director
Age 65 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 5 July 2013

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Bachelor of Business Administration in  

Marketing,  
Ramkhamhaeng University

• Honorary Doctorate,  
Suan Dusit Rajabhat University

Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2001 Director Certification Program (DCP)

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
2013 - Present  Vice Chairman of Executive Committee
  CP ALL Public Company Limited
2013 - Present Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
1999 - 2014 Managing Director
  CP ALL Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
Present Director
  Panyapiwat Institute of Management
Present Director
  Panyapiwat Technological College
Present Director
  MAM Heart Company Limited
Present Director
  Counter Service Company Limited
Present Director
  CPRAM Company Limited
Present Director
  CP Retailink Company Limited

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -
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Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2005 Director Accreditation Program (DAP)
2001 Director Certification Program (DCP)

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
1 March 2017 - Present Chairman of the Executive Committee
  Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited
2013 - Present  Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2005 - Present  Director
  CP ALL Public Company Limited
2003 - 2017 President / Chief Executive Officer
  Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
19 January 2017 - Present Senior Vice Chairman
  Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited
2005 - 2017 Vice Chairman
  Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -

Mr. Adirek Sripratak
Director 
Age 72 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 5 July 2013

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Honorary Doctorate in Agriculture,  

Nakhon Sawan Rajabhat University
• Honorary Doctorate in Science,  

Maejo University
• Honorary Doctorate in Economics,  

Chiang Mai University
• Honorary Doctorate in Science,  

Rajamangala University of Technology Isan
• Honorary Doctorate in Philosophy, Faculty of 

Agriculture, Ubon Ratchatani University
• Honorary Doctorate in Philosophy, Faculty of 

Food Technology, Mae Fah Luang University
• Honorary Doctorate in Business Administration, 

Rajamangala University of Technology 
Suvarnabhumi

• Honorary Doctorate in Philosophy, Faculty of 
Food Science, Kasetsart University

• Certificate of Accounting, Rajamangala Institute 
of Technology, Bangkok Commercial Campus
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Mr. Narong Chearavanont
Director
Age 53 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 5 July 2013

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Bachelor of Science, Major in Business 

Administration,  
New York University, USA

• Advance Management Program: Transforming 
Proven Leaders into Global Executives, 
Harvard Business School,  
Harvard University, USA

• Honorary Doctorate in Business Administration,  
Ramkhamhaeng University

• Systematic Innovation of Products, Processes 
and Services,  
MIT Sloan School of Management, USA

Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2007 Director Accreditation Program (DAP) 

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
2013 - Present  Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2008 - Present  Director
  True Corporation Public Company Limited
1999 - Present   Director
  CP ALL Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
2017 - Present Senior Vice Chairman
  Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited
2014 - Present Director
  True Visions Group Company Limited
2012 - Present President
  Shanghai Litai Logistics Company Limited
2011 - Present  Director
  SM True Company Limited
2011 - Present Director
  The IconSiam Superlux Residences Corporation Limited   
2011 - Present Director
  The ICONSIAM Residences Corporation Company Limited
2011 - Present Director
  ICONSIAM Company Limited
2010 - Present   Vice Chairman
  Panther Entertainment Company Limited
2010 - Present  Vice Chairman
  Marketing and Distribution Business (Thailand)
2010 - Present Vice Chairman
  Marketing and Distribution Business (China)
2010 - Present Vice Chairman
  Real Estate & Land Development Business (China)
2010 - Present   Vice Chairman
  Shanghai Kinghill Company Limited
2008 - Present  Director
  CPPC Company Limited
2007 - Present  Executive Vice Chairman
  Chia Tai (China) Investment Company Limited
2007 - Present Executive Vice Chairman
  CP Lotus Corporation Company Limited
2016 - 2017 Vice Chairman
  Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -
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Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2016 Ethical Leadership Program
2016 IT Governance
2007 Role of the Compensation Committee
2006 Board Performance Evaluation 
2006 DCP Refresher
2003 Company Secretary
2001 Director Certification Program (DCP)

Working Experiences
Working Experiences in Listed Company
August 2016 - Present Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
February 2016 - Present Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
  CP ALL Public Company Limited
2013 - Present Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited 
2001 - Present  Director
  True Corporation Public Company Limited
1999 - Present Director
  CP ALL Public Company Limited
August 2016 - November 2017 Member of the Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee
  CP ALL Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
Present Deputy Group CFO
  Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited
2005 - Present  Director
  C.P. Lotus Corporation
2004 - Present  Director
  CPPC Public Company Limited
2003 - 2016 Director
  Vina Siam Bank (Vietnam)
1999 - 2016 Director
  Allianz C.P. Insurance Public Company Limited

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -

Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong
Member of the Corporate 
Governance Committee and
Director 
Age 66 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 5 July 2013

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Bachelor Degree in Accounting, 

Thammasat University 
• Master Degree in Accounting, 

Thammasat University
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Mrs. Saowaluck Thithapant
Group Chief Financial Officer - 
Siam Makro
Age 63 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 15 December 2004

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Bachelor Degree in Accountancy  

(Second Class Honors),  
Thammasat University

• Bachelor Degree in Law,  
Thammasat University

• Master Degree in Accountancy,  
Thammasat University

Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2005 Director Accreditation Program (DAP)

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
January 2018 - Present Group Chief Financial Officer - Siam Makro
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2004 - Present  Director
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
March 2017 - January 2018 Group Chief Financial and Shared Services Officer
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2010 - February 2017 Chief Financial and Shared Services Officer
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
September 2018 - Present Director
  ARO Commercial Company Limited
2017 - Present Director
  Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited
2017 - Present Director
  MAXZI The Good Food Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C
2017 - Present Director
  Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd
2017 - Present Director
  Indoguna Dubai L.L.C
2017 - Present Director
  Indoguna Lordly Company Limited
2017 - Present Director
  Just Meat Company Limited
2017 - Present Director
  Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited
2017 - Present Director
  CP Wholesale India Private Limited
2016 - Present Director
  Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited
2015 - Present Director
  ProMart Company Limited
2015 - Present Director
  Charoen Pokphand Capital Company Limited
2014 - Present Director
  ARO Company Limited
2014 - Present  Director
  Makro ROH Company Limited
2012 - Present Director
  Indoguna Vina Food Service Company Limited
2005 - Present Director
  Siam Food Services Limited

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -
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Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
2010 Director Certification Program (DCP) 

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
January 2018 - Present Chief Executive Officer - Food Service Asia Pacific 

and Middle East
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
March 2017 - January 2018 Chief Executive Officer - Food Service
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2015 - February 2017 Chief Operation Officer - Commercial, Marketing 

and Supply Chain
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2014 - 2015  Chief Operation Officer - Thailand
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2010 - 2014  Chief Executive Officer - Food Service Business
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
2017 - Present Director
  Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited
2017 - Present Director
  MAXZI The Good Food Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C
2017 - Present Director
  Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd
2017 - Present Director
  Indoguna Dubai L.L.C
2017 - Present Director
  Indoguna Lordly Company Limited
2017 - Present Director
  Just Meat Company Limited
2017 - Present Director
  Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited
2015 - Present Director
  ProMart Company Limited
2015 - Present Director
  ARO Company Limited
2014 - Present  Director
  Makro ROH Company Limited
2012 - Present Director
  Indoguna Vina Food Service Company Limited
2007 - Present  Director/ Executive Director
  Siam Food Services Limited

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -

Mr. Lin, Chi-Lung
Chief Executive Officer - 
Food Service Asia Pacific and 
Middle East
Age 54 Years

Nationality
• Chinese Taipei

Date of Appointment
• 15 May 2003

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Master of Business Administration,  

National Taipei University of Technology,  
Taiwan
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Mr. Paul Stephen Howe
Group Chief Information Officer - 
Siam Makro
Age 53 Years

Nationality
• British

Date of Appointment
• 2 September 2013

Relationship with Executives
None

Education
• The Diploma of Information Technology 

(DIT), Melbourne Institute of Technology, 
Australia

Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
None

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
January 2018 - Present Group Chief Information Officer - Siam Makro
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
March 2017 - January 2018 Group Chief Information Officer
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2014 - February 2017   Chief Business and Information Technology Officer
   Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2013 - 2014   Chief Information Officer (CIO)
   Siam Makro Public Company Limited

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
1999 - 2013   Oracle Enterprise Architect
   Oracle Corporation 

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -
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Training with Thai Institute of Directors (Thai IOD)
None

Working Experiences  
Working Experiences in Listed Company
3 January 2018 - Present Group Chief Human Resources Officer - Siam Makro
   Siam Makro Public Company Limited
2014 - 2015  Head HR Center of Excellence
   Minor International Public Company Limited 
   (Food Group)
2009 - 2012  HR Director
   Minor International Public Company Limited 
   (Retail Group)

Working Experiences in Non Listed Company
21 August 2018 - Present Director
   Siam Food Services Limited
2015 - 2017  HR Director Southeast Asia
   Associated British Foods 
   (Twinings and Ovaltine)
2012 - 2014  HR Director Thailand
   Kimberly - Clark Thailand

Shareholding in the Company
Director/ Executive (Shares) -
Spouse (Shares) -
Minor Children (Shares) -

Miss Naruemol 
Worasunthararom
Group Chief Human Resources 
Officer - Siam Makro 
Age 44 Years

Nationality
• Thai

Date of Appointment
• 3 January 2018

Relationship with Executives
• None

Education
• Bachelor of Arts, Thammasat University
• Master of Arts in Human Resource  

Management & Industrial Relations, 
University of Hertfordshire, United Kingdom
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CORPORATE RISK
FACTORS AND
RISK MANAGEMENT

Effective risk management is an integral component in the achievement of the Company’s 
short-term and long-term business objectives. For this reason, the Company has put in place 
a robust risk management process as well as proactive risk management measures to enable 
us to manage risks within acceptable limits. The Risk Management Committee assumes the 
critical role of driving the Company’s risk management policy, developing the risk assessment 
framework in line with international standards, and monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness 
of risk management according to the established framework. In 2018, the Company developed 
a Risk Management Manual for company-wide use and continued in its work to elevate  
risk management efficiency within the organization.

Our business is operating in a rapidly changing environment 
in which we are faced not only with intensifying  
competition in Thailand, but are confronted with new 
risks and challenges in each country where we are  
expanding - resulting in an increasingly complex risk  
landscape. For this reason, the Company has applied various  
approaches and tools to analyze and identify means of  
managing new risks, including risk monitoring, risk maps, 
mitigation plans, and the Business Continuity Management 
Framework, all of which allow us to control risks within 
an acceptable level. The Company has contracted an 
external risk management consultant to provide their 
advice and expertise to our Risk Management Committee, 
and worked to foster a strong risk management culture 
within the organization by encouraging all employees and 
departments to be aware of the risks involved in their own 
roles and responsibilities. Such proactive risk management 
measures allow Makro to efficiently manage both direct and  
indirect risks, as well as strengthen the organization’s  
capability in monitoring and devising measures to cope 
with emerging risks.

Economic, Political, and Natural Disaster Risks
Economic and political risks are external risk factors 
that have the potential to impact business operations 
in many aspects, such as through business slowdowns 
or interruptions, which may cause delays in the delivery 
of products to customers, among other impacts. The 
Company is continuing forward in our business expansion 
to international markets, and in particular expanding food 
service - related businesses under Siam Food Services 
Limited. Given this, the Company must be aware of all the 
economic and political risks associated with each country 
in which we have operations - specifically related to the 
safety conditions of each location. The Company has 
therefore deployed its Business Continuity Management 
Plan, which requires that political situations must be closely  
monitored, advanced risk warnings issued, and that 
crisis management measures are prepared to ensure 
that all of the Company’s key business activities will be 
able to continue uninterrupted. Such measures include 
preparing backup computers for use at offices, issuing 
policies for employees to work remotely, and identifying
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alternate stores that use electricity from different 
sources to make sure that Makro stores can remain 
operational. Moreover, to support our future business 
expansion, in 2019 the Company plans to establish a 
Crisis Management Working Committee, which will have 
a role in overseeing and monitoring crisis situations, and 
the authority to make decisions in the case of a crisis event. 
 
Regarding natural disaster risks, the fluctuation of weather 
conditions in Thailand and internationally, including 
weather events such as droughts and floods, may result 
in lower yields for the Company’s suppliers, limit the 
ability of customers to access the Company’s products in 
stores, or interrupt the transport and distribution of the 
Company’s products throughout our network. Despite these 
conditions, the Company is confident in our ability to deliver 
products to our customers without interruption as we have 
stores located across the country along with 4 Distribution 
Centers, as follows: 1) Dry Food and Non Food Distribution 
Center in Wang Noi District, Phra Nakhon Si Ayutthaya; 
2) Fresh Food, Chilled and Frozen Products Distribution 
Center in Wang Noi District, Phra Nakhon Si Ayutthaya;  
3) Dry Food and Non Food Distribution Center at Bang Sao 
Thong District, Samut Prakan, and 4) Fresh Food, Frozen 
Food and Chilled Food Distribution Center at Mueang  
District, Samut Sakhon - in addition to an extensive supplier 
network. Nevertheless, to reduce the risks of future impacts 
of natural disaster risks, especially floods, the Company has 
started diversifying the locations of our distribution centers 
by selecting locations with lower likelihoods of natural 
disaster risks, and automated a number of distribution 
activities, from the process of receiving products from 
producers and distributors, to storage, selection, and 
distribution to Makro stores. These measures have not only 
reduced our reliance on physical labor, but also enable us 
to appropriately handle the quantity of products that will 
rise in parallel with the expansion of our stores in Thailand 
and overseas.

Consumer Behavioral Change Risks 
Changing consumer behaviors and a competitive business 
landscape owing to technological changes and innovations 
in communication have had significant impacts on 
Makro’s current business model. Presently, customers are 
turning more to online sources for news, display a higher  
preference for online purchasing, and have much more 
choices and ease in accessing products through a multitude 
of channels. Customers are also demanding a faster and more  
efficient means of purchasing products digitally. Should the 
organization not be able to adapt quickly to these changes,

there arises the risk that we may lose our customer  
base or market share.

The Company has prepared measures to respond to 
changing customer behaviors by revising our market strategy 
to better respond to the specific needs of each customer 
group. This includes launching the website Makroclick.com, 
an online sales channel; the Online to Offline (O2O) system, 
which connects a customer’s online and offline purchasing 
activities; and implementing personalized communication 
channels that better cater to the specific needs of each 
customer group. The Company has also established  
the “OMNI - Channel Sales and Services” Department (OCS),  
which is tasked with servicing customers through a larger  
variety of channels and increasing e - commerce platforms  
offer a greater selection of products in addition to those 
found in stores; and providing a ‘last - mile delivery’ service.

Human Resources Risks 
Human resources are a critical element in the successful 
attainment of business objectives. For this reason, the  
shortage of qualified personnel - who possess the 
knowledge, capabilities, and skills required for the business 
- presents a key risk that must be closely monitored. 
Considering the context in which the Company is looking to 
expand overseas and prioritize digital integration to increase 
business efficiency, the Company must act fast to develop 
qualified employees and equip them with the skills required 
of the current business strategy and in keeping with changing 
trends. Moreover, the Company faces risks associated with 
the long - term retention of highly - qualified employees. 
With the retail business expanding rapidly, resulting in 
increased competition between industry peers to recruit such 
qualified personnel - and coupled with the trend of higher 
turnovers amongst the newer generation of employees, 
the Company must adapt quickly to these changes and 
continue its business activities in a way that responds 
to the expectations of employees from all age groups. 
At the same time, the Company must work to combine 
and strengthen the capabilities of employees from each 
generation to work effectively together as one unified team.

To reduce the aforementioned risks and drive the organization 
towards our aim of becoming the employer of choice for 
all generations, Makro has implemented various measures 
and approaches, which include: providing compensation 
commensurate with an employee’s responsibilities at a 
competitive rate or higher than those of industry peers; 
developing and elevating employee capabilities for each
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position, at every level; and building leadership competencies 
for employees at the management level and higher.

Furthermore, the Company has also devised an internal 
succession plan for “Top 50” level management positions 
and for store managers, where key positions must have 
at least one to two successors identified. Similarly, the 
Company requires that employees have an Individual 
Development Plan (IDP) and that their performance is 
closely monitored and evaluated, that employees are 
recruited in sufficient quantities to meet future business 
demands within the specified timeframe, and that 
leadership skills are developed alongside various other 
human capital development projects. Examples include the 
“Young Talent” Program, which aims to build and prepare 
a new generation of employees as leaders; the Company’s 
partnership with Panyapiwat Institute of Management 
(PIM) to develop curricula and issue scholarships to students 
who have won innovation awards to come work with Makro 
in the future; and overall support for the recruitment and 
development of local labor to support the expansion of 
Makro’s stores across the country. Hiring local labor also 
serves as a good opportunity for employees to return 
to their home provinces, develop their skills and earn 
an income, without having to leave their hometowns.

Financial Risks
In 2018, the Company invested in overseas expansion 
and opened 2 stores in India. In 2019, the Company plans 
to continue its expansion of new stores overseas. These 
international investments bring with them the susceptibility 
to foreign exchange risks, especially in emerging markets. 
To protect against this risk, the Company has in place 
relevant processes and tools to monitor and analyze 
foreign exchange risks on an ongoing basis, and has 
purchased foreign exchange risk insurance in the case 
of short-term investments. Importantly, the Company 
prioritizes investments through local currencies as well as 
the identification of additional sources of capital within 
each country to reduce vulnerabilities to exchange rate 
fluctuations, thereby supporting the financial sustainability 
of each business as well as generating profits and returns. 

Reputational Risks 
News and information are easily accessible today - especially 
through digital channels such as LINE application, Facebook 
and Twitter. Such ease of access brings with it the risk 
of the spread of false news and misinformation or trade 
secrets through channels outside of the Company’s

official domain, resulting in damages to the business’s 
reputation, customer trust, and even financial standing. 
The Company has therefore implemented proactive 
measures to manage reputational risks, and communicates 
with customers through various channels as appropriate, 
including online and through social media, on top of existing 
channels for product sales and services. In this way, the 
Company is able to clarify and respond to any questions 
in addition to closely monitoring customer expectations 
and opinions. For example, customers can receive regular 
news and information about Makro through the LINE 
application, where an employee is on standby online to 
respond to any questions; through the Customer Relations 
Center, or via the comments section of the Company’s 
website. Furthermore, the Company has designated a team 
responsible for monitoring news related to Makro, and  
has contracted an external public relations agency to 
devise a corporate communications strategy and ensure 
that the Company’s communications are clear, transparent, 
and timely in any given situation.

Procurement Risks
The procurement of quality and diverse selections of 
goods and products, in sufficient quantities to meet the 
needs of customers and consumers, is a core foundation 
for becoming the “number one food solution provider for 
professional customers.” Given the Company’s current 
strategy that focuses on expanding our food service business, 
especially of fresh food products which are seeing sustained 
growth annually, the Company must closely monitor the 
risks associated with food safety and quality. Doing so 
ensures that the Company can be confident in the quality 
of our agricultural produce and product selections: that 
they meet national and international standards for quality,  
are certified by Makro’s own quality assurance department 
and relevant external agencies, are sourced through legal  
labor, and that they consider impacts on animal well - being 
and the environment across the entire supply chain.

Should the Company not be able to deliver quality 
goods or products that adhere to relevant principles and 
requirements, there arises the possibility of impacts on 
the Company’s reputation, financial standing, or overall 
performance. For this reason, the Company adheres to strict 
quality controls from the very beginning, starting with the 
raw material sourcing process, to supplier selection, storage 
and transportation, all the way to placing the products on 
shelves in Makro stores. The Company further monitors 
changes in laws, regulations, and requirements relating 
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to products and logistics, as well as product certification 
standards, to source excellent quality products and  
secure the trust of our consumers.

Another related risk concerns suppliers, producers and 
distributors, where there is the risk of overreliance on 
one supplier. The Company must therefore enter into 
procurement contracts and trading agreements with a 
diverse selection of suppliers as, should the Company be 
reliant on one critical supplier, we may possess reduced 
bargaining power, or risk being unable to procure sufficient 
quantities of products to meet the needs of our suppliers 
or consumers. To further reduce this risk, the Company has 
started bringing some procurement activities i.e. backhauling 
and seeking alternative choices of service providers for 
the organization’s logistics system and supply chain  
management.

Moreover, the Company focuses on the development and 
maintenance of positive relations with our suppliers, who 
are key elements to an efficient procurement process. 
At the same time, the Company highly values the  
creation of mutual trust, which is crucial to reducing 
procurement risks even in times of crisis. A clear example 
is when the Company engages in product development  
with our suppliers, which by extension allows us to  
strengthen our capability in sourcing competitively-priced 
products, and in sufficient quantities to meet customer 
needs. Other projects focused on supplier development 
include the Makro Retailer Alliance, which aims to  
enhance the livelihoods of suppliers and Sho Huay 
business owners, supplier training, and knowledge and 
expertise exchanges, which provide the opportunity for 
suppliers to grow, generate their own revenue, and expand  
their businesses alongside Makro.

Transportation and Distribution Risks
The Company has stores in diverse formats located across 
the country. To ensure that quality products are always 
available for our professional customers, the Company 
upholds transportation and distribution as a vital element 
to our business operations. As of the end of 2018, the 
Company has 4 Distribution Centers as follows: 1) Dry 
Food and Non Food Distribution Center in Wang Noi 
District, Phra Nakhon Si Ayutthaya; 2) Fresh Food, Chilled 
and Frozen Products Distribution Center in Wang Noi 
District, Phra Nakhon Si Ayutthaya; 3) Dry Food and Non 
Food Distribution Center at Bang Sao Thong District, Samut 

Prakan, and 4) Fresh Food, Frozen Food and Chilled Food 
Distribution Center at Mueang District, Samut Sakhon. 
These stores and DCs increase our confidence that we will 
be able to continue operating even in times of crisis, in 
line with the Company’s Business Continuity Management  
Framework. Furthermore, to reduce our environmental  
impacts, the Company has reduced the amount of fuel use 
from our logistics system by using larger 45 - foot containers 
instead of 40 - foot containers. 

Cyber Security Risks
Conducting business in the Makro 4.0 era means a greater 
reliance on communication technologies for connecting 
data and information across the entire organization, 
servicing and communicating with customers, developing 
new technology innovations, and automating work 
processes - much more so than in the past. Although  
these technologies enhance the efficiency of the organization, 
they bring with them the risks associated with customer  
data safety, system risk, and other cyber threats, of which 
the latter are currently increasing in intensity. Such risks may 
impact upon customers’ trust in the organization, our 
business activities, as well as our financial performance. 
Furthermore, in light of the strict enforcement of the 
European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) - where the Company has a customer base in  
EU countries - we must remain vigilant and implement  
more stringent customer data protection measures, 
particularly for our e - commerce channel Makroclick.com.

To reduce the risks of cyber threats, the Company has 
developed a cyber - threat monitoring system, relevant 
measures and equipment, and also developed a response 
plan for cyber - attacks. The Company requires that 
our system is tested on a regular basis via penetration 
testing, system recovery drills, and inspections by external 
experts. These tests help us evaluate the system’s 
overall strength and ensures that tight controls are in 
place for data safety, and additionally help to guarantee 
that the Company will be able to respond immediately 
in the case of an attack. In addition, the Company has 
purchased insurance for protection against cyber security 
damages, and promotes an awareness of cyber security 
amongst our employees as they can serve as the core 
defensive line in customer protection, preventing data 
from being leaked to the public without consent or 
approval, or from being used for malicious purposes.
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Regulatory and Legal Compliance Risks 
Our business is a part of the wider retail industry, and 
therefore the Company has always strictly operated in 
compliance with relevant rules and regulations. Currently 
however, there is the evident trend that such laws, 
regulations or government policies, either those that are 
subject to periodic changes or are newly issued, will become 
more stringent, while existing laws could be more strongly 
enforced. Should the Company not closely monitor or 
prepare for these changes, or develop a clear understanding 
of the implications of these rules and regulations on 
business operations, we face the risk of non - compliance 
with laws and regulations. This is especially the case  
for laws that are currently under consideration, which 
may impact the Company and our future expansion, such 
as the new Trade Competition Act, the draft zoning bill 
regarding the development of large - scale commercial  
buildings and large - scale developments, and the draft bill on 
the retail and wholesale trade businesses. Internationally, 
the GDPR is particularly pertinent, given its impact on our  
e - commerce service platform, Makroclick.com, among others.

To mitigate these risks, the Company has instructed our 
Legal Department to regularly monitor compliance risks, and 
to study news and information relating to new laws issued 
by the government - especially those that could affect 
the business. The Department will undertake to inform 
management and relevant internal departments, as well as 
organize educational programs to keep various departments 
up to date about any new or changing regulations affecting 
them. Moreover, the Company has retained the services 
of local and international consultants to help us closely 
monitor legal and regulatory changes, and provide 
advice regarding the laws of each country in which we  
operate.

Furthermore, our businesses fall under the Product Liability 
Act, which by extension poses the risk that the Company 
will be held liable in the case of damages retained  
by consumers or customers from the use of an unsafe  
product or service provided by the Company. This may 
include having to pay compensation to those affected, 
ordering product recalls, removing all unsold products 
from the shelves, or even halting sales altogether. To 
prepare for these situations, the Company has established 
a stringent quality control and monitoring system for our 
products, both in our Distribution Centers and stores that  
align with international standards on health and safety.  
We also give the utmost importance to the accurate labelling

of food and other products packaging, producing quality  
products under the “Quality Pro” mark, using the HACCP  
system for frozen-foods, and preparing substitute raw  
materials or products in the event that a certain product  
cannot be imported. Not only that, the Company works 
closely with our partners to ensure compliance to 
relevant requirements, requires that product distributors 
compensate the Company for any damages ensuing  
from unsafe products, and that suppliers have insurance 
covers for possible damages.

Risks from Majority Shareholders Holding over 
75 percent of Issued Shares
As of 23 August 2018, the majority shareholders of the 
Company are: Siam Makro Holdings (Thailand) Limited and 
CP ALL Public Company Limited. Both companies are a part 
of CP ALL Group - the majority shareholder - and together 
hold a total of 93.08 percent of outstanding shares in the 
Company. For this reason, it is possible that investors may 
see the risk of majority shareholders, who hold more than 
75 percent of shares, exerting control over the Company’s 
resolutions or decision - making processes, including special 
votes of shareholder meetings, thus precluding minority 
shareholders from gathering enough votes to ensure the 
proper checks and balances on issues proposed by the 
majority shareholder.

The Company strongly adheres to operating its business 
on the principles of good governance, and provides equal 
opportunities to minority shareholders for proposing agenda 
items at shareholder meetings and for nominating board 
member candidates prior to annual general shareholder 
meetings. Furthermore, the Company has appointed five 
independent directors, all of whom are considered experts 
and widely respected individuals, to serve on the Audit 
Committee and therefore enhance the transparency of 
the Company’s management processes as well as the 
check - and - balance mechanisms. All issues relating to 
the majority shareholder, or transactions that could pose 
a conflict of interest for the Company, must be executed 
in strict accordance with related party transaction rules or 
approval mechanisms under the framework of the law. 
Finally, the Company remains committed to improving the 
Company’s business processes and increasing knowledge 
on good governance to ensure that overall corporate 
governance is carried out efficiently, transparently, and will 
enable the Company to achieve our vision and business  
strategies.

112   Annual Report 2018



Corporate 
Governance 
Report

The Company is confident that the conduct of its businesses, based on the principles of good 
governance, with good moral and ethical standards, in a fully transparent manner and in being 
responsible towards society and the environment and all Stakeholder groups, is an  
important driving force that will lead the Company towards sustainable development and 
growth and will enable the Company to create economic value added for its shareholders in 
the long term, as well as will build greater confidence on the part of shareholders and 
all stakeholder groups. 
The Company’s Board of Directors recognizes the 
importance of conducting its businesses based on the 
principles of good corporate governance practices and 
positive business ethics; whereby it has assigned the 
Corporate Governance Committee (CG Committee) to 
be responsible to oversee, monitor, and promote the 
Company’s operations to be in compliance with the 
operating guidelines on corporate governance and good 
business ethics, together with reviewing, improving as well as 
developing policies and operating guidelines in accordance 
with good governance that are aligned with corporate 
strategies and business directions and that maintain the 
ongoing positive compliance with all legal and regulatory 
requirements of both the Office of the Securities Exchange 
Commission (SEC) and the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
(SET), as well as local and international evaluation criteria.

In 2018, the Company’s achievements with regard to 
good corporate governance practices were fully in line 
with established objectives and goals; whereby the 
Company received an “Excellent” rating in the 2018 
Corporate Governance Report of Thai Listed Companies 
(CGR). Additionally, for the second consecutive year, 

the Company received full marks (of 100) from the 
assessment, by the Thai Investors Association (TIA), of 
the conduct of its 2018 Annual General Shareholders 
Meeting (AGM), based on the established AGM Checklist. 
As such, the Management reported the results of this 
assessment to the Company’s Corporate Governance 
Committee so as to be informed of recommendations 
for further improvement to the Company’s corporate 
governance practices; whereby this matter has already been 
reported to the Board of Directors at its Board Meeting.

Corporate Governance Policy
The Board formulated the Corporate Governance Policy 
in written form since 2012, the most updated version was 
issued in 2017 by incorporating the Code of Conduct; and 
this was named it as the Corporate Governance and Code 
of Conduct Manual.  All Board Directors, Executives and 
employees are responsible for acknowledging and strictly 
abiding by this Manual.

The Company disseminates its CG Manual via its website 
at www.siammakro.co.th, allowing interested persons to 
examine and download it.
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The Board regularly reviews and revises the policy, principles and operating guidelines relating to the Principles 
of Good Corporate Governance for Listed Companies 2012 issued by the SET, and the Corporate Governance  
Code for listed companies 2017 (“CG Code”) issued by the SEC. The Company especially reviewed how to apply  
CG Code in various aspects of its business operations. Furthermore, if there are any principles that have not  
yet been applied or tabled in the Company’s corporate governance practices, the Management will propose  
to the Corporate Governance Committee for review and improvement on a yearly basis before reporting to the Board. 
In 2018, there were some CG Code’s sub-principles which the Company had not yet applied as following details:

Sub-principles which are not 
applicable Reasons and Necessities

1. The Board of Directors comprise at 
least 5 members and no more than 12 
members.

Currently, the Company’s Board of Directors is composed of 15 directors. 
The Board agreed that this composition is appropriate for our business 
and beneficial for corporate governance so as to ensure that business 
management of the Executives fully complies with corporate strategies 
as set out by the Board.

2. The Chairman of the Board should be an 
Independent Director.

Although the Chairman of the Board is not an Independent Director, the 
Company has sufficient internal control system. Moreover, the roles, duties 
and responsibilities of the Chairman are clearly defined in the Company’s 
Board Charter in order to have a check-and-balance mechanism, and 
allow the Chairman to perform and express his opinions independently.

3. The Board of Directors shall be composed 
of Independent Directors more than 50%.

Currently, the Company has 5 Independent Directors, or one third of the 
total number of directors. All of them are professional, perform their duties 
and express their opinions, as well as cast their votes independently. 

4. The Board of Directors has a term limit 
of nine years or less for Independent 
Directors.

The Company has 3 Independent Directors serving the office for more than 
nine consecutive years, including 1) Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn 2) Mr. Thira 
Wipuchanin and 3) Mr. Chavalit Uttasart. All of them are knowledgeable 
and skillful with high proficiency in the Company’s businesses. They have 
provided useful recommendations to the Company’s business operations, 
performed their duties independently, and expressed their opinions and 
objection freely without intervention from the Executives.

5. The Company uses cumulative voting in 
the election of the board members.

The Company’s Articles of Association has defined that election of directors 
shall be decided by a majority of votes. Each shareholder carries vote equal 
to his or her number of shares. However, the Company has consistently 
devised other ways to preserve the rights of minor shareholders, including 
its encouragement for them to exercise their right to nominate additional 
agenda items or nominate directors in advance, etc.

6. The Company requires a minimum 
quorum of at least 2/3 for board 
decisions.

A voting in each agenda in the Board’s Meeting requires a majority of votes, 
except for any agenda with specific voting required by laws or regulations. 
In this regard, the Board has opined that the current voting criterion is 
deemed suitable for the Company.

7. The Company has at least one female 
independent director on board.

Currently, the Company has no female independent director. However, 
the Board may consider to appoint a female independent director if that 
person is fully qualified and knowledgeable with proficiency beneficial to 
the Company’s businesses.   
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Code of Conduct
The Company has established the Code of Conduct as 
operating guidelines for the Board of Directors, executives, 
and all employees to comply with. Focusing on essential 
principles of corporate governance based on equal, 
equitable and fair treatment, transparency, and respect 
for the rights of all stakeholders, the Company always 
values the development of its employees’ ethics as 
well as cultivating honesty, perseverance, patience, and 
responsibility. The Board of Directors and executives 
are required to be ethical leaders and role models in 
performing their duties with integrity, honesty, fairness, and 
transparency in accordance with the Company’s Code of 
Conduct, which are disclosed on the Company’s website.

Communications and Promotions on Corporate 
Governance
In 2018, the Company communicated and arranged various 
activities to create full awareness of its implementing the 
Corporate Governance Policy into concrete practices. 
Furthermore, the Company disseminates information 
on good governance to the staff at all levels of the 
Company and its subsidiaries as well as all stakeholders, in  
order to create a full understanding of the importance 
of good corporate governance practices in the following 
manners:
 Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct Manual
 The Company has issued the Corporate Governance 

and Code of Conduct Manual, and has distributed it 
to all Board of Directors, executives, and employees 
of the Company and its subsidiaries. Upon receipt, 
they are required to study the contents, to sign the 
Acknowledgment and Confirmation for Compliance 
Form, and to return the form to the Human Resources 
Department for record - keeping. The Company 
also periodically reviews these guidelines to  
ensure their full alignment with business operations  
and overall corporate governance practices at the 
national and international levels. The current version  
of this Manual is the second revision with approval  
from the Board of Directors, and the Company 
distributed the Manual to all directors, executives, and 
employees of the Company. In addition, the Company 
has also sent notifications to inform its business partners 
and customers of the Manual and the whistle-blowing 
process for their acknowledgment through its website.

	 Communications on the Manual and Compliance 
with Corporate Governance to Stakeholders

 Apart from having published and posted the Manual, 
the Anti - Corruption Policy, and the Business Partners 
Code of Business Conducts on the Company’s website, 
the Company has also published these policies and 
practices together with information on channels of 
communications for whistle - blowing through various 
events - for instance, the securities analysts meetings 
and Supplier Conference. For example, the Company 
has also distributed a compliance request letter to 
all Stakeholders (for instance, Business Partners) for 
their cooperation in refraining from offering gifts to the 
employees of the Company’s and of its subsidiaries 
during the New Year festival; as well as launching posters 
to promote its ‘No New Year Gifts Giving Policy’ 

	 New Employees Orientation and Training
 The Company and its Subsidiaries communicate the 

Corporate Governance and Code of Business Conducts 
Manual together with the Anti - Corruption Policy to 
all new employees, in order to create and promote 
awareness on the very first day they become employees. 
In order to continuously build up awareness, the 
Company undertakes various activities to promote 
the Manual and anti - corruption practices - for  
example, the Newsletter: Rhoo Thun Corruption. 

 Further, in 2018, the Company is still in the process of CG 
e-learning program, so that employees at all levels can 
learn about the principles of the Manual, which covers 
Corporate Governance, Code of Business Conducts, 
and anti - corruption practices. As such, this e-learning 
program uses an inter-active game media platform so 
as to be entertaining while also educating employees 
through use of interesting examples and case studies.

	 Measures on “Whistle - Blowing” and on Submitting 
Complaints

 The Company has put in place complaints-making 
and whistle - blowing channels of communications, 
covering complaint filing, verification, and summary 
of investigative findings, together with the protection 
of informants or complainants and any other related 
parties. The purpose is to handle complaints, comments, 
or suggestions from stakeholders who are affected 
or potentially affected by the Company’s business 
activities or by the conduct of the Company personnel, 
resulting from any acts of law-breaking or violation

Siam Makro Public Company Limited    115



 of the Code of Conduct together with any alleged  
acts of corruption. The scope of complaints and whistle-
blowing covers any breaches or acts of non - compliance 
with any applicable laws, official regulations, together 
with the Principles of Corporate Governance, the 
Company’s Code of Conduct, the Company’s Rules and 
Regulations, and any alleged acts of corruption - all of 
which have the primary objective of acquiring personal 
gains or various benefits for others in an unlawful 
manner - such as acts of fraudulence or embezzlement. 
Details have been clearly stated in the Company’s 
Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct Manual 
and Anti - Corruption Policy as well as are posted on 
the Company’s website.

	 Channels of Communications for Complaints - 
Making and Whistle Blowing

  Chairman of the Board/ Chairman of the Audit  
 Committee/ Group Chief Executive Officer/ Board  
 of Directors/ Head of the Internal Audit Department: 

  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
  1468 Phatthanakan Road, Phatthanakan 
  Sub District, Suan Luang District Bangkok 10250
  cgoffice@siammakro.co.th
  0 2067 9300
  0 2067 9119
	 Protection of Complainants, Whistle - Blowers, and 

Related Parties
 Complainants or whistle-blowers are to be appropriately 

and fairly protected by the Company, which implies 
no change in job titles, job nature, workplace, job 
relief, threats, job harassment, dismissal, or any other 
unfair acts. The Company will keep their complaints 
confidential and not disclose them to any unrelated 
parties, unless required to do so by law.

 Those parties who receive the relevant report or 
complaint and confidential information are required 
to maintain total confidentiality of the incident; 
as well as not to disclose any such facts to others 
unless specifically required to do so by law. If any 
relevant information is intentionally disclosed/leaked 
to others, then the Company will take full disciplinary 
action in accordance with the Company’s rules and  
regulations and may also undertake further legal 
proceedings as applicable and required.

Compliance with the Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance
1. Rights of Shareholders 

(1) The Board of Directors has defined the Company’s 
policies relating to Good Corporate Governance, 
which recognizes the importance of the rights 
of Shareholders, including protection of the 
fundamental rights entitled by Shareholders for 
equitable treatment with full transparency and 
fairness under the applicable legal and regulatory 
frameworks, together with the Code of Business 
Conducts; as well as has determined appropriate 
and efficient management procedures that 
will effectively result in the maximum benefits  
for the Company’s Shareholders. 

 Apart from such fundamental rights, the Company 
endeavors to provide all essential information  
to all Shareholders via the Company’s website, or 
through arranging Company site visits, etc.

(2) The Company emphasizes and respects the Rights 
of Shareholders by fully complying with the criteria 
as prescribed by the law. In 2018, the Company 
held 1 Shareholders Meeting - the Annual General 
Shareholders Meeting on 19 April, 2018 at the 
Convention Room, Floor 4, Siam Makro Public 
Company Limited, 1468 Phatthanakan Road, 
Phatthanakan Sub District, Suan Luang District, 
Bangkok. 

 Furthermore, in 2018 the Company has allowed 
Minority Shareholders to propose, in advance before 
the 2019 AGM, between 26 October 2018 and 31 
January 2019, any Agenda Items for consideration 
together with names of any appropriately qualified 
persons to be considered for being nominated to be 
elected as a Board Director at the scheduled 2019 
AGM; whereby associated details and the selection 
criteria were posted on the Company’s website  
(www.siammakro.co.th). The Company also 
notified these rights to all Shareholders via the 
Stock Exchange of Thailand electronic news 
system.

(3) The Company authorized the Thailand Securities 
Depository Co., Ltd. in its capacity as the 
Company’s Share Registrar, to send out to the 
Shareholders 34 days in advance, Letters if 
Invitation to attend the 2018 Annual General 
Shareholders’ Meeting (AGM) together with all 
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 relevant supporting information for all of the 
proposed Agenda Items and associated opinions 
of the Board of Directors relating to each proposed 
Agenda Item.

(4) The Company also published notices for the 2018 
AGM on the Company’s website (www.siammakro.
co.th) 35 days prior to the scheduled date of the 
2018 AGM; and again also notified through the 
online news system of the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand about the 2018 AGM notice that appeared 
on the Company’s website.  Minutes of the 2018 
AGM was also published on this website within 13 
days after the 2018 AGM took place. The Minutes 
recorded all relevant details for dissemination 
in a comprehensive manner, as well as details 
of the discussions of each Agenda Item together 
with result of the voting and questions asked 
by Shareholders. A VDO webcast of the AGM 
was also be posted on the Company’s website.

(5) The 2018 AGM was attended by the 15 Company 
Directors including Members of the Audit 
Committee, the Company’s external Auditor and 
legal counselor. At the start of the 2018 AGM, 
the Chairman announced to the Meeting the 
number and proportion of total Shareholders or 
their proxies attending the 2018 AGM, the voting 
and vote - counting procedures for each of the 
proposed Agenda Item in the order as announced 
in the 2018 AGM notice. There was no “other 
matters” tabled during the 2018 AGM, which 
proceeded in accordance with the Company’s 
Articles of Association. Minutes were completely 
and accurately recorded for reference and review 
by Shareholders. The Company provided equal 
opportunity to all Shareholders to ask questions, 
to make enquiries or to express their opinions 
relating to any of the Agenda items discussed or 
proposals tabled, for which the Company gave 
satisfactorily answers to all the questions raised 
during the 2018 AGM.

(6) Those Shareholders attending the Shareholders 
Meeting after the start of the Meeting are still 
entitled to vote for the Agenda Item then being 
considered as well as any other Agenda Items for 
which a resolution has not yet been voted upon.

(7) The Company's policy is to encourage institutional 
investors to participate in the AGM, whereby the 
Company contacted institutional investors at least

 1 day prior to the AGM in order to facilitate the 
registration process. 

(8) The Company shall not obstruct or cause any 
obstacles to any communication opportunities 
among shareholders.

(9) The Company shall arrange persons to verify  
vote - counting in the Shareholders Meeting, and  
disclose them in the Minutes of the Shareholders 
Meeting.

(10) The Company undertakes a quality assessment 
of the AGM process so as to make any  
further improvements in future AGMs to ensure 
effectiveness, transparency, and to benefit all 
shareholders.

 The Company has considered the recommendations 
and opinions received from shareholders in the 
quality assessment of the AGM so as to make an 
improvement plan for the following AGM. As a 
result, the Company received the full score of 100 
points on the quality assessment of the 2018 AGM 
Checklists organized by Thai Investors Association 
(TIA).

2. Equitable Treatment of Shareholders 
 The Company has a policy to provide equitable treatment 

to all Shareholders alike and to act in accordance with 
the law; as well as to establish procedures to prevent 
directors and executives from making use of any inside 
information for abusive self - serving and thereby 
creating a disadvantage for other Shareholders. In  
this respect, the Company has taken into consideration 
the equitable treatment of all Shareholders as follows:
(1) The right to vote in the Shareholders’ Meeting, 

based on the number of shares held by the 
Shareholder, with one share equals one vote. 

(2) Again, in 2018, the Company provided the 
opportunity for minority Shareholders to propose 
any additional agenda items for consideration at 
the 2019 AGM as well as to propose, in advance 
between 26 October 2018 to 31 January 2019, any 
suitable and qualified persons to be considered for 
nomination as a director of the Company at the 
2019 Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting (AGM);  
whereby associated details and selection criteria 
were posted on the Company’s website (www.
siammakro.co.th) as well as on the  electronic 
news system of the Stock Exchange of Thailand.
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(3) The Company delivers the Letter of Invitation to  
AGM together with all the supporting documents 
relating to the proposed Agenda Items in advance. 
The Company also encourages shareholders to 
make use of the proxy forms as supplied, that 
will enable them to determine the direction of 
the voting for the Agenda Items being considered; 
and to exercise their vote relating to the election 
of the proposed individual Directors with regard to 
the agenda to the appointment of the Company’s 
Board Directors.

(4) Shareholders are able to appoint any other person  
or any one of the Company’s Independent Directors  
to be their proxies in attending the 2018 AGM. 
The Company recommended that Shareholders 
appoint those Independent Directors who are also 
Members of the Audit Committee as their proxies. 
Details relating to the Audit Committee Members 
were provided togetherwith the Letter of Invitation 
to the 2018 AGM. As such, for the 2018 AGM, a 
total of 86 Shareholders appointed the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee and other Members of 
the Audit Committee, who are also Independent 
Directors, as their proxies. Additionally, during the 
2018 AGM, the Company provided equal assistance 
and treatment to all Shareholders alike.

(5) The Company regularly issues announcements 
and regulations to the Management, Officers 
and other relevant persons with regard to the 
Company’s principles on the legal conduct 
and proper applicable business ethics both 
internally within the Company and towards 
external third parties, especially in regards to 
maintaining the confidentiality of sensitive 
information together protecting against the 
possible use of inside information. Moreover, the 
Company established ethical codes of behavior 
on maintaining confidential information, the use 
of inside information and conflict of interests 
in the Corporate Governance Manual and Code 
of Business Conducts Handbook, which can be 
downloaded via the Company’s website. In 2018, 
the Company’s Directors and Executives did not 
undertake any securities trading through use of 
inside information; and there were no violations of 
the trading rules specified by the SEC regulations.

(6) In 2018, the Company did not conduct any 
transactions that provided financial assistance to 
any other persons or companies,

(7) The Company has a direct channel of communications 
for all shareholders and investors to request 
information, to provide feedback and to make 
comments via email at ir@siammakro.co.th 
or via direct telephone at 0 2067 8260. SET & 
Investor Relations is in charge of this channel 
and is responsible for providing information to 
shareholders and investors.

(8) The Company has adopted measures and 
procedures in granting approval for related 
transactions as prescribed by the law and in 
accordance with regulatory standards prescribed in 
the requirements of the Capital Market Supervisory 
Board as well as the SET. The Company strictly 
complies with all applicable laws, requirements as 
well as regulations on related party transactions. 
Up to present, the Company has never made any 
connected transactions in violation or by failing 
to comply with the relevant laws and regulatory 
requirements.

 As for other types of related transactions, the 
Company undertook them in a fair manner, with 
prices and conditions being in accordance with 
the normal course of trading (or fair and at arms’ 
length). 

3. Roles of Stakeholders
3.1. Prescription of Policy on Treatment of 

Stakeholders and Compliance with the Policy
(1) The Company emphasizes the rights of every group 

of Stakeholders; whereby it complies with the 
provisions of the law, in order to maintain the rights 
of any group of stakeholders and to appropriately 
coordinate the achievement of mutual benefits as 
follows:

Shareholders
The Company will operate its business in a transparent 
manner, with the commitment to creating long-term 
sustainable growth and providing positive financial 
returns for its Shareholders.
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Customers
The Company is committed to sourcing and increasing 
the assortment of its products; together with controlling 
both the quality and safety standards of its products 
- especially with regards to food products, to which 
the Company gives great importance. The Company 
has the objective of sourcing and offering products 
that meet the customers’ exact requirements; as 
well as of continuously developing and improving its 
customer services so as to create maximum satisfaction 
of customers together with building good customer 
relationships on a long term sustainable basis.

Additionally, the Company has a policy to give equal 
treatment to all customers alike, together with 
determining operating guidelines and procedures 
in providing the same standards of services to all 
customers at all Stores/ Branches without any bias  
or discrimination. As such, the Customer Development 
Team regularly visits customers to forge good 
relationships and to receive comments to address  
areas for improvement. They also assess customers’ 
satisfaction and engagement through customer 
satisfaction surveys; and then, by using the survey 
outcomes, to brainstorm ideas with relevant 
Departments/Sections on increasing customers’ 
satisfaction. For this year, the achieved overall customer 
satisfaction score was at 83.1%.

Employees
1) The Company has a policy to focus on continuing 

human resources training and development, in 
order that employees will have the opportunity 
for ongoing career advancement. To achieve this 
policy, the Company has arranged training and skills 
development for employees at every level, so that 
they can become qualified, effective and efficient 
employees, as well as be ready for promotion 
to a higher level. Moreover, the Company also 
has a policy to give employees remuneration 
based on the job value and actual performance 
output, inclusive of equitable welfare and benefits 
schemes. The remuneration and welfare schemes 
of the Company will be at competitive rates 
relative to the labor market within the same 
industry.

2) The Company has focused on occupational 
safety and health at the workplace by having in 
place its “Occupational Safety and Workplace 
Environmental Management” Policy, that consists 
of:
	 Setting up the Committee of Occupational Safety 

and Working Environment, the Occupational 
Safety Officer at a Supervisory Level, and the 
Occupational Safety Officer at an Executive Level.  
The Company has adequately and appropriately 
implemented the Occupational Safety and 
Workplace Environmental Procedures, in order 
to prevent any loss of life, injury from accidents 
and illnesses related to work performance

	 Providing safety instructions for employees, 
so that they can put them into practice.

	 Continually promoting various work safety 
related activities together with associated 
officials or Government agencies.

3) With the objective of studying factors that may 
affect employees’ satisfaction and engagement 
with the Company, in 2018, the Company arranged 
to undertake, for the second consecutive year, the 
“Employee Engagement Survey” so as to analyze 
factors that will increase employees’ satisfaction 
and engagement or loyalty towards the Company; 
whereby the survey results are then used to 
determine measures and activities to further 
enhance employees’ engagement and loyalty.   

4)  The Company establishes its compensation and 
welfare benefits policies for employees and 
executives as appropriate to their knowledge, job 
responsibilities, and job performance outputs. 

 In order to build the foundation for growth, the 
Company assesses the performance outputs 
of its personnel so as to then consider salary 
adjustments for executives and employees once 
a year through use of Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs), which include short - term performance 
and achieved performance in accordance with the 
Company’s strategies over the long term. 
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 The remuneration of the Company’s personnel 
is therefore based on the Company’s short - 
term and long-term performance outcomes. 
Short - term compensation refers to monthly 
salaries that are comparable with those of peer 
organizations so as to improve the Company’s 
human resources’ competitiveness. It also provides 
variable bonuses in line with the Company’s 
performance and respective employee’s job 
performance (applicable for Section Managers and 
above) so as to motivate employees to achieve 
planned corporate goals.

 Additionally, the Company has determined its 
compensation and welfare benefits policy in order 
to maintain and build motivation for improved 
job performance so as to enable the Company 
to achieve its future goals and objectives - such 
as: directions in determining annual salary 
increases; adjusting salary increases according 
to increased assigned job responsibilities or in 
line with the changing market environment; 
establishing provident funds so as to enhance 
financial security for employees upon retirement 
or no longer being employed by the Company. 
Furthermore, there are other welfare benefits, 
such as: medical or hospital expenses coverage for 
employees; life and accident insurance coverage. 

5) The Company has a policy to continuously 
develop Executives and the Management so 
that they will be prepared for any internal job 
rotation together with for ongoing succession 
plans, through assessing the readiness of potential 
successors to key managerial positions within the 
Company. These development plans are in place 
so that the Company is well-prepared for any 
business expansion, any changes in its organization 
structure and for replacing retiring Executives 
or Management personnel. The results of the 
personnel assessments are used to determine the 
associated training and development programs, 
so that those successors will be ready and 
prepared for succeeding into key positions and be  
able to help achieve further growth for the 
organization on a sustainable basis. Furthermore, 
these succession plans are constantly reviewed  
and updated every year. 

 Business Partners and Creditors 
 The Company is committed and has the intent to 

treating all trading parties in a fair manner, through 
taking into consideration the mutual benefits of all 
parties and complying with all mutual agreements. 
Additionally, the Company strictly complies with 
any Agreements made with all creditors, and also 
settles any debts as agreed under the terms and 
conditions specified in the associated Agreements. 
In case of failure to comply with such conditions, 
the Company will keep creditors informed 
immediately in order to mutually find solutions. 

 
 To ensure that procurement process is systematic, 

efficient, and in full compliance with the principles 
of corporate governance, the procurement and 
selection process must comply with the regulations 
and criteria of the Company, resulting in an efficient 
assessment of potential trading partners, and be 
executed with clearly defined selection methods 
and criteria. 

 The Company focuses on selecting appropriate 
trading and business partners, and ensures that the 
selection procedures as well as the treatment of 
the trading parties are equitable and undertaken 
fairly for all potential partners. As such, the key 
criteria for selecting trading and Business Partners 
are as follows:   
1) They must possess a credible and positive 

financial history as well as the potential for 
achieving ongoing business growth together 
with the Company for the long term.

2) They must produce or distribute quality 
products that meet the requirements of the 
Company. Their products must be available 
for quality testing.  

3) They must provide ongoing support for any 
product sales promotions activities together 
with after sales services to the end consumers.

 In 2018, the Company also launched another 
relevant policies, namely the “Business  
Partner - Code of Business Conduct” so as 
to ensure that their company’s human rights 
related activities in its value chain also take 
into consideration communities and vendors. 
To ensure their acknowledgment of this matter, 
the Company hosted seminars to continuously 
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 educate its business partners; so as to help each 
other to cope with the rapid change in market 
situation, to build our competitive advantages 
and to maintain healthy and sustainable 
business relationships.

Competitors
 The Company operates its businesses within the 

framework of the international rules of competition 
as well as laws relating to competitive trade 
principles and practices. As such, the Company 
treats its competitors in the following manners:
1) Competing within the framework of fair and 

equitable competition. 
2) Not to seek or obtain any trade secrets or 

confidential information of competitors in a 
dishonest or inappropriate manner.

3)  Not to destroy competitors in a dishonest 
manner or through undertaking any actions that 
are not based on any real facts or inequitably.

Society and Environment 
 The Company realizes the importance of society 

and the environment within which it operates.  
Thus, the Company encourages every Branch/Store 
to always be jointly responsible for the immediate 
community by cooperating in any local community 
and public activities, including the collaborating in 
the development of education, the environment 
and society as a whole. Further details are  
given in the Section: “Corporate Social Responsibility” 
and “Environmental, Occupational Health &  
Safety Management”. 

 Moreover, the Company has launched a policy for 
energy conservation as a guideline for energy usage 
that promotes efficient energy consumption so as 
to have maximum benefits and assist in reducing 
the global warming crisis.

(2) Supervision of Monitoring of Compliance and 
Whistle Blowing 

 Directors, Executives and all Employees have 
a duty and responsibility to keep themselves 
informed and always have a full understanding of 
the Policy on Good Corporate Governance, so as 

 to be able to effectively use this knowledge as a 
practical guideline in supporting the Company to 
become more efficient and to implement good 
corporate governance practices. 

 Company Executives at all levels must treat this 
Policy on Good Corporate Governance as being 
critically important, and must be responsible for 
notifying their subordinates so that they will fully 
understand and comply with this Policy.

 The Company has arranged to establish channels 
of communication for whistle-blowing, together 
with determining scope and types of complaints 
and details of complainants, the complaint-making 
and whistle - blowing processes, procedures 
in dealing with false complaints or information 
reporting, and the protection of complainants 
or whistle - blowers and related parties. This is 
in order to monitor the behavior and actions of 
Board Directors, Executives, and employees of the 
Company and of its Subsidiaries, so as to be in 
accordance to the laws, rules and regulations, the 
Manual and not to undertake any unlawful acts or 
alleged corrupt practices. Associated details have 
been clearly stated in the Company’s Manual as 
well as posted on its website.

 The Company encourages Directors, employees, 
Stakeholders - whether internal or external  
parties - who come across or are aware of any 
suspicions together with those affected by any 
actions of Siam Makro and/or by the performance 
of Directors, Executives, and employees, to  
file a complaint or to whistle - blow any information 
through the channels of communications for 
Complaint - Making and Whistle - Blowing with 
regards to the following actions:
	 Violations of any laws and regulations, 

the Principles of and Policy on Corporate  
Governance, or the Code of Conducts,  
and Siam Makro’s Rules and Regulations;

	 Unlawful acts and alleged corrupt practices 
for gaining any undue personal benefits 
either for themselves or for others, including 
embezzlement, corruption, and fraud.
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 The channels of communications for submitting 
any complaints/ whistle - blowing:

 Chairman of the Board/ Chairman of the Audit  
 Committee/ Group Chief Executive Officer/  
 Head of the Internal Audit Department 

  Siam Makro Public Company Limited 
  1468 Phatthanakan Road, Phatthanakan  

 Sub District, Suan Luang District, 
  Bangkok 10250

 cgoffice@siammakro.co.th
 0 2067 9300

 The channels of communications for seeking any 
guidelines or submitting any enquiries:

 SET and Investor Relations 
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited 
  1468 Phatthanakan Road, Phatthanakan  

 Sub District, Suan Luang District, 
  Bangkok 10250

 ir@siammakro.co.th
 0 2067 8260 and 0 2067 8261

 If any person comes across such violations as stated 
in the scope of complaints and whistle-blowing, he 
or she can file a complaint through the established 
Complaint-Making and Whistle-Blowing Channels of 
Communications. Once the complaint/information 
has been received, the recipient will decide further 
suitable actions or forward the matter to relevant 
parties; and then will monitor its progress. This is 
to ensure that Siam Makro’s action is appropriate 
in addressing the complaint. 

 Below is the key complaint-making and  
whistle - blowing processes. 
	 The complainant/ informant can file their  

cases through the established Complaint - 
Making and Whistle - Blowing Channels of 
Communications.

	 The recipient receives the complaint; and 
undertakes a preliminary analysis of the 
information received, and then contacts the 
complainant. If it is not possible to contact 
the complainant or it is not able to receive 
any more information, no further action will 
be taken.

	 If the case includes the full facts and is within 
the established scope, the recipient will 
consider to appoint an Investigation Committee 
for the case, or will forward the case to the 
Head of the relevant Department. 

	 The Investigation Committee and/ or the Head 
of relevant Department will report the results  
to the recipient and also to the Internal Audit 
Department. The Internal Audit Department 
is responsible for reporting any cases of 
complaints to the Audit Committee on a 
quarterly basis.

 If the reported information is proven to be false 
due to being a deliberate distortion of facts or 
a false accusation, the person submitting the 
complaint/ information will have violated the 
Company’s Code of Business Conducts, for which 
the disciplinary punishment will be taken in 
accordance with the Company’s Regulations or 
the applicable laws, or both.

 Complaints or whistle - blowers are appropriately 
and fairly protected by the Company, which implies 
no change in job titles, job nature, workplaces, 
job relief, threats, job harassment, dismissal, or 
any unfair actions. The Company will keep their 
complaints confidential and will not disclose them 
to any unrelated parties, unless required to do so 
by law. 

 
 These persons who receive the relevant report 

or complaint and confidential information are 
required to maintain total confidentiality of the 
incident; as well as not to disclose any related 
facts to others unless specifically required to do so 
by law. If any relevant information is intentionally 
disclosed/leaked to others, the Company will 
take full disciplinary action in accordance with 
the Company’s Rules and Regulations; as well 
as further legal proceedings as applicable and 
required. 

 In 2018, the Company has no significant complaint 
on breaching of any laws, acts of corruption, or 
code of conduct.
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 The Company has a disciplinary punishment 
policy for any wrongdoers in accordance with the 
Company’s rules and regulations. The Company 
stresses the importance of compliance and strict 
disciplinary punishment, through communicating 
and creating awareness among its employees 
with regards to the Company’s Code of Business 
Conducts; as well as has made use of complaints 
received to implement further preventive measures.

(3) Anti - Corruption 
 The Company gives great importance towards and 

is determined in conducting its businesses in an 
honest, transparent and equitable manner, as well 
as is committed to being responsible to society as a 
whole and to all stakeholder groups in accordance 
with the Company’s Corporate Governance and 
Code of Business Conducts Manual and also with 
associated international principles and practices. 
The Board of Directors fully recognizes that 
corruption is a major obstacle for the achievement 
of its objectives, and that is also a problem for 
the national economic and social development. 
Thus, in 2012, after being reviewed by the 
Corporate Governance Committee, the Board 
of Directors resolved to established a specific  
“Anti - Corruption Policy”, that is also regularly 
reviewed and revised, to serve as clear operating 
guidelines for use and adherence as a framework 
by the Company’s Board of Directors, Management 
and all staff (“the Company personnel”) in carrying 
out their responsibilities. This “Anti - Corruption 
Policy” is also intended to make all involved 
stakeholders aware of the Company’s firm intent 
and full commitment towards anti - corruption 
and in being against all form of corrupt practices. 
The Company encourages everyone to apply and 
fully comply with the established Anti - Corruption 
Policy, through incorporating it as an integral part 
of their working rules and regulations; and request 
that all the Company personnel to study it so as to 
fully understand and to then strictly comply with 
the established guidelines contained within this 
Company’s Anti - Corruption Policy. Those who 
breach or do nor act in compliance with the policy 
and guidelines  will be subject to disciplinary action 
according to the Company’s rules and regulations, 
whereby they may be subject to the most serious

 punishment possible in being discharged from the 
Company or having their employment agreement 
or contract of hire with the Company terminated. 
However, at the same time, the Company has a 
policy not to punish or demote or downgrade 
staff’s job position, or not to impose any negative 
treatment on those personnel who refuse to 
commit any acts of corruption, even if such refusal 
may result in the Company losing some business 
opportunities. Further, in the event that those who 
breach or do not comply with this Anti - Corruption 
Policy also involves breaking any laws, they may be 
subject to additional legal prosecution accordingly.

 The Company has adopted and implemented 
the Anti - Corruption Policy and its associated 
measures, so as to underscore its full intent and 
commitment to against corruption and to achieve 
tangible results through conducting its business 
operations under the following framework:
	 To promote the Anti - Corruption Policy 

and comply with it both inside and outside 
the Company; whereby the Company has 
communicated the policy to Board Directors, 
Executives and employees via internal circulars, 
e - mail, the internal intranet system, the 
Company’s notice board, as well as through 
its new employees’ orientation and other 
training. When the festive New Year season 
approaches, the Company promotes its “No 
- Gift Policy” among employees via internal 
and external communication channels - such 
as posters put up in different locations within 
the Head Office and Siam Makro Stores, so as 
to promote business transparency and comply 
with the Corporate Governance and Code 
of Business Conducts Manual. In addition, 
the Company has also communicated by 
letter to customers and Business Partners, 
seeking their compliance and cooperation in 
refraining from offering gifts to employees of 
the Company’s and its Subsidiaries during the 
New Year festival. Moreover, the Company 
encourages its employees to adhere to anti 
- corruption practices at work, and to join 
external workshops and seminars relating to 
anti - corruption so as to gain further knowledge 
and full understanding on anti - corruption 
practices.
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	 The Company designated the Risk Management 
Committee to be in charge of managing 
risks, through initiating a plan on managing 
risks, together with procedures, internal and 
external risk assessment and analysis, as well as  
through putting in place a mitigation plan for 
each risk so as to manage risks to be at an 
acceptable level. This plan covers process 
in forming corporate strategies, investments, 
and other business activities together with 
anti - corruption issues. For high corruption 
- risk activities, the Company has procedures 
to closely monitor such practices, as stated 
in the Anti - Corruption Policy, Guidelines 
of Practices on giving Sponsorships, giving/
accepting Gifts, Souvenirs, Entertaining and 
Charitable Contributions, and the Consultant 
Hiring Policy. These activities include political 
contributions, charitable contributions and 
sponsorships, together with gifts and hospitality/
entertainment related expenses.

 Additionally, the Company has put in place an 
internal control system to prevent corruption 
related risks, such as the Corporate Authorization 
Procedure in considering the scope, duties, and 
responsibilities of each position, the criteria 
with regard to the authorization process, added 
flexibility to business operations, and the 
exercise of appropriate internal control system. 
The internal Audit Department is responsible 
for monitoring operations in various Sections 
so as to ensure that the performance of each 
Section is in accordance with this Authorization 
Procedure.

 In July 2017, the Company joined Thailand’s 
Private Sector Collective Action Coalition 
against Corruption (CAC), initiated by the IOD, 
Thai Chamber of Commerce, Joint Foreign 
Chambers of Commerce in Thailand, Thai 
Listed Companies Association, Thai Bankers 
Association, and the Federation of Thai 
Industries. The Company also developed a  
self - assessment form for anti - corruption 
measures and practices, and submitted  
supporting documents to the CAC Council as part  
of the Company’s application for CAC Membership

 in December 2017. Later, the CAC Council 
Meeting No.4/2017 on 12 February 2018 had a 
resolution to formally accept the Company as 
a CAC Member for a period of 3 years, effective 
from 12 February, 2018.

(4)  The Company has policies in regards to non - 
infringement of intellectual property (IP) rights as 
follows:
(a)  The Company discourages any actions that 

may or will violate any IP rights or copyright 
as prescribed by the IP laws. In the event that 
the Company finds any infringements of any 
IP, the Company will proceed promptly and 
appropriately to remove or disable any access 
to the alleged IP infringements;

(b) The Company will then promptly proceed with 
various steps as appropriate and in accordance 
with Company’s disciplinary actions of the 
employees, and will inform the Party whose 
IP has been infringed accordingly.

 Moreover, the Company has established 
ethical codes of conducts on Anti - Corruption 
and Intellectual Property in the Company’s 
Corporate Governance and Code of Business 
Conducts Manual, which can be downloaded 
from the Company’s website.

(5) Respect for Human Rights 
 The Company gives importance to human rights 

as a basic people’s right, and also supports the 
protection of human rights, equitable treatment of 
all Stakeholders without any bias or discrimination 
with regards to race, gender, age, skin color, or 
religious beliefs. As such, the Company has a 
policy with regards to violation of human rights, 
use of forced labor, as well as in being against the 
use of child labor and unlawful exploitation of 
foreign labor,

3.2 Corporate Social Responsibilities (CSR) Policy 
and Strategy

 The Company is committed to continuing its 
business operations, taking into account a balanced 
co-existence between the economy, society, and 
the environment. In valuing socially responsible 
business conducts, the Company has defined its
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 CSR policy and strategy by integrating strengths and 
expertise in the business and employees’ voluntary 
spirit into a driving force for CSR activities aiming at 
achieving a sustainable organization. The Company 
has also enhanced the communications of its 
policy and CSR  activities to our Stakeholders in 
a systematic and continuous manner. To achieve 
its goals, the Company has appointed the 3R's 
Sustainability Committee to be responsible for 
CSR related activities, including proposing action 
plans, together with submitting quarter and annual 
report, to the Board of Directors, on the progress 
and achievements made.

 
 The Company has determined its Corporate Social 

Responsibility Policy, based on the following 
criteria: (with details of this Policy being posted on 
the Company’s website: www.siammakro.co.th).
1. Fairness in business operations
2.  Anti - Corruption practices
3.  Respect for human rights 
4. Fair treatment of labor
5.  Responsibility towards consumers
6.  Environmental conservation and protection 
7.  Contribution to the community and social 

development 
8.  Creating and disseminating innovation, with 

responsible considerations for Stakeholders, 
society and the environment

 Details of key CSR activities of the Company  
are shown in the Section: “Corporate Social 
Responsibility”.

4.  Disclosure and Transparency
(1) In addition to disclosing information, as specified 

and required by law or regulations, through the 
Stock Exchange of Thailand and in its Annual 
Statements (Form 56-1) and Annual Reports, 
the Company also discloses information, both 
in Thai and English, through other channels of 
communications - such as the Company’s website, 
with such information being regularly updated.

(2) The Board of Directors recognizes the importance 
of disclosing both financial and non-financial 
information, in an accurate, complete, transparent, 
and timely manner together with allowing equitable  
access as required by the law, in order to provide 
investors and every Stakeholders group with  
reliable and adequate information for the  
purpose of making investment decisions. The 
Company Secretary and the Investor Relations (IR) 
Department are responsible for communicating 
and disseminating any information about the 
Company, that is useful to individual investors, 
institutional investors, investment analysts 
and the general public, both domestically and 
internationally, and on the basis of equitableness 
and fairness as required by the laws. Such 
information dissemination, in Thai and English, 
will be undertaken through various channels of 
communications; namely: announcements via 
the SEC’s and SET’s Community Portal Systems, 
the Company’s website, and other public  
media - such as newspapers, magazines, press 
conferences, interviews, and press releases. 
Additionally, the Company regularly organizes 
investors and securities analysts meetings every 
quarter after disclosing the Company’s quarterly 
operating performance results to the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand.

In 2018, the Company organized various activities in support of Shareholders, security analysts, and investors, as follows:

Types of Activities Frequency

Company visits by local and foreign investors 33 times

Conference Calls with local and foreign investors 31 times

Securities Analysts Meetings 4 times

Giving out information by telephone (daily) 2 times/day (avg)

Siam Makro Stores visits 10 times
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As such, Shareholders, investors, and any interested parties 
can contact the Company’s SET & Investor Relations (IR) 
Unit to obtain information through the following 4 channels 
of communications:
  Siam Makro Public Company Limited
  SET & IR Relations 
  Office of Group Chief Financial Officer 
  1468 Phatthankan Rd, Phatthanakan Sub District,  

 Suan Luang District, Bangkok 10250
  ir@siammakro.co.th
  0 2067 8260/ 8261 (direct lines) OR 0 2067 8999,  

 ext. 8260/ 8261
   0 2067 9044

(3) The Board of Directors provides, in the Company’s 
Annual Report, the Report of the Board of Directors’ 
Responsibilities for Financial Statements together with 
the Auditor’s Report.
(4) Details regarding the roles, duties and responsibilities 

of the Company’s Board of Directors, the Executive 
Board, the Audit Committee and the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, together with 
details of Board Directors’ terms of office, Board 
Meetings, and Policy on the Remuneration of its 
Directors and Executives are all described in the 
Section: “Responsibilities of the Board”.

(5) The Company has established a policy requiring 
Board of Directors and Executives to report, 
to SEC (under Article 59 of the Securities and 
Securities Exchange Act), their portfolios of 
the Company’s securities together with each  
purchase, sale, or transfer of such securities. 
In addition, the Company’s key guideline is 
to promote the oversight of the use of inside 
information. The Company has established a policy 
for Board of Directors to report, to the Board at 
each Board Meeting, their individual trading and 
shareholding of the Company’s shares and the 
shareholding of such shares by his/her spouse  
and children who are not yet of legal age. 
In addition, Board Directors and Executives 
must report, to the Board every quarter, any 
changes in their respective vested interests in the  
Company’s businesses together with those of  
any related persons; as well as to update their 
reports every year. Such information is to be 
kept within the Company in compliance with the 
Capital Market Supervisory Board’s announcement,

 Tor Jor 2/2009 relating to the Report on Vested 
Interests of Board Directors, Executives, and any 
related persons/parties.

5. Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
(1) Board Structure
(1.1) The structure of the Board, consisting of the 

composition, nomination and qualifications of 
Directors, qualifications of Independent Directors, 
can be found in the Section: “Management 
Structure - The Board of Directors” .

 As at 31 December 2018, the Board of Directors is 
comprised of 15 Directors, which is deemed suitable 
for the size of the Company’s business operations; 
whereby the Chairman is an Independent Director 
with no relationships with any Executives and 
is also not the Chief Executive Officer. This is 
in order to separate the respective duties of 
determining policies relating to oversight and 
good Corporate Governance from those routine 
operational and management responsibilities of the 
Company. Additionally, a good balance between 
Non - Executive and Executive Directors has been 
established; whereby the Board of Directors 
consists of the following:

a) Executive Directors
 (who are authorized signatories) 8 persons
b) Non-Executive Directors 7 persons
 	Directors (excluding 
  Audit Committee Members) 2 persons
 	Independent Directors (including 
  Audit Committee Members) 5 persons  
 
 It is the opinion of the Board of Directors that the 

5 Independent Directors, accounting for 33.33 
percent of all Directors, are all duly qualified, 
as shown in detail in the Section: “Management 
Structure - The Board of Directors. In this regard, 
the Board of Directors, also believes that 
Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn, an Independent Director, 
has the required extensive accounting and financial 
management knowledge and expertise; and it has, 
therefore, appointed him as the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee.
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(1.2) The Board of Directors has also appointed Miss 
Siriporn Withannititam as the Company Secretary, 
with details of this role being described in the 
Section: “Company Secretary”.

(1.3) In order to ensure effectiveness of the Board’s 
performances, each director has strictly complied 
with the requirement not to serve as a director in 
more than 5 listed companies. 

(1.4) The appointment of directors must be in accordance 
of the Company’s Articles of Association together 
with all applicable laws and regulations. As such, the 
nomination process must be fully transparent and 
undertaken through the established procedures 
of the Company’s Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, and also based on the consideration 
of comprehensive information on the respective 
nominee’s professional history and personal 
profile with regards to nominee’s education, 
business experiences, and background. There 
should be a diversity of professional backgrounds 
and experiences in regards to industry sectors 
together with expertise in finance and accounting, 
businesses, management, international marketing, 
corporate strategies, crisis management, legal 
matters, and corporate governance. This is in 
order to have an adequate degree of diversity 
and qualifications to enable an effective decision 
to be made by both the Board of Directors and/
or the Shareholders Meetings. The personal and 
professional profile of the directors should also 
be disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report as 
general information for the Shareholders.

(2) Sub - committees
 The Board of Directors has established these Board 

Committees to assist in undertaking the Company’s 
good corporate governance practices as follows: 

(2.1) The Audit Committee, comprising of 5 Independent 
Directors; namely, Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn, 
Chairman of the Audit Committee; Mr. Chavalit 
Uttasart; Mr. Thira Wipuchanin, Dr. Chaiyawat 
Wibulswasdi and Mr. Joti Bhokavanij as Members; 
together with the Head of Internal Audit acting as 
the Audit Committee Secretary. Additional details 
are shown in the Section: “Audit Committee 
Report” and on the “Audit Committee”. 

(2.2) The Nomination and Remuneration Committee, 
comprising of 3 Directors; namely, Mr. Thira 
Wipuchanin (Independent Director), Chairman of 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee; 
Mr. Chavalit Uttasart (Independent Director) and 
Mr. Korsak Chairasmisak as Members; together 
with the Director - Human Resources acting as 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
Secretary. Additional details are shown in 
the Section: “Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee”.

 Further, at the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee Meeting No. 2/ 2018 on 12 November, 
2018, a resolution was approved to appoint Miss 
Naruemol Worasunthararom, Group Chief Human 
Resources Officer - Siam Makro, to be the Secretary 
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, 
effective as of 13 November 2018. Further details 
are given in the Section: Shareholdings Structure 
and Organization Management Structure in the 
sub - section on the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.

(2.3) The Corporate Governance Committee, comprising 
of 5 Directors; namely, Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi, 
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee; 
Mr. Arsa Sarasin, Mr. Chavalit Uttasart, Mr. Joti 
Bhokavanij and Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong as 
Members; together with the Company Secretary 
acting as the Corporate Governance Committee 
Secretary. Additional details are shown in the 
Section: “Corporate Governance Committee”. 

(3) Roles and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
(3.1) The Company’s Board of Directors has duties 

to establish the Company’s key policies and to 
determine business directions, as well as to monitor 
corporate general affairs so as to effectively comply 
with the Company’s policies for the maximum 
benefit of the Company and the Shareholders 
with transparency and fairness under the legal and 
regulatory frameworks and the Company’s Code 
of Business Conduct. Additionally, the Board of 
Directors gives importance to the establishing and 
using the Company’s internal control and audit 
systems.
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(3.2) The Company’s Board of Directors has duties to 
establish the Company’s vision, business plans 
and budgets, and to continuously supervise 
management team to conduct the business in 
full compliance with the prescribed plans and 
budgets, so as to ensure effective and efficient 
implementation and to maximize the economic 
value added of the business. The roles, duties 
and responsibilities of the Board of Directors, 
the Executive Board as well as both the Audit 
Committee and Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee are described in detail in the Section: 
“Management Structure”. The Board of Directors 
also approves all financial transactions relating to 
any investments by the Company, except those 
transactions that require approval of Shareholders 
in accordance with regulations of the SEC, SET and 
the Public Limited Company Act B.E. 2535. 

(3.3) With regards to the term of service of directors, 
the Company specifies that one third of it’s the 
Board must retire by rotation at each Annual 
General Shareholders’ Meeting held by the 
Company, with those directors having the longest 
tenure shall retire first; whereby they can be 
nominated for re - election. 

(3.4) The Company’s Board of Directors shall establish 
a Business Ethics Guideline of the Company for 
compliance by the Board of Directors, executives, 
employees and all staff together with the 
Company’s rules and regulations for the sake of 
fairness to all relevant persons. The Company 
closely monitors actual compliance with this 
Business Ethics Guideline, and imposes strict 
disciplinary actions for any violations.

(3.5) Transactions having potential conflict of interests 
are described in the Section: “Related Transactions 
with Connected Parties and Those who may have 
a Conflict of Interests”. Such transactions are 
also disclosed in the Notes to both the Quarterly 
and Annual Financial Statements under “Related  
Party Transactions”; whereby these Financial 
Statements have been reviewed by the Audit 
Committee and also approved by the Board of 
Directors.

(3.6) Transactions falling under the category of the 
Company’s interconnected transactions must be 
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors, 
and must be in compliance with all relevant SEC 
and SET regulations.

(3.7) The Company’s Board of Directors shall arrange 
to have in place an accounting system, financial 
reports, accounting audits, internal controls and 
reliable internal audits. In addition, the Board 
shall also regularly review the internal control and 
internal audit systems that are fully efficient and 
effective. The Company also has internal control 
for its financial system through having regular 
financial reports prepared and presented to the 
responsible Management members together with 
an internal audit function, in order to ensure that 
the Company’s core operations performance 
results and important financial transactions have 
been effectively implemented in full accordance 
with prescribed guidelines and procedures; 
whereby the Internal Audit Unit reports directly 
to the Audit Committee.

(3.8) The Company provides a questionnaire on the 
management of risks for each respective business 
area of its operations. The management of 
each department acts as the evaluator of the 
various possible risks, and the Associate Director 
- Business Process and Risk Management, reviews 
the questionnaires to see whether or not the 
feedback responses are correct and relevant. As 
such, preventive risks management measures are 
defined so as to ensure the continued stability of 
the Company’s operations and existence.

(4) Board of Directors’ Meetings
(4.1) The Board of Directors’ Meeting is held once every 

quarter together with one other meeting to discuss 
the Company’s business strategic directions and 
business plans. The dates of the Board of Directors’ 
Meetings are predetermined one year in advance, 
so that Board Directors can arrange their personal 
schedule to attend the Board Meeting. However, 
additional Meetings may be called if there are 
matters requiring special Board approval. The 
agenda for these Meetings are clearly specified 
in advance, with the consideration of the Audit 
Committee Report and financial statements being 
regular Agenda Items. 

(4.2) The Siam Makro Group CEO, Group CFO and the 
Company Secretary jointly review the agenda prior 
to Chairman of the Board endorsing the agenda for 
each Board Meeting. However, each Board Member 
is free to suggest agenda items.
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(4.3) The Company arranges that notices of Board 
Meetings, together with proposed agenda and any 
supporting documents, are delivered to the Board 
Directors 7 days in advance, so as to allow Board 
Directors to have adequate time to review the 
information before attending the Board Meeting.

(4.4) In 2018, there was a total of 7 Board of Directors’ 
Meetings; 2 Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee Meetings; 2 Corporate Governance 
Committee Meetings; and 1 Shareholders’  
Meeting - the 2018 Annual General Meeting. 

 At the end of the Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 
6/2018, there was also a meeting of Non-Executive 
Directors and Independent Directors, without any 
members of the Company’s Management being 
present.

A summary of the attendance record of each Director is given below:

Meeting Attendance of the Board of Directors and Annual General Meeting in 2018

Name Position Period

Meetings

Board of 
Directors
(7 times)

Audit 
Committee
(5 times)

Nomination 
and 

Remuneration 
Committee
(2 times)

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee
(2 times)

Annual 
General 

Shareholders
(1 time)

1. Mr. Arsa Sarasin Chairman of the 
Board/ Member of the 
Corporate Governance 
Committee

Apr 2017 - 
Apr 2020

6/7 - - 2/2 1/1

2. Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn Independent Director/ 
Chairman of the 
Audit Committee 

Apr 2018 - 
Apr 2021

7/7 5/5 - - 1/1

3. Mr. Chavalit Uttasart Independent Director/ 
Member of the Audit 
Committee/ Member 
of the Nomination 
and Remuneration 
Committee

Apr 2018 - 
Apr 2021

6/7 5/5 2/2 - 1/1

4.  Mr. Thira Wipuchanin Independent Director/ 
Chairman of the 
Nomination and 
Remuneration 
Committee/ Member of 
the Audit Committee/ 
Member of the 
Corporate Governance 
Committee 

Apr 2018 - 
Apr 2021

7/7 5/5 2/2 2/2 1/1

5. Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi Independent Director/ 
Chairman of the 
Corporate Governance 
Committee/ Member of 
the Audit Committee

Apr 2016 -  
Apr 2019

7/7 4/5 - 2/2 1/1
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Name Position Period

Meetings

Board of 
Directors
(7 times)

Audit 
Committee
(5 times)

Nomination 
and 

Remuneration 
Committee
(2 times)

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee
(2 times)

Annual 
General 

Shareholders
(1 time)

6. Mr. Joti Bhokavanij Independent Director/ 
Member of the Audit 
Committee/ Member 
of the Corporate 
Governance Committee

Apr 2018 -  
Apr 2021

7/7 5/5 - 2/2 1/1

7. Mr. Korsak Chairasmisak First Vice Chairman/ 
Member of the Nomination 
and Remuneration 
Committee

Apr 2015 -  
Apr 2019

7/7 - 2/2 - 1/1

8. Mrs. Suchada Ithijarukul Second Vice Chairman Apr 2017 - 
Apr 2020

7/7 - - - 1/1

9. Dr. Prasert Jarupanich Director Apr 2017 - 
Apr 2020

7/7 - - - 1/1

10. Mr. Pittaya Jearavisitkul Director Apr 2017 - 
Apr 2020

7/7 - - - 1/1

11. Mr. Piyawat Titasattavorakul Director Apr 2018- 
Apr 2021

7/7 - - - 1/1

12. Mr. Narong Chearavanont Director Apr 2016 - 
Apr 2019

4/7 - - - 1/1

13. Mr. Adirek Sripratak Director Apr 2016 - 
Apr 2019

6/7 - - - 0/1

14. Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong Director/ Member of the 
Corporate Governance 
Committee

Apr 2016 - 
Apr 2019

7/7 - - 2/2 1/1

15. Mrs. Saowaluck Thithapant Director Apr 2017 - 
Apr 2020

7/7 - - - 1/1

(4.5) Minutes of all Board Meetings were recorded and 
approved by the Board of Directors; and they are 
maintained for review by members of the Board 
of Directors or other Stakeholders. 

(4.6) In 2018, the Audit Committee of the Company, 
comprising of all Independent Directors, also held 
meetings with the Company’s Auditors without the 
Management team attendance.

(5) Board of Directors Self- Assessment
 The Company determines to annually assess the 

performance of the Board of Directors every year.  
The Board assessment consists of entire Board 
assessment and individual Board member 
assessment.  The scope of assessment as shown 
below;

 For the Board of Directors as a group, consisting 
of 10 major criteria as follows:  
1) The Board of Directors’ policy
2)  Structure and characteristics of the Board
3) Roles and responsibilities of the Board
4) Board meetings
5) The Board’s performance of its duties
6) Relationship with the Management
7) Self-development of Directors, and Executive 

development 
8) Performance of the Audit Committee
9) Per formance of the Nominat ion and 

Remuneration Committee and
10) Performance of the Corporate Governance 

Committee
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 For individual Board Director’s assessment (by 
self - assessment), consisting of 3 major criteria as 
follows:
1)  Structure and characteristics of the Board
2) Roles and responsibilities of the Board
3) Board Meetings

 The assessments scores, as the percentage for each 
assessment criteria and category are as follows:

 Over 85%  = Excellent
 Over 75%  = Very Good
 Over 65%  = Good
 Over 50% = Satisfactory
 Under 50%  = Poor

The 2018 the Performance Assessment score of the Board of Directors can be summarized as follows:

Comparison of the Performance Assessment of the Board of Directors 2018 (%) Rating

Form 1 : Individual Director Assessment (Self - Assessment) 92.3 Excellent

Form 2 : Board of Directors and Sub-committees (group)Assessment 91.6 Excellent

The overall result of the 2018 Board Assessment indicates 
an average rating of “Excellent” with a  an average score 
of 91.95%. The scores as well as opinions of the Board 
Directors in each category form was presented to the Board 
Meeting which were useful for improving the performance 
of Board in the future.

(6) The Group Chief Executive Officer - Siam Makro’s 
Performance Assessment

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
and/or the assigned Director by the Board, in charge 
of the annual performance assessment of the 
Group Chief Executive Officer - Siam Makro, must 
forward the assessment outcome to the Board 
for endorsement. Therefore, the performance 
assessment of the Group Chief Executive Officer is 
considered as confidential information and cannot 
be disclosed. The performance assessment for the 
Group Chief Executive Officer has 3 parts as follows:

 Part 1 - Achievements of Corporate Key  
Performance Indicators (KPI)

 Part 2 - Efficiency on General Management 
 Part 3 - Efficiency on Budget and Project 

Management
 
 The performance appraisal outcome, that 

determines the remuneration increase for the 
Group Chief Executive Officer, is presented to the 
Board for further approval.

(7) Criteria for the appointment of new Board Directors 
 In the event that a Board Directorships becomes 

vacant, the Company has the following procedure 
and criteria in selecting and nomination a new 
Board Director for election in a transparent manner.

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is 
responsible for selecting, screening  and nominating 
a qualified nominee, based on the following 
criteria:  possessing all the required qualifications, 
knowledge, capabilities, experiences and expertise, 
and having the required essential skills still lacking 
in the existing Board of Directors that is in line with 
the current strategies of the Company (Board Skill 
Matrix) - without any bias or discrimination with 
regards to gender; being fully ready to devote time 
to the assigned Board responsibilities; and does not 
possess any disqualifications as specified by the law 
and principles of good governance.  Additionally, 
the overall diversity of the composition of the 
Board is also taken into consideration. As such, in 
2018, the Company also submitted a request to 
make use of the IOD’s Directors Pool that contains 
the names of those who are qualified possessing 
the required knowledge and capability, as well as 
experiences and expertise in a variety of business 
areas.

(8) Remuneration for Directors and the Management
a) Directors’ Remuneration
 The Company has clearly and transparently 

determined Directors’ remuneration to be 
consistent with and appropriate for the 
Company’s operations and their responsibilities, 
whereby comparisons are made with similar 
remuneration schemes of other companies 
within the same industry. Once determined, the 
remuneration scheme is proposed for approval 
by Shareholders at the AGM.
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b) Remuneration of Group Chief Executive Officer
 It is the Company’s policy to compensate the 

Group Chief Executive Officer at reasonable 
levels to motivate and retain quality people, 
or at levels comparable to leading companies 
in the same industry sector. Remuneration 
is linked to the Group CEO’s performanceb 
and responsibility as well as the Company’s 
performance and achieved benefits for the 
Shareholders.

c) Management’s Remuneration
 The Company has determined Management’s 

remuneration in accordance with the principles 
and policies of the Company, taking into 
consideration the Company’s overall operating 
performance results as well as those of each 
individual Management team member.

d) Remuneration of Directors and Management 
for 2018

 Details are given in the Section: “Director and 
Executive Remuneration in 2018” 

(9) Development of Directors and Executives
(9.1) The Company encourages and facilitates training 

for all internal parties, who have a role in 
corporate governance, including Board Directors, 
Members of the Audit Committee, Executives, the 
Company Secretary, etc. Training - either internal 
or external - enables them to continuously  
update their knowledge for effectively performing 
their duties.

(9.2) Prior to undertaking their duties, any newly - 
 appointed Board Directors shall be adequately 
briefed about the Company’s details, regulations 
and business-related information, including  
any other information that will be beneficial 
to the performance of the new Board Director.

(9.3) The Company has a work development 
and success ion plan with an object ive 
of identifying a successor together with a 
Readiness test; Psychological Test, Ability Test, 
LeadershipAssessment, Career Discussion, Career 
Road Map. 

 After testing, the Human Resources (HR)  
Department will process and analyze the  
information to form a succession plan to each 
successor. Thereafter, the HR Department will 
initiate various development programs - such 

 as the Leadership Development Program,  
Advanced Leadership Program, Beginning 
Leadership Program, New job Assignment  
Program, etc., so as to ensure that the business 
continues to operate smoothly. Details of the 
Executive Development Program can be found in 
the Section: “People and the Human Resources  
Development”. 

(9.4) The Company encourages and supports knowledge 
development for its Board Directors to enhance 
efficiency in performing their duties. The Company 
has a policy to promote its Board Directors to 
attend seminars and Directors’ training courses 
arranged by the Thai Institute of Directors (IOD), 
the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) or the other 
institutions, so as to consistently develop and 
improve overall Board effectiveness, as well as to 
enable Board Directors to apply new knowledge 
that would be beneficial for the Company. 

 In 2018, the Company’s Board Directors attended 
training and seminars, as follows:

Director Name Position Course/ Seminar

Mrs. Saowaluck 
Thithapant 

Director and 
Group Chief 
Financial 
Officer - Siam 
Makro

1. Corruption Prevention 
in the organization, 
arranged by Federation 
of Accounting Professions

2. Taxation of international 
business transactions, 
arranged by Federation 
of Accounting Professions

3. Management accounting 
for planning and decision 
making, arranged by 
Federation of Accounting 
Professions

(10) Compliance Unit
 The Company has established a compliance unit, 

namely “the Legal and Compliance Department”, 
the Director of which has the responsibility to 
oversee all corporate governance related activities 
of the Group to be undertaken in full compliance 
with all legal and regulatory requirements and 
established policies, as well as in accordance with 
the stated corporate vision and mission.
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Corporate 
Information

Siam Makro Public Company Limited (“the Company”)
Company registration No. : 0107537000521 (Former no. Bor Mor Jor. 299)

Date of incorporation : 10 May 1988

Head office : 1468 Phatthanakan Road, Phatthanakan Sub District, 
Suan Luang District, Bangkok 10250
Tel. 0 2067 8999  Fax. 0 2067 9888

Website www.siammakro.co.th

Type of business : Operating a cash and carry wholesale business under “Makro” name in order 
to sell food and non - food products for all customers nationwide. Key Makro 
customers are small to medium sized professional operators i.e. small retailers, 
HoReCa, institutes, and services operators 

Type and No. of shares : Registered ordinary shares, totaling 4,800,000,000 shares

Registered capital : Baht 2,400,000,000 with 4,800,000,000 shares at a par value of Baht 0.50 each

Issued and paid - up capital : Baht 2,400,000,000 with 4,800,000,000 shares at value of Baht 0.50 each 

Subsidiary and Associated Companies
Subsidiary Companies
(1) Siam Food Services Limited (“SFS”)

Company registration number : 0105527032739 (Former no. 3276/2527)

Date of incorporation : 7 September 1984

Head office : 2439 Old Paknam Railway Road, Prakhanong, Klongtoey, Bangkok 10110
Tel. 0 2782 6000 Fax. 0 2782 6009

Website www.siamfoodservices.com

Type of business : Import and distribution of temperature controlled, frozen, high quality food 
products from Thailand and overseas with delivery service i.e. meat, seafood, 
poultry, potato, dairy, pastry and ethnic food products, to meet the demand 
of food service professionals i.e. hotels, restaurants (both full service and quick 
service), airlines, caterers, institutions, manufacturers, and food traders

Type and No. of shares : Registered ordinary shares, totaling 31,830,000 shares

Registered capital : Baht 3,183,000,000 with 31,830,000 shares at a par value of Baht 100 each

Issued and paid - up capital : Baht 3,183,000,000 with 31,830,000 shares at value of Baht 100 each
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(2) Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd (“INDS”)

Company registration number : 199302834E

Date of incorporation : 8 May 1993 

Head office : 36 Senoko Drive, Senoko Industrial Estate, Singapore 758221
Tel. (65) 6755 0330  Fax. (65) 6755 9522

Website : www.indoguna.com

Type of business : Produce sausages, bacon, ham, salami, cut meats and processed meats under 
the brand Carne Meats. Import and distribution of fresh, temperature controlled, 
frozen, high quality food products with delivery service i.e. meat, seafood, bakery 
products as well as seasonal and culinary delicacies prepared from both local and 
international, to meet the demand of food service professionals in Singapore i.e. 
hotels, restaurants, airlines, caterers, institutions, manufacturers, and food traders 

Registered capital : SGD 1,600,000

Paid - up capital : SGD 1,600,000

(3) Indoguna Dubai L.L.C (“INDD”)

Company registration number : 78993

Date of incorporation : 15 February 2006

Head office : Al Waha Street, Exit 46, Al Quoz 1 
P.O. Box 123125, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Tel. (971) 4 338 6304 Fax. (971) 4 338 6305

Website : www.indoguna.com/indoguna-dubai-llc/

Type of business Import and distribution of fresh, temperature controlled, frozen, high quality 
food products with delivery service i.e. meat, seafood, bakery products as well as 
seasonal and culinary delicacies prepared from both local and international, to 
meet the demand of food service professionals in the United Arab Emirates i.e. 
hotels, restaurants, airlines, caterers, institutions, manufacturers, and food traders 
Registered capital

Registered capital : AED 300,000

Paid - up capital : AED 300,000
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(4) Indoguna Lordly Company Limited (“LL”) 

Company registration number : 0196081

Date of incorporation : 14 August 1987 

Head office : 14/F Chung Fung Commercial Building, 10 - 12 Canton Road, 
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel. (852) 2730 2025  Fax. (852) 2730 2024

Website : www.lordly.com.hk 

Type of business Import and distribution of fresh, temperature controlled, frozen, high quality 
food products with delivery service i.e. meat, seafood, bakery products, fried egg 
soup as well as seasonal and culinary delicacies prepared from both local and 
international, to meet the demand of food service professionals in Hong Kong i.e. 
hotels, restaurants, airlines, caterers, institutions, manufacturers, and food traders 

Registered capital : HKD 10,000

Paid - up capital : HKD 10,000

(5) Just Meat Company Limited (“JM”)

Company registration number : 0972827

Date of incorporation : 25 May 2005 

Head office : G/F 45B Hau Wong Road, Kowloon City, Kowloon, Hong Kong 
Tel. (852) 2382 2026 Fax. (852) 3003 1331

Website : www.justmeat.com.hk

Type of business : Import and distribution of fresh, high quality food products of meats and  
poultry in Hong Kong

Registered capital : HKD 1,000,000

Paid - up capital : HKD 1,000,000

(6) MAXZI The Good Food Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C (“MAXZI”)

Company registration number : 1309929

Date of incorporation : 18 October 2017 

Head office : Al Shafar Investment Building, Shop No 20, P.O. Box 126113
Al Quoz 1, Dubai, United Arab Emirates 
Tel. (971) 4 395 3988

Website : https://maxzi.ae

Type of business : Restaurant and Minimart in the United Arab Emirates

Registered capital : AED 4,000,000

Paid - up capital : AED 4,000,000 
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(7) Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited (“INDC”)

Company registration number : 00029158

Date of incorporation : 29 November 2017

Head office : No 423, National Road 3, Phum Sre Nhor, Sangkat Porng Teuk, Khan Dangkor, 
12407, Phnom Penh, Kingdom of Cambodia 
Tel. (855) 70 958 388

Type of business : Food Services Business and related businesses in Cambodia

Registered capital : USD 2,000,000

Paid - up capital : USD 2,000,000

(8) Indoguna Vina Food Service Company Limited (“INDV”)

Company registration number : 0312016132

Date of incorporation : 15 October 2012

Head office : 44B Phan Xich Long Street, Ward 3, Phu Nhuan District, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam
Tel. (84) 907 091 188  Fax. (84) 28 3995 6756

Website : www.indogunavina.com

Type of business : Import and distribution of temperature controlled, frozen, high quality food 
products from Thailand and overseas with delivery service i.e. meat, seafood, 
poultry, potato, dairy, pastry and ethnic food products, to meet the demand of 
food service professionals in Vietnam i.e. hotels, restaurants (both full service 
and quick service), caterers

Registered capital USD 5,000,000

Paid - up capital USD 5,000,000

(9) ProMart Company Limited (“PRO”)

Company registration number : 0105558034130

Date of incorporation : 23 February 2015

Head office : 1468 Phatthanakan Road, Phatthanakan Sub District, Suan Luang District,  
Bangkok 10250
Tel. 0 2067 8999  Fax. 0 2067 9044

Type of Business Selling non - food products

Type and No. of shares : Registered ordinary shares, totaling 100,000 shares

Registered capital : Baht 10,000,000 with 100,000 shares at par value of Baht 100 each

Issued and paid - up capital : Baht 2,500,000 with 100,000 shares at value of Baht 25 each
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(10) Makro ROH Company Limited (“MROH”)

Company registration number : 0105557153364

Date of incorporation : 14 October 2014

Head office : 1468 Phatthanakan Road, Phatthanakan Sub District, Suan Luang District,  
Bangkok 10250
Tel. 0 2067 8999 Fax. 0 2067 9888

Type of business : Investing in foreign countries as well as to provide management and technical 
consultancy, and to support services to the related pasties

Type and No. of shares : Registered ordinary shares, totaling 35,070,000 shares

Registered capital : Baht 3,507,000,000 with 35,070,000 shares at a par value of Baht 100 each

Issued and paid - up capital : Baht 3,136,980,000 with 35,070,000 shares divided into: 
- 17,450,000 shares at value of Baht 100 each and 
- 17,620,000 shares at value of Baht 79 each

(11) ARO Company Limited (“ARO”)

Company registration number : 110245807

Date of incorporation : 28 November 2014

Head Office : Unit 02, 04, 06, Level 11, Myanmar Centre Tower 1, No.192, Kabar Aye Pagoda 
Road, Bahan Township, Yangon, Myanmar

Type of Business : Providing marketing and business consultancy services in the Republic of the 
Union of Myanmar

Issued and paid - up capital : USD 183,000

(12) CP Wholesale India Private Limited (“CPWI”)

Company registration number : U51909DL2017FTC310809

Date of incorporation : 19 January 2017

Head Office : 6th Floor, M3M Cosmopolitan, Sector 66 Off Golf Course Extension Road, Gurugram 
122002, Haryana, India
Tel. (91) 124 4479000 Fax. (91) 124 4479199

Website : https://corporate.lotswholesale.com

Type of Business : Wholesale operator and related businesses in India

Registered capital : INR 500,000,000

Issued and paid - up capital : INR 452,857,120
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(13) Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited (“MGZ”)

Company registration number : 91440101MA59Q1XQ1D

Date of incorporation : 3 July 2017

Head Office : Zibian#01 of Floor 10, and Floor 11, No.65 Xianlie Middle Road, Yuexiu District, 
Guangzhou, China

Type of Business : Retail and wholesale operator and related businesses in the People's  
Republic of China
Tel. (86) 020 2333 6999

Registered capital : CNY 50,000,000

Issued and paid - up capital : CNY 25,000,000  

(14) Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited (“MAC”)

Company registration number : 00019245

Date of incorporation : 16 September 2016

Head Office : No. 5734, Street 1003, Bayab Village, Sangkat Phnom Penh Thmey,
Khan Sen Sok, Phnom Penh, Kingdom of Cambodia
Tel. (855) 23 977 377

Website : www.makrocambodia.com

Type of Business : Retail and wholesale operator and related businesses in Cambodia

Registered capital : USD 68,000,000

Issued and paid - up capital : USD 42,200,000

(15) ARO Commercial Company Limited (“MM”)

Company registration number : 102936000 

Date of incorporation : 3 September 2018

Head Office : La Pyi Wun Plaza, Room 409, 4th Floor, 37 Alan Pya Pagoda Road, 
Dagon Township, Yangon, Myanmar

Type of Business : Retail and wholesale operator and related businesses in the Republic of the 
Union of Myanmar

Issued and paid - up capital : USD 300,000
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Associate Company - None -

Reference persons
Securities Registrar : Thailand Securities Depository Company Limited (TSD)

The Stock Exchange of Thailand Building
93 Ratchadaphisek Road, Dindaeng, Dindaeng, Bangkok 10400
Tel. 0-2009-9000, 0-2009-9999 Fax. 0-2009-9991

External Auditors : Mr. Charoen Phosamritlert
C.P.A. Reg. No. 4068
Mrs. Munchupa Singsuksawat
C.P.A. Reg. No. 6112
Mr. Veerachai Ratanajaratkul
C.P.A. Reg. No. 4323
Ms. Sujitra Masena
C.P.A. Reg. No. 8645

KPMG Phoomchai Audit Limited
50th - 51st Floor, Empire Tower
1 South Sathorn Road, Yannawa, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120
Tel. 0-2677-2000 Fax. 0-2677-2222

Legal Counsel : Siam City Law Offices Limited
20th Floor, Rajanakarn Building
3 South Sathorn Road, Yannawa, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120
Tel. 0-2676-6667-8 Fax. 0-2676-6188-9

Chavalit & Associates Limited
20th Floor, Rajanakarn Building
South Sathorn Road, Yannawa, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120
Tel. 0-2676-6667-8 Fax. 0-2676-6188-9
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Nature of Business
The Company was established in Thailand in May 1988, and 
its shares were listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand in 
August 1994. The principal business of Siam Makro Public 
Company Limited (“the Company”) is the operation of 
membership based Cash & Carry trade centers, registered 
under the name of “Makro”, that are located throughout 
Thailand. As at the end of 2018, Makro has a total of  
129 stores nationwide which consist of 79 Makro Classic 
stores, 25 Makro Foodservice stores, 13 Eco Plus stores, 

5 Makro Food shops and 7 Siam Frozen shops as well as 
1 Makro Classic store in Cambodia and 2 stores in India 
under the LOTS Wholesale Solutions brand. Moreover, 
the Company has also engaging in the import, export and 
distribution of frozen and temperature controlled food 
both in Thailand, Vietnam and other countries through 
its subsidiaries including other relevant businesses which 
support the core business of the Company. As at the end 
of 2018, the Company’s business structure can be shown 
as below:

100%99.99%

80%

80%

80%

80%

80%

70%

Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd
(Singapore)

Indoguna Dubai L.L.C
(U.A.E)

Indoguna Lordly Company Limited
(Hong Kong)

Just Meat Company Limited
(Hong Kong)

MAXZI The Good Food Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C
(U.A.E)

Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited
(Cambodia)

ProMart Company 
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Thailand
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(Thailand)

Food Service 
APME
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Food Service

(Vietnam)

Makro ROH Company Limited
(Thailand)

ARO Company Limited
(The Republic of the Union of Myanmar)

Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited
(Cambodia)

CP Wholesale India Private Limited
(India)

Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited 
(The People’s Republic of China)

ARO Commercial Company Limited
(The Republic of the Union of Myanmar)

International
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100%

70%
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100%
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Company Type of Business

Siam Makro Public Limited Operating a cash and carry wholesale business under “Makro” name in 
order to sell food and non - food products for all customers nationwide. 
Key Makro customers are small to medium sized professional operators i.e. 
small retailers, HoReCa, institutes, and services operators 

Siam Food Services Limited Import and distribution of temperature controlled, frozen, high quality 
food products from Thailand and overseas with delivery service i.e. meat, 
seafood, poultry, potato, dairy, pastry and ethnic food products, to meet 
the demand of food service professionals i.e. hotels, restaurants (both full 
service and quick service), airlines, caterers, institutions, manufacturers, 
and food traders

Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd Produce sausages, bacon, ham, salami, cut meats and processed meats 
under the brand Carne Meats. Import and distribution of fresh, temperature 
controlled, frozen, high quality food products with delivery service i.e. 
meat, seafood, bakery products as well as seasonal and culinary delicacies 
prepared from both local and international, to meet the demand of food 
service professionals in Singapore i.e. hotels, restaurants, airlines, caterers, 
institutions, manufacturers, and food traders

Indoguna Dubai L.L.C Import and distribution of fresh, temperature controlled, frozen, high quality 
food products with delivery service i.e. meat, seafood, bakery products 
as well as seasonal and culinary delicacies prepared from both local and 
international, to meet the demand of food service professionals in the 
United Arab Emirates i.e. hotels, restaurants, airlines, caterers, institutions, 
manufacturers, and food traders

Indoguna Lordly Company Limited
Formerly known as Lordly 
Company Limited

Import and distribution of fresh, temperature controlled, frozen, high quality 
food products with delivery service i.e. meat, seafood, bakery products, 
fried egg soup as well as seasonal and culinary delicacies prepared from  
both local and international, to meet the demand of food service 
professionals in Hong Kong i.e. hotels, restaurants, airlines, caterers, 
institutions, manufacturers, and food traders

Just Meat Company Limited Import and distribution of fresh, high quality food products of meats and 
poultry in Hong Kong

MAXZI The Good Food Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C Restaurant and Minimart in the United Arab Emirates

Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited Food Services Business and related businesses in Cambodia
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Company Type of Business

Indoguna Vina Food Service
Company Limited
Formerly known as Vina Siam Food 
Company Limited

Import and distribution of temperature controlled, frozen, high quality 
food products from Thailand and overseas with delivery service i.e. meat, 
seafood, poultry, potato, dairy, pastry and ethnic food products, to meet 
the demand of food service professionals in Vietnam i.e. hotels, restaurants 
(both full service and quick service), caterers

ProMart Company Limited Selling non - food products

Makro ROH Company Limited Investing in foreign countries as well as to provide management and technical 
consultancy, and to support services to the related parties

ARO Company Limited Providing marketing and business consultancy services in the Republic of 
the Union of Myanmar

CP Wholesale India Private Limited Wholesale Operator and related businesses in India

Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited Retail and wholesale operator and related businesses in the People's 
Republic of China

Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited Retail and wholesale operator and related businesses in Cambodia

ARO Commercial Company Limited Retail and wholesale operator and related businesses in the Republic of 
the Union of Myanmar
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Revenue Structure
The Company’s core earnings were derived from Makro Cash and Carry business. Other revenue contributors were 
importing and distributing frozen and chilled food products as well as logistics services including other relevant 
 businesses which support the core business of the Company. The details of revenue structure (the revenue after revised the 
connected transection) are as follows:

(Unit: Million Baht)

Activities/ Products/ Services Operated by

% 
Shareholding 

of the 
Company

Fiscal year ended 31 December

2016 2017 2018

Amount % Amount % Amount %

1. Makro Cash and Carry/ Makro 
Foodservice/ Eco Plus/ Makro Food 
shop / Siam Frozen (domestic and 
overseas)

 Sales of consumer goods and other 
income

Siam Makro - 170,373 98.6 181,611 97.2 185,440 96.1

CPWI 99.99 - - 2 0.0 499 0.3

MAC 70.00 - - 92 0.1 1,264 0.7

MGZ* 99.99 - - - - - -

MM* 99.99 - - - - - -

2. Providing management, technical 
consultancy and support services

 Sales of goods and services and 
other income

MROH 99.99 - - - - 1 0.0

ARO* 99.99 - - - - - -

PRO* 99.99 - - - - - -

3. Importing and trading of frozen 
and chilled foods

 Sales of goods and services and 
other income

SFS 99.99 2,158 1.2 2,356 1.3 2,518 1.3

INDV 100.00 259 0.2 332 0.2 433 0.2

INDS 80.00 - - 1,566 0.8 1,755 0.9

INDD 80.00 - - 457 0.2 537 0.3

JM 80.00 - - 8 0.0 - -

LL 80.00 - - 330 0.2 399 0.2

INDC 70.00 - - - - 71 0.0

4. Restaurant and minimart
 Sales of goods and services and 

other income
MAXZI 80.00 - - - - 13 0.0

Grand Total 172,790 100.0 186,754 100.0 192,930 100.0

Remark :
* Currently in the process of preparing to run a business
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Audit Committee’s 
Report

Siam Makro Public Company Limited’s Audit Committee 
appointed by the Board of Directors consists of five 
independent directors who are knowledgeable and 
have experience in various sectors, such as legal affairs, 
organization management, finance, accounting, and  
risk management, including independence in compliance 
with the Stock Exchange of Thailand’s requirements. 
The members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Athaporn 
Khaimarn, as the Chairman of the Audit Committee,  
Mr. Chavalit Uttasart, Mr. Thira Wipuchanin, Dr. Chaiyawat 
Wibulswasdi, and Mr. Joti Bhokavanij as members of the 
Committee.

The Audit Committee had performed the duties by 
rendering of independent opinion according to roles 
and responsibilities specified in Corporate Governance 
Policy, with the good cooperation from the Company’s 
management and internal auditors. 

During the year 2018, the Audit Committee had totaling 5 
meetings. A summary of the attendance of each member 
of the Audit Committee was as follows:

Name Number of Attendance

1. Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn 5

2. Mr. Chavalit Uttasart 5

3. Mr. Thira Wipuchanin 5

4. Dr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi 4

5.  Mr. Joti Bhokavanij 5

The management, internal auditors and external auditors 
were invited to attend each meeting to discuss various issues 
of concerns including the exchange of ideas and suggestions.  
The major matters discussed were as follows:

1. Review the Company’s financial report - The Audit 
Committee reviewed the quarterly and annual financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements of 
the Company and its subsidiaries for the year 2018, 
including the disclosure for the significant information 
and considered the external auditor’s report in 
collaboration with the executive management and 
the external auditor. The Audit Committee expressed 
its observations, and provided recommendations to 
ensure that the financial reporting of both the Company 
and its subsidiaries was fairly, in all material respects, 
in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards 
and that information was adequately and completely 
disclosed in a reliable manner, including benefits to the 
shareholders and the user of the financial statements. 
The Audit Committee met exclusively with the external 
auditor team on one occasion in the absence of the 
management to discuss about audit plans, freedom of 
execution, and their professional views. 

 The Audit Committee had the opinion that the 
financial statements were fairly, in all material respects, 
according to Thai Financial Reporting Standards and 
information being sufficiently and completely disclosed 
in compliance with the auditor’s opinions.

2. Review the disclosure and related party transactions 
between the Company and related companies to 
ensure that the Company complied with the business 
criteria and rules required by the Stock Exchange of 
Thailand and the Securities and Exchange Commission.  
Furthermore, the Audit Committee assigned Internal 
Audit Department to review the connected transactions 
between the Company and report those transactions 
to the Audit Committee.  Based on the review of the 
connected transactions undertaken in the normal
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 course of business, no unusual transactions considered 
material were found as required by the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand and the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.  

 The Audit Committee had the opinion that disclosure 
was appropriate and complete in a reliable manner  
that those transactions were executed pursuant to 
normal business practice. Furthermore, connected and 
related party transactions among the Company and  
its group were found that such information was 
adequately and correctly disclosed.

3. Review the sufficiency and appropriateness of the 
Company’s internal control systems to reasonably 
ensure the Company’s operations adhered to the 
appropriateness and efficiency of control environment.

 
 The Audit Committee had the opinion that the 

Company’s operation was in compliance with 
Corporate Governance Policy, which reflected to the 
appropriateness of internal control system and no 
significant deficiency being found. 

4.  Review the sufficiency and appropriateness of the 
Company’s risk management system, by which the 
Company had set up the Risk Management Committee 
with the duty to assess the risks covering all aspects, 
both internal and external factors, and their possibility 
to happen and affect the businesses. The Risk 
Management Committee also established preventive 
measure in order to mitigate the possible impacts and 
keep them at the acceptable level. Moreover, the 
Risk Management Committee constantly monitored 
the progress of risk management in order to improve 
various measures to respond to the current changing 
situation, and report the summary of work of the  
Risk Management Committee to the Audit Committee 
and the Board of Directors. 

 The Audit Committee had the opinion that the 
Company’s risk management system was appropriate 
and sufficient for its operations. The risk assessment, 
risk management, and its progress monitoring as well as 
the revision of risks in order to respond to the current 
situation were regularly carried out.

5. Review internal audit plan and consider material 
issues relating to internal controls and operation 
procedures in order to assess the sufficiency and 
appropriateness of the Company’s internal control

 system, as well as provide recommendations jointly 
considered with the external auditors, internal auditors 
and the Company’s management.  Furthermore, 
the Audit Committee also considered the annual 
performance appraisal for the Head of Internal Audit.

 The Audit Committee had the opinion that the 
Company’s internal audit independently performed in 
order to enhance the Company’s good governance. 

6. Nominate independent persons to be the external 
auditors and express the audit opinion to the Board of 
Directors for further endorsement at the shareholders’ 
meeting.  It was approved at the shareholders’ meeting 
the appointment of KPMG Phoomchai Audit Ltd. as the 
Company’s external auditors for the year 2018. 

7. Consider the Company’s compliance in accordance with 
laws governing securities and exchange, regulations of 
the Stock Exchange of Thailand and other legislations 
relating to its business and found that they were fully 
complied.

 The Audit Committee had the opinion that there was 
no significant matter concerning non - compliance  
of the aforesaid rules, regulations, and laws.

In summary, the Audit Committee performed their duties 
and responsibilities in accordance with the Audit Committee 
Charter as specified with caliber, prudence, and adequate 
independence in equitable interests of stakeholders. The 
Audit Committee had the opinion that the Company’s Board 
of Directors, the Executive Directors as well as Management 
performed their duties and responsibilities in accordance 
with Corporate Governance Policy to achieve the goals 
with professional quality. Furthermore, the Company had 
complied with laws, regulations and commitments, and 
accurate disclosure of connected transactions.  In this 
regard, the Company had managed an operation that 
was consistent with adequate, transparent, and credible 
corporate governance.  The Company also had an accurate 
financial and operation report, and an appropriate and 
effective in the risk management system, the internal 
control system, and the internal audit.

(Mr. Athaporn Khaimarn)
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial 
Position and Operating Results 

Analysis of Consolidated Results

Consolidated Operating Results

2017 2018 Increase (+)/ Decrease (-)

Sales million Baht 182,753 188,583 5,830

Total revenues million Baht 186,754 192,930 6,176

Gross profit million Baht 18,401 18,944 543

EBITDA* million Baht 10,407 10,361 (46)

Net profit million Baht 6,178 5,942 (236)

Earnings per share Baht per share 1.29 1.24 (0.05)
* Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization

Thailand’s economic situation in 2018 has continued to 
expand since the first quarter of the year, driven by export 
and tourism. However, it gradually slows down in the second 
half of the year according to the number of Chinese tourists 
decreased, as well as the consumers are concerning about 
the volatility of both global economy and Thai economy 
that have not yet fully recovered. Moreover, the consumers 
have still concerned the high cost of living and pricing 
products as well as the current income that is inconsistent 
with their cost of living. The overall purchasing power was 
low and not recovered as expected. It is resulted to lower 
in consumer confidence during the fourth quarter of 2018. 
In addition, the government investments and exports are 
slowdown from the expectation. The household spending 
is still concentrated in high-income earners. In 2018, Thai 
economy has been forecasted to grow by 4.2% (source: 
Bank of Thailand), lower than as previously predicted in 
the third quarter of 2018. Inflation rate is registered at 1.1% 
(source: Bank of Thailand). 

Over the past year, the Company moves forward with 
Makro’s 4.0 Strategy, with focusing on technology, 
creativity, and innovation, was developed in response 
to an environment in which consumer habits are being 
transformed by the digital age, and where domestic 
and international businesses are seeing intensifying  
competition. The Strategy sets out 6 Strategic Goals for 
achieving the Company’s vision “to be the number one 
food solution provider for professional customers”. The 
Company opened a total of 7 new stores in Thailand. 
These include 6 Makro Foodservice stores and 1 Eco Plus.  
At the end of 2018, Makro has operated 129 stores 
nationwide, consist of 79 Makro Classic stores, 25 Makro 
Foodservice, 13 Eco Plus, 5 Makro Food shops and 7 Siam 
Frozen shops, with total sales area of 747,802 square 
meters. In addition, the Company develops a multi - storied 
Makro Foodservice store, a format which will be used for 
expansion in dense urban areas with a high number of 
restaurants, such as in a capital city like Bangkok.
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After Siam Food Services Limited has acquired 4 leading 
overseas food service companies from Indoguna Group, 
namely, Hong Kong, Singapore, United Arab Emirates 
and in parallel with the establishment of new company 
in Cambodia, Food Service Asia Pacific and Middle East 
(APME) is a business unit within Siam Makro Group which 
has an important role in expansion of our food service 
business network in Asia Pacific and Middle East and also 
consolidating the Company’s efforts to expand the food 
service business on the international market, which is 
accomplished under the “Siam Food Services” brand in 
Thailand and the “Indoguna” brand in international markets. 
Food Service APME has entered new high - potential markets 
in 6 countries and areas in the Asia Pacific and Middle East 
regions: Thailand, Vietnam, Singapore, Hong Kong, United 
Arab Emirates and Cambodia. Guided by the vision “to 
be number one food solution provider to professional 
customers,” Food Service APME’s missions are to bring the 
best out of our passionate team; provide quality holistic 
solutions for enhanced businesses; deliver consistently 
world - class quality standards with food safety assurance; 
and explore new avenues that impact business growth. 
Moreover, the Company continue to focus on expansion 
of Halal food and premium food business for HoReCa 
customers, including improve the operational management 
for the companies under the Indoguna brand to be driven in 
the same direction with the strength and sustainable growth.
In 2018, the Company continued forward on the success 
of its first international venture when the very first Makro 
store was officially opened in Phnom Penh, Cambodia in 
late 2017 to strong reception. Makro Cambodia is the first 
Cash & Carry store in Cambodia that acts as a one - stop 
service allowing professional customers, from small retail 
operators and HoReCa customers, to access over 10,000 
selections of good quality and competitively priced 
products. These include household and personal goods, 
fresh and dry foods, packaged foods, frozen foods, as well 
as products sourced from local producers or distributors and 
products imported from Thailand, including meats, seafood  
products and the Company’s own brands such as aro, 
Savepak, M&K and Q - Biz. In addition, the Company had its  
first expansion to India under the brand, “LOTS Wholesale 
Solutions,” with the first store opening in New Delhi on 
19 July 2018, with so good feedback from professional 
customers in the area that another store was opened there 
consequently. The store offers quality products in a variety 

of categories, including food and drink, fresh foods, 
kitchenware, home electronics, home décor, furniture and 
sleep products, woven goods, office equipment, electronics 
and more. The store offers international standards of 
integrated services in the wholesale business while ensuring 
that products are available in sufficient quantities for 
customer needs, and provides delivery services as well as a 
variety of payment options. As a result, at the end of 2018, 
the Company has a total of 3 overseas stores. In addition, in 
September 2018 we additionally expanded the Cash & Carry 
business to Myanmar by establishing a new subsidiary i.e. 
ARO Commercial Company Limited (“MM”) through MROH 
with the initial authorized share capital of USD 0.3 million, 
which is 100% owned by MROH. The main business of MM 
is wholesale and retail operator and related businesses.

Revenues
In 2018, the Company’s consolidated total sales were 
Baht 188,583 million, grew by 3.2% from the year 2017, 
owing to a continuous store expansion. In the past year, we  
opened 7 new stores in Thailand in various formats including 6  
Makro Foodservice stores and 1 Eco Plus store. In addition, 
we opened 2 new stores and 1 food service shop in overseas. 
Nevertheless, one of Siam Frozen shops i.e Chan Road  
Branch was closed during the year. As a result, at the end of 
2018, Makro has total of 129 stores nationwide which consist 
of 79 Makro Classic stores, 25 Marko Foodservice stores, 13 
Eco Plus stores, 5 Makro Food shops and 7 Siam Frozen 
shops, including 3 Makro stores in overseas and 1 Food 
Service Shop. In addition, the increase in sales is derived 
from Makro Business in Thailand which attributed to the 
continuous emphasis on store format development which 
the Company continues focusing on domestic business 
expansion by developing and tailoring store formats to meet 
the demands of our professional food service customers. 
The domestic food service industry has witnessed sustained 
growth, largely due to the expansion of the tourism sector, 
which has received support through government policies. 
The Company designed new store formats, the “Makro 
Foodservice stores” format, which averages 1,000 to 3,000 
square meters in area. The new store format directly target 
professional customers, particularly HoReCa customers in 
high tourism and high population density areas. Moreover, 
the Company is focused on developing own brand products 
to deliver the best choice for customers by offering products 

Siam Makro Public Company Limited    147



that are diverse, safe, excellent quality, suitable size and 
packaging, and environmentally friendly with the valuable 
price. The growth also attributed to Makro International 
which is the result of the full year operation of Makro store 
in Cambodia as well as 2 new stores opened in India in the 
second half of 2018. Moreover, sales from Food Service 
business continuously grew in relation to the success of 
the Indoguna acquisition in 2017. Food Service APME also 
continues to focus on development of a variety of products 
to meet the need of targeted customers by consideration 
to the business model of each customer.

When aggregating revenue from rendering of services 
(e.g. revenue from sales promotion and ads through 
Makro mail, etc.) of Baht 3,414 million and other income 
(e.g. rental income, the Company’s annual exhibition, etc.) 
of Baht 933 million, the Company registered total  
revenues at Baht 192,930 million, surged by Baht 6,176 
million or 3.3% from the preceding year.

Gross Profit
The consolidated gross profit of 2018 was Baht 18,944 
million increased Baht 543 million from 2017 or an 
increase of 3.0%, as a result of continuous dedication to 
develop customer base, store format development, and 
product assortment with good quality to serve the needs 
of customers. The Company and its subsidiaries registered 
the gross profit percentage to total sales at 10.0%, a slight 
drop from 10.1% in 2017. This is due to the economic 
slowdown over the past year, as well as issues concerning 
low agricultural commodity prices.

Distribution Cost & Administrative Expenses
In 2018, the Company and its subsidiaries had distribution 
cost and administrative expenses of Baht 15,481 million or 
equivalent to 8.0% of total revenue, surged by Baht 1,086 
million or 7.5% from the year 2017. This was derived from

Distribution Cost: In 2018, distribution cost registered at 
Baht 11,767 million, grew by 9.6% from the year earlier 
mainly due to increasing number of new stores opened 
in Thailand and overseas, totaling 9 stores in 2018 (net of 
the closure of 1 Siam Frozen Shop). The distribution cost 
percentage to total sales was 6.2% in 2018, increased from 
5.9% in 2017. 

Administrative Expenses: In 2018, administrative  
expenses registered at Baht 3,714 million, grew by 
1.5% from the previous year owing to the expenses of 
Makro International which is mainly from pre - operating  
expenses and expenses at starting-up phase. In addition, 
there are an increase in the expenses of Food Service 
business because of 11 - month consolidation in 2017 
according to the business acquisition of Indoguna Group.

Finance Costs
In 2018, the Company had finance costs of Baht 336 
million, decreased by Baht 12 million from the year earlier.  
This was derived from a lower of average loan rate.

Net Profit
In 2018, the Company posted a net profit of Baht 5,942 
million (net profit of the Company), dropped by 3.8% 
although the Company had better in sales by 3.3%. This is 
contributed by losses from an overseas expansion especially 
in Cambodia and India, where there are operating expenses 
form their initial stage of business, including store opening 
expenses in 2018 and those to be opened in 2019. While, 
the net profit of Makro Thailand and Food Service Business 
is better by 2.8% and 12.4%, respectively. As a result, the 
net profit margin (net profit of the Company) decreased 
from 3.3% in 2017 to 3.1% in 2018.
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Analysis of Financial Position

Consolidated Financial Position

As at 31 December
Increase (+)/ Decrease (-)

2017 2018

Total assets million Baht 58,976 62,065 3,089

Total liabilities million Baht 40,965 42,808 1,843

Shareholders’ equity million Baht 18,011 19,257 1,246

Total Assets
As at the end of 2018, the Company and its subsidiaries 
recorded Baht 62,065 million in total assets, an increase 
of Baht 3,089 million, or 5.2%, over 2017. This increase in 
total assets was mostly contributed by increase in inventory 
which was in line with number of stores. In addition, it was 
increased by net increase in property, plant and equipment 
(PPE) and other intangible assets as a result of investment 
in new stores during the year.

Current Assets: As at the end of 2018, the Company and 
its subsidiaries’ current assets were Baht 22,998 million, 
increased by Baht 2,585 million in 2017 or up by 12.7%. 
This was mainly due to higher inventory which was in line 
with number of stores. In addition, there were an increase 
in cash and cash equivalents, accrued income and accounts 
receivable. The increase in trade accounts receivable was 
from the Food Service business, which was Credit & Delivery 
business.

Non - Current Assets: As at the end of 2018, the Company 
and its subsidiaries’ non-current assets were Baht 39,067 
million, rose by 504 million from 2017 or up by 1.3%. 
This was attributed to net increase in property, plant and 
equipment (PPE) and other intangible assets as a result of 
investment in new stores and replacement during the year.

Total Liabilities
As of year - end 2018, the Company and its subsidiaries 
posted Baht 42,808 million in total liabilities, a rise of Baht 
1,843 million or 4.5% from a long - term borrowings from 
financial institution was to support the Company’s store 
and business expansion during the year.

Current Liabilities: As at the end of 2018, the consolidated 
current liabilities were Baht 34,094 million, an decrease 
of Baht 3,024 million, or 8.1%, over 2017 which was  
Baht 37,118 million. This was a result of lower trade 
accounts payable of Baht 942 million and lower short - term 
borrowings from financial institutions of Baht 2,749 million 
(net of current portion of long - term borrowings). This is 
contributed by the change from short - term borrowings 
to long - term borrowings as well as repayment of loans 
during the year.

Non - Current Liabilities: As at the end of 2018, the 
Company and its subsidiaries had Baht 8,714 million, 
or 20.4% of total liabilities, increased from the prior 
year by Baht 4,867 million. This was from higher  
long - term borrowings. In addition, straight - line rental 
liabilities increased in line with number of rent contract.  
Nevertheless, non - current liabilities decreased from the 
reversal of liabilities to be paid to the former shareholder 
of Indoguna Group (Earn - out) due to a failure to achieve 
the condition as stipulated in the agreement. Non - current 
liabilities mainly comprise long - term borrowings from 
financial institutions, finance lease liabilities, and employee 
benefit obligations. 

Shareholder’s Equity
Total shareholders’ equity as at end of 2018 was Baht 
19,257 million, an increase of Baht 1,246 million or 6.9%. 
This was in line with net profit and dividend payment of 
Baht 4,608 million in 2018. Book value per share was Baht 
3.90 per share. 
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Analysis of Cash Flow

Statements of Cash Flows - Consolidated

2017 2018

Cash flows from operating activities million Baht 11,928 6,012

Cash flows from investing activities million Baht (6,468) (2,866)

Cash flows from financing activities million Baht (3,649) (2,411)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents million Baht 1,811 735

As at the end of 2018, the Company and its subsidiaries 
had cash and cash equivalents of Baht 5,096 million, grew 
by Baht 735 million from the year 2017. This was mainly 
due to an increase of cash flow from operating activities in 
spite of cash outflow for the investment in store expansion 
and payment of dividend. 

Cash flows from operating activities
For 2018, net cash flow from operating activities totaled 
Baht 6,012 million, a decrease of Baht 5,916 million or 
49.6% from 2017 due to an increase in inventory balance 
as well as payment of trade payables.

Cash flows from investing activities
Net cash flow used in investing activities during 2018 
amounted to Baht 2,866 million. This was used for 
investment in new store expansion during the year which 
included land acquisition and lease for stores opened in 
2018 and to be opened in 2019. 

Cash flows from financing activities
Net cash flow used in financing activities in 2018 was Baht 
2,411 million, representing dividend payment of Baht 4,608 
million.

Financial Ratios
2017 2018

Liquidity Ratio

Current ratio (times) 0.5 0.7

Quick ratio (times) 0.1 0.2

Profitability Ratio

Gross profit margin ratio (%) 10.1 10.0

Net profit margin ratio (%) 3.3 3.1

Return on equity (%) 37.1 32.8

Efficiency Ratio

Return on total assets (%) 11.0 9.7

Fixed asset turnover (%) 26.9 25.8

Total assets turnover (times) 3.3 3.2

Financial Policy Ratio

Total debt to equity ratio (times) 2.3 2.2

Interest coverage ratio (times) 50.6 32.4

Dividend payout ratio (%) 74.6 77.5
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Related Party 
Transactions

Details on Related Party Transactions
In 2017 and 2018, the Company and its Subsidiaries conducted transactions with related parties, which are summarized 
as follows: 

Related party transactions in 2017 and 2018

Related Parties and the Nature 
of Relationships Nature of Transaction

Amount 
(Baht Million) Necessity and Reasons for the Transaction
2017 2018

CP ALL Plc.
(“CP ALL”)
Nature of Relationship1)

CP ALL, a major shareholder 
of the Company, holds direct 
and indirect shares of the 
Company amounting to 
97.88% of total issued and 
paid - up shares.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

2.1 6.3 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Trade Accounts Receivable 1.1 2.2 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Fixed Assets Expenses 1.7 - Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

4. Service Expenses
 The Company disbursed 
 CP ALL for the use of software 

licenses and trademarks

167.0 162.4 The use of software licenses and trademarks from 
CP ALL is regarded as technical assistance for the 
Company’s core business operation. The software is 
used for recording sales transactions, goods receiving, 
stock movement and customer information system 
of the Company’s stores. The said software can be 
used for recording information of new stores and for 
consolidation of information of all stores. The costs of 
software are cheaper than local system development. In 
addition, the Company was granted, by CP All, the right 
to use trademarks and servicemarks including the use 
of trandemarks such as “Makro”, “aro” etc. in operating 
the businesses including the store layout, product 
display, and the business management. Whenever there 
is any development of new store format of “Makro” 
in other country, the Company will obtain knowledge 
and technique of the business operation resulting 
in efficiency in the business operation. The rights to 
use software license, trademark and service mark are 
considered as transactions/supporting transactions 
related to the normal course of business5) 

5. Other Accounts Payable
 The Company was granted, 

by CP ALL, the right to use 
trademarks and serv ice 
marks including the use of 
trademarks such as “Makro”, 
“aro” etc.

83.7 82.9
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Related Parties and the Nature 
of Relationships Nature of Transaction

Amount 
(Baht Million) Necessity and Reasons for the Transaction
2017 2018

CPRAM Co., Ltd.
(“CPRAM”)
Nature of Relationship1)

Subsidiary of CP ALL, CP 
ALL holds shares of CPRAM 
amounting to 99.99% of total 
issued and paid - up shares.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

21.6 14.3 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Purchase of Goods 250.7 262.3 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Trade Accounts Receivable 1.3 1.2 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

4. Trade Accounts Payable 61.0 61.0 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

Gosoft (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
(“Gosoft”)
Nature of Relationship1)

Subsidiary of CP ALL, CP 
ALL holds shares of Gosoft 
amounting to 99.99% of total 
issued and paid - up shares.

1. Fixed Assets and 
Intangible Assets Expenses

 The Company and its 
Subsidiaries purchased 
fixed assets and intangible 
assets, namely computer 
equipment and software, 
from Gosoft 

22.7 136.4 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Service Expenses 31.9 46.4 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Other Accounts Payable 15.1 146.5 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

4. Other Accounts Receivable 5.0 7.6 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

Panyapiwat Institute of 
Management
Nature of Relationship1)

Subsidiary of CP ALL, 
CP ALL holds shares of 
Panyapiwat Institute of 
Management amounting to 
99.99% of total issued and 
paid - up shares 

1. Service Expenses 1.8 1.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

C.P. Retailing Co., Ltd.
(“Retailing”)
Nature of Relationship1)

Subsidiary of CP ALL, 
CP ALL holds shares of 
Retailing amounting to 
99.99% of total issued and 
paid - up shares.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

30.4 33.9 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Trade Accounts Receivable - 1 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Purchase of Goods 2.2 1.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

4. Other Accounts Payable 3.9 - Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)
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Related Parties and the Nature 
of Relationships Nature of Transaction

Amount 
(Baht Million) Necessity and Reasons for the Transaction
2017 2018

Charoen Pokphand Foods Plc.
(“Charoen Pokphand 
Foods”)
Nature of Relationship2)

Charoen Pokphand Group is a 
major shareholder and holds 
direct and indirect shares of 
Charoen Pokphand Foods 
amounting to 53.44% of total 
issued and paid - up shares.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

38.5 33.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Trade Accounts Receivable 5.1 4.3 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Purchase of Goods 373.5 350.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

4. Trade Accounts Payable 22.7 24.2 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

CPF Trading Co., Ltd.
(“CPF Trading”)
Nature of Relationship2)

Subsidiary of Charoen 
Pokphand Food, Charoen 
Pokphand Food holds 
shares of CPF Trading 
amounting to 99.97% of 
total issued and paid - up 
shares.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

30.5 24.3 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Trade Accounts Receivable 2.8 1.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Purchase of Goods 2,562.3 2,570.5 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

4. Trade Accounts Payable 300.3 240.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

CPF (Thailand) Plc. 
(“CPF (Thailand)”)
Nature of Relationship2)

Subsidiary of Charoen 
Pokphand Food, Charoen 
Pokphand Food holds 
shares of CPF (Thailand) 
amounting to 99.98% of 
total issued and paid - up 
shares.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

199.6 199.8 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Trade Accounts Receivable 25.1 23.1 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Purchase of Goods 4,765.3 6,840.4 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

4. Trade Accounts Payable 880.5 898.0 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

CP - Meiji Co., Ltd. 
(“CP - Meiji”)
Nature of Relationship2)

CP - Meiji is a joint venture 
with Charoen Pokphand 
Food, Charoen Pokphand 
Food holds shares of  
CP - Meiji amounting to 
59.99% of total issued and 
paid - up shares.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services 

4.8 5.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Purchase of Goods 355.5 375.3 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Trade Accounts Payable 67.0 63.1 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

C.P. Food Store Co., Ltd.
(“C.P. Food Store”)
Nature of Relationship2)

Chearavanont family is a 
major shareholder of  
C.P. Food Store.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

22.3 22.4 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Purchase of Goods 368.0 394.6 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Trade Accounts Payable 74.4 75.5 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)
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Related Parties and the Nature 
of Relationships Nature of Transaction

Amount 
(Baht Million) Necessity and Reasons for the Transaction
2017 2018

Pokphand Enterprise Co., Ltd. 
(“Pokphand Enterprise”)
Nature of Relationship4)

Chearavanont family is 
a major shareholder of 
Pokphand Enterprise. 

1. Service Expenses 6.1 6.6 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Other Accounts Receivable 5.9 5.9 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

C.P. Consumer Product 
Co., Ltd. 
(“C.P. Consumer Product”)
Nature of Relationship2)

Charoen Pokphand Group is 
a major shareholder of C.P. 
Consumer Product.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

21.1 22.4 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Purchase of Goods 217.7 199.8 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Trade Accounts Payable 44.0 30.5 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

Perfect Companion Group 
Co., Ltd.
(“Perfect Companion 
Group”)
Nature of Relationship2)

Charoen Pokphand Group 
is a major shareholder of 
Perfect Companion Group.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

14.2 19.0 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Purchase of Goods 272.0 281.3 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Trade Accounts Payable 59.1 44.9 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

Freewill Solutions Co., Ltd. 
(“Freewill Solutions”)
Nature of Relationship2)

Charoen Pokphand Group 
is a major shareholder of 
Freewill Solutions.

1. Fixed Assets and 
Intangible Assets Expenses

 The Company and its 
Subsidiaries purchased 
intangible assets, namely 
computer software, from 
Freewill Solutions.

2.2 7.1 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Service Expenses 19.4 4.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Other Accounts Payable 5.9 3.8 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

True Internet Corporation 
Co., Ltd.
(“True Internet
Corporation”, formerly 
True Universal Convergence 
Co., Ltd.)
Nature of Relationship3)

True Internet Corporation 
is a subsidiary of True 
Corporation Plc. which 
Charoen Pokphand Group is 
a major shareholder.

1. Service Expenses 34.1 39.8 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Other Accounts Payable 17.2 8.2 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)
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Related Parties and the Nature 
of Relationships Nature of Transaction

Amount 
(Baht Million) Necessity and Reasons for the Transaction
2017 2018

True Distribution & Sales 
Co. Ltd.
(“True Distribution & 
Sales”)
Nature of Relationship3)

True Distribution & Sales 
is a subsidiary of True 
Corporation Plc. which 
Charoen Pokphand Group is 
a major shareholder.

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services 

4.1 2.9 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Purchase of Goods 1.4 - Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

True Leasing Co. Ltd.
(“True Leasing”)
Nature of Relationship1)

Major of shares held 
by the CP Group and 
Mr. Dhanin Chearavanont's 
son and having one 
common director, i.e. 
Mr. Umroong Sanphasitvong.

1. Service Expenses 42.0 52.1 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Other Accounts Payable 11.3 9.2 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

Other related parties in 
CP ALL’s Group

1. Revenue from Sales of 
Goods and Services

41.0 136.8 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

2. Trade Accounts Receivable 9.6 26.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

3. Purchase of Goods 124.7 671.2 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

4. Trade Accounts Payable 34.8 168.6 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

5. Fixed Assets and Intangible 
Assets Expenses

49.4 9.7 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

6. Service Expenses 63.3 98.5 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

7. Other Accounts Payable 17.3 41.6 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

8. Other Accounts Receivable 11.2 9.5 Transactions/ supporting transactions related to the 
normal course of business5)

Notes: 1) Information from CP ALL Public Company Limited’s form 56 -1 year 2017
  2) Information from Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited’s form 56 - 1 year 2017
  3) Information from True Corporation Public Company Limited’s form 56 - 1 year 2017
  4) Notes for the Company’s financial statements, fiscal year ended 31 December 2018 
  5) Necessity and reasons for transactions and supporting transactions related to the normal course of business
  1. Revenue from sales of goods and services, Trade accounts receivable and Other accounts receivable
   The price and condition for sales of goods and services were determined by the terms and conditions used in the normal course of business 

comparable to those for non - related companies and market price. 
  2. Purchase of goods, Trade accounts payable and Other accounts payable 
   The price and condition for purchase of goods were determined by the terms and conditions used in the normal course of business comparable 

to those for non - related companies and market price. 
  3. Service expenses
   The price and condition for service expenses were determined by the terms and conditions used in the normal course of business comparable 

to those for non - related companies and market price. 
  4. Fixed assets, leasehold right and other intangible assets expenses
   The price and condition for the purchase of fixed assets, leasehold right and other intangible assets were determined by the terms and 

conditions used in the normal course of business comparable to those for non - related companies and market price.
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Procedures for Approving Related Party Transactions 
and Policies for Future Transactions
Related party transactions should occur only when required 
as part of the normal course of doing business and purely 
for the benefit of the Company as a whole. The use of 
software licenses and trademarks are considered necessary 
for the Company’s normal business operations. Such related 
party transactions are approved by the Board of Directors 
in accordance with the Company’s Article of Association, 
before they are undertaken.

In case of the entering into the connected transactions 
relating to the transactions with the general commercial 
terms, the Company’s Board of Directors has approved 
in principle that the Company and its subsidiaries will be 
approved to enter into related party transactions with a 
Company Director, an Executive or any other related Party 
only if such transactions consist of the same commercial 
considerations and terms as well as shall be undertaken 
under similar circumstances as those which an ordinary 
non-related counterparty would agree to and on the basis 
of normal commercial negotiation without any associated 
or special considerations being given because of the 
status of the Director, Executive or any other related 
party. Details of such internal regulations are as follows:

1. Purchase of Goods
 In the event that the Company and its subsidiaries 

purchase goods from related companies through having 
the same or shared Director(s) and/ or the same group 
of shareholders, such transactions shall be fully in 
accordance with normal business conditions as well 
as in line with normal market prices applicable at the 
time, and shall be treated in the same manner as any 
other transactions undertaken with any other unrelated 
parties.

2. Use of Service
 In the event that the Company and its subsidiaries 

make use of legal consulting services from Siam City 
Law Offices Co., Ltd. and Chavalit & Associates Limited,  
both of which have shared co - directors, such 
transactions shall be specified in an Agreement and 
shall be based on a reasonable terms and conditions 
for the Company and its subsidiaries. In addition, the 
Company and its subsidiaries receive service from 
related companies through having the same or shared 
Director (s) and/ or the same group of shareholders, such 
transactions shall be fully in accordance with normal 
business conditions as well as in line with normal market 
prices applicable at the time, and shall be treated in 
the same manner as any other transactions undertaken 
with any other unrelated parties.

3. Sale of Goods and Service
 In the event that the Company and its subsidiaries agree 

to sell any goods to its Directors and/ or Executives,  
including selling any goods and service to related 
companies through having the same or shared 
Director(s) and/ or the same group of shareholders, such  
transactions shall be treated and made under normal 
business conditions as well as in line with normal market 
prices applicable at the time and in the exact same 
manner as those similarly undertaken with any other 
unrelated parties.

In the case of transactions for the purchase and sale of 
goods and services and purchase of fixed assets, leasehold 
right and intangible assets under the ordinary course of 
business, the Company has procedures to protect investors 
and prevent the transfer of interests. The Internal Audit 
Department reviews the necessity of inter - company 
transactions and ensures that the prices of the transactions 
for goods and services and purchase of fixed assets, leasehold 
right and intangible assets are at the prevailing market 
rates. The Internal Audit Department provides reports of 
related transactions to the Audit Committee every quarter.
Additionally, the use of services including the usage of 
software licenses and trademarks shall be documented 
and specified in relevant agreements, which shall also be 
undertaken on a fair and reasonable basis.
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Regarding the policies for future related party transactions, 
the Company and its subsidiaries have a policy for future 
related party transactions that all related party transactions 
will only be undertaken when required by normal business 
operations. Further, the terms and conditions of all such 
related party transactions will be treated in the exact 
same manner as any other transactions undertaken with 
third - parties. Nevertheless, any related party transaction 
must be approved or ratified by the Board of Directors. 
The entering into the connected transactions relating 
to the transactions with the general commercial terms 
is possible only if such transactions consist of the same 
commercial considerations and terms as well as shall be

undertaken under similar circumstances as those which an 
ordinary non - related counterparty would agree to and on 
the basis of normal commercial negotiation without any 
associated or special considerations being given because 
of the status of the Director, Executive or any other related 
party as aforementioned. The Company and its subsidiaries 
can enter into such transactions if the Company’s Board 
of Directors has approved in principle, nevertheless the 
necessity of such transactions have to correspond to the 
growth of the Company’s normal business operations. 
Additionally, the Company will comply with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission’s policies, the Stock Exchange  
of Thailand’s policies, as well as the Company’s  
aforementioned policies.
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Report of the Board of 
Directors’ Responsibilities 
for Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors of Siam Makro Public Company 
Limited has provided the Financial Statements showing the 
Company’s financial status and operational performance 
results for the fiscal year 2018 in compliance with the 
requirements of the Public Companies Act B.E. 2535 (A.D. 
1992) as well as the Rules and Regulations of the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand. The Board of Directors is responsible 
for the Consolidated and the Company financial statements 
as presented in this Annual Report; and hereby confirms 
that these full year 2018 financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with the Thai Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles, using appropriate accounting policies consistently 
employed by the Company as well as applying careful 
judgement and best estimates. Further, all important and 
relevant information is adequately disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements.

The Board of Directors has provided and maintained efficient 
internal control system to ensure that the accounting 
records are accurate, complete and sufficiently adequate 
to protect its assets as well as to uncover any weaknesses 
in order to prevent possible fraud or materially irregular 
operations.

The Board of Directors has appointed the Audit Committee, 
consisting of Independent Directors, which is responsible 
for the quality of these financial statements, the internal 
control system and any required legal compliances, 
whereby its comments relating to these issues are readily 
included in the Audit Committee’s Report - as shown in 
this Annual Report.

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the Company’s 
overall internal control system has functioned satisfactorily 
and, thus, has provided credibility as well as reliability to 
the Consolidated and the Company financial statements 
for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018.

Mrs. Suchada Ithijarukul
Group Chief Executive Officer - Siam Makro

Mr. Arsa Sarasin
Chairman of the Board of Directors  
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Siam Makro Public Company Limited 
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018

and
Independent Auditor’s Report



Independent Auditor’s 
Report

Opinion
I have audited the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of Siam Makro Public Company Limited and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and of Siam Makro Public 
Company Limited (the “Company”), respectively, which 
comprise the consolidated and separate statements of 
financial position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated 
and separate statements of income and comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In my opinion, the accompanying consolidated and 
separate financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Group and the 
Company, respectively, as at 31 December 2018 and 
their financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting  
Standards (TFRSs).

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on 
Auditing (TSAs). My responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements section of my report.  I am independent of the 
Group and the Company in accordance with the Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Federation 
of Accounting Professions that is relevant to my audit  
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in  
accordance with these requirements. I believe that the 
audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional 
judgment, were of most significance in my audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of my audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion 
thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these  
matters. 

To the Shareholders of Siam Makro Public Company Limited
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Valuation of inventories

Refer to notes 3 (g) and 8 to the financial statements

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

The valuation of inventories was focused on because the 
estimation of net realisable value of inventories involves 
management’s judgment relating to estimate quantity 
and valuation for deteriorated, damaged, obsolete and  
slow-moving and shrinkage inventories.

My audit procedures are as follows:
 Understood the inventory control and management policy 

and the estimation of net realisable value of inventories.
 Tested a sample of the aging of inventory and the 

reasonableness of assumptions used to set the percentage 
of deteriorated, damaged, obsolete, slow - moving and 
shrinkage inventories determined by management and 
compared that percentage with information for destruction 
and shrinkage inventories.

 Tested a sample of selling prices post year - end and the 
estimated costs to make the sale with related documents 
including  recalculation of net realisable value.

 Considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in 
accordance with Thai  Financial Reporting Standards.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

Refer to note 3 (k), 3 (m), 4, 13 and 14 to the financial statements

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

The Group has significant goodwill and other intangible 
assets with indefinite useful life which was mainly arising 
from a business acquisition. 

The management normally assesses the impairment from 
the estimated recoverable amount at the end of the 
period. The recoverable amount was based on its value 
in use, determined by discounting future cash flows to be 
generated from the continuing use of assets and related 
assumptions. 

The judgments of management required to be applied 
over assumptions and the inherent uncertainty involved 
in forecasting and discounting future cash flows. This area 
was focused on my audit accordingly.

My audit procedures are as follows:
 Understood the process of the estimated recoverable 

amount to assess the impairment.
 Considered the key assumptions in the estimated 

recoverable amount reports, which were approved by 
management, by comparing the actual operation results, 
industry trends and information derived from external and 
internal sources and assessed financial methodologies 
used by the Group and discount rate and performed 
sensitivity analysis around the key assumptions.

 Considered the adequate of the Group’s disclosures in 
accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.
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Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated 
and separate financial statements and my auditor’s report 
thereon.

My opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 
statements does not cover the other information and I 
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements, my responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated and separate financial statements or my 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have 
performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, I am required to communicate 
the matter to those charged with governance and request 
that the correction be made. I have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged 
with Governance for the Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated and separate      financial 
statements in accordance with TFRSs, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated and separate financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group 
and the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the  
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with TSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, I exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. I also:
	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

	Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.

	Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

162   Annual Report 2018



	Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If I 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required 
to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion.  My conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s 
report.  However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group and the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

	Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
and separate financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

	Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements.  I am responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group 
audit.  I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.

I communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify 
during my audit.

I also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that I have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, I determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters.  I describe these 
matters in my auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, I determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in my report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

(Sujitra Masena)
Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 8645

KPMG Phoomchai Audit Ltd.
Bangkok
20 February 2019

Siam Makro Public Company Limited    163



Statement of Financial position
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
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Statement of Financial position (Continued)
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
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Statement of Financial position (Continued)
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
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Statement of income
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of Financial position (Continued)
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
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Statement of comprehensive income
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
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Statement of cash flows
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
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Statement of cash flows (Continued)
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
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Statement of cash flows (Continued)
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
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Notes to the financial statements
Siam Makro Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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LOCATION:
HEAD OFFICE/ 
BRANCHES/ SUBSIDIARIES

1. Makro Lardprao Branch
 3498 Lardprao Road, Klongchan, 
 Bangkapi, Bangkok 10240
 Tel: 0 2375 2781 - 8 Fax: 0 2375 9162

2. Makro Chaengwattana Branch
 34/54 Moo 1, Chaengwattana Road, Klongklear, 
 Pakkred, Nonthaburi 11120
 Tel: 0 2982 8061 - 70 Fax: 0 2574 6045

3. Makro Srinakarin Branch
 422 Moo 5, Srinakarin Road, Samrongnua, 
 A. Mueang Samutprakan, Samutprakan 10270
 Tel: 0 2383 4104 Fax: 0 2383 4441

4. Makro Bangbon Branch
 210, Kanchanaphisek Road, Khlong Bang Phran,
 Bangbon, Bangkok 10150
 Tel: 0 2416 8080 - 90 Fax: 0 2416 5974

5. Makro Chonburi Branch
 55/3 Moo 2, Sukhumvit Road, T. Samed, 
 A. Mueang Chonburi, Chonburi 20000
 Tel: 0 3827 9201  Fax: 0 3827 9200

6. Makro Chiang Mai Branch
 152 Moo 6, T. Nong - Pa - Krung, 
 A. Mueang Chiang Mai, Chiang Mai 50000
 Tel: 0 5200 3600 - 9 Fax: 0 5207 0722

7. Makro Nakhon Ratchasima Branch
 523 Mittraphap - Nongkai Road, T. Naimueang, 
 A. Mueang Nakhon Ratchasima, Nakhon Ratchasima 30000
 Tel: 0 4400 8454 Fax: 0 4401 3912

8. Makro Rangsit Branch
 189 Phaholyothin Road, T. Prachathipat, 
 A. Thanyaburi, Pathumthani 12130
 Tel: 0 2992 1011 - 21 Fax: 0 2992 2213

9. Makro Hat Yai Branch
 414 Kanchanavanich Road, Moo 5, T. Kho - Hong, 
 A. Hat Yai, Songkhla 90110
 Tel: 0 7489 2151 - 66 Fax: 0 7429 8775

10. Makro Udon Thani Branch
 207/3 Moo 14, T. Makkhang, 
 A. Mueang Udon Thani, Udon Thani 41000
 Tel: 0 4218 2360 Fax: 0 4215 5584

HEAD OFFICE
Siam Makro Public Company Limited

1468, Phatthanakan Road, Phatthanakan Subdistrict, Suan Luang District, Bangkok 10250
Tel: 0 2067 8999 Fax: 0 2067 9888

MAKRO : CLASSIC & ECO PLUS
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11. Makro Phitsanulok Branch
 1199 Boromtrirokkanart 2 Road, T. Naimueang, 
 A. Mueang Phitsanulok, Phitsanulok 65000
 Tel: 0 5500 7051 - 54 Fax: 0 5500 7094

12. Makro Khon Kaen Branch
 195 Moo 12, Mittraphap Road, T. Mueang Kao,
 A. Mueang Khon Kaen, Khon Kaen 40000
 Tel: 0 4304 2301 - 7 Fax: 0 4305 7030

13. Makro Surat Thani Branch
 216 Moo 4, Chonkasem Road, T. Makamtey, 
 A. Mueang Surat Thani, Surat Thani 84000
 Tel: 0 7790 5911 - 22 Fax: 0 7796 9153

14. Makro Ubon Ratchathani Branch
 333 Moo 15, T. Khamyai, 
 A. Mueang Ubon Ratchathani, Ubon Ratchathani 34000
 Tel: 0 4595 8450 - 3  Fax: 0 4595 8460

15. Makro Rayong Branch
 8/2 Moo 3, T. Tubma, A. Mueang Rayong, Rayong 21000
 Tel: 0 3368 0970 Fax: 0 3368 0950 

16. Makro Nakhon Sawan Branch
 67/15 Moo 6, T. Nakhon Sawan East, 
 A. Mueang Nakhon Sawan, Nakhon Sawan 60000
 Tel: 0 5632 5200 - 9 Fax: 0 5632 5210

17. Makro Charan Sanitwong Branch
 521, 521/27 Charan Sanitwong Road, Bangkhunsri, 

Bangkoknoi, Bangkok 10700
 Tel: 0 2864 5714 - 32 Fax: 0 2864 5713

18. Makro Sathorn Branch
 1 Narathiwasratchanakarin Road, Thungwatdon,
 Sathorn, Bangkok 10120
 Tel: 0 2676 0676 Fax: 0 2676 1676

19.  Makro Nakhon Pathom Branch
 86 Moo 13, T. Prongmadua, 
 A. Mueang Nakhon Pathom, Nakhon Pathom 73000
 Tel: 0 3410 7130 - 40  Fax: 0 3410 7149

20.  Makro Surin Branch
 4/3 Lakmueang Road, T. Naimueang, 
 A. Mueang Surin, Surin 32000
 Tel: 0 4406 2702 - 7 Fax: 0 4406 2714

21. Makro Samsen Branch
 935/11 Samsen Road, Thanon Nakhonchaisi,
 Dusit, Bangkok 10300
 Tel: 0 2241 8400 - 8  Fax: 0 2241 8409

22. Makro Nakhon Si Thammarat Branch
 614 Moo 2, Karom Road, T. Phosadet,
 A. Mueang Nakhon Si Thammarat, 
 Nakhon Si Thammarat 80000
 Tel: 0 7583 0411 - 20 Fax: 0 7583 0421

23. Makro Chiang Rai Branch
 12 Moo 17, T. Bandoo, 
 A. Mueang Chiang Rai, Chiang Rai 57100
 Tel: 0 5370 3688 Fax: 0 5370 3679

24. Makro Sakon Nakhon Branch
 459 Moo 3, Bankoksomhong Road, T. Thatchoengchum, 

A. Mueang Sakon Nakhon, Sakon Nakhon 47000
 Tel: 0 4217 1461 - 4 Fax: 0 4217 1474

25. Makro Suphan Buri Branch
 290/2 Moo 4, T. Sanam - Chai, 
 A. Mueang Suphan Buri, Suphan Buri 72000
 Tel: 0 3596 1251 Fax: 0 3596 1295

26. Makro Chanthaburi Branch
 21/11 Moo 11, T. Plubpla, 
 A. Mueang Chanthaburi, Chanthaburi 22000
 Tel: 0 3960 1461 Fax: 0 3960 1474 - 5

27. Makro Phuket Branch
 77 Moo 5, T. Vichit, A. Mueang Phuket, Phuket 83000
 Tel: 0 7668 8130 - 9 Fax: 0 7624 9801

28. Makro Roi Et Branch
 32/1 Taewapiban Road, T. Naimueang, 
 A. Mueang Roi Et, Roi Et 45000
 Tel: 0 4303 1571 Fax: 0 4303 1585

MAKRO : CLASSIC & ECO PLUS
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29. Makro Trang Branch
 89 Moo 2, T. Khok - Lo, A. Mueang Trang, Trang 92000
 Tel: 0 7582 8031 - 33 Fax: 0 7582 8044

30. Makro Sakaeo Branch
 1000 Suwannasorn Road, T. Sakaeo, 
 A. Mueang Sakaeo, Sakaeo 27000
 Tel: 0 3762 8351 - 3 Fax: 0 3762 8363

31. Makro Buri Ram Branch
 151 Moo 7, T. Isan, 
 A. Mueang Buri Ram, Buri Ram 31000
 Tel: 0 4469 0300 - 7  Fax: 0 4469 0329

32. Makro Sisaket Branch
 112 Moo 6 T. Po, A. Mueang Sisaket, Sisaket 33000
 Tel: 0 4561 3838 Fax: 0 4561 7648

33. Makro Lamphun Branch
 204 Moo 4, T. Banklang, 
 A. Mueang Lamphun, Lamphun 51000
 Tel: 0 5358 1285  Fax: 0 5358 1333

34. Makro Krabi Branch
 119 Moo 1, T. Saitai, A. Mueang Krabi, Krabi 81000
 Tel: 0 7570 0100 Fax: 0 7585 0132

35. Makro Phetchaburi Branch
 103 Moo 1, T. Huasaphan, 
 A. Mueang Phetchaburi, Phetchaburi 76000
 Tel: 0 3277 1616 Fax: 0 3240 2791

36. Makro Chaiyaphum Branch
 999 Moo 1, T. Bungkhal, 
 A. Mueang Chaiyaphum, Chaiyaphum 36000
 Tel: 0 4481 8288  Fax: 0 4481 8292

37. Makro Saraburi Branch
 66/3 Moo 2, T. Talingchan, 
 A. Mueang Saraburi, Saraburi 18000
 Tel: 0 3673 1100 Fax: 0 3673 1111

38. Makro Pran Buri Branch
 567 Moo 3, T. Wangpong, 
 A. Pran Buri, Prachuap Khiri Khan 77120
 Tel: 0 3263 0100  Fax: 0 3263 0000 - 1

39. Makro Chachoengsao Branch
 21/4 Moo 5, T. Wangtakhean, 
 A. Mueang Chachoengsao, Chachoengsao 24000
 Tel: 0 3302 1041 - 7 Fax: 0 3302 1048

40. Makro Chiang Mai 2 Branch
 191 Moo 7, T. Maehia, 
 A. Mueang Chiang Mai, Chiang Mai 50100
 Tel: 0 5344 7799 Fax: 0 5344 7804 - 5

41. Makro Ram Inthra Branch
 904 Ram Inthra Road, Kannayao, 
 Kannayao, Bangkok 10230
 Tel: 0 2540 7171 Fax: 0 2540 7756

42. Makro Chumphon Branch
 199 Moo 5, T. Wangpai, 
 A. Mueang Chumphon, Chumphon 86000
 Tel: 0 7765 8700 Fax: 0 7765 8706 - 7

43. Makro Pattaya Branch
 22/24 Moo 11, T. Nong Prue, 
 A. Bang Lamung, Chonburi 20150
 Tel: 0 3805 3400 Fax: 0 3805 3427

44. Makro Kamphangphet Branch
 889 Ratchadamnoen 1 Road, T. Naimueang, 
 A. Mueang Kamphangphet, Kamphangphet 62000
 Tel: 0 5571 7777 Fax: 0 5571 7912

45. Makro Kanchanaburi Branch
 102 Moo 2, T. Tha Lor, 
 A. Tha Muang, Kanchanaburi 71000
 Tel: 0 3469 9609 Fax: 0 3469 9629

46. Makro Lop Buri Branch
 227 Moo 5, T. Tha Sala,
 A. Mueang Lop Buri, Lop Buri 15000
 Tel: 0 3678 4884 Fax: 0 3678 4908 - 9
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47. Makro Nong Khai Branch
 232 Moo 12, T. Pho Chai, 
 A. Mueang Nong Khai, Nong Khai 43000
 Tel: 0 4299 0818 Fax: 0 4299 0553

48. Makro Ratchaburi Branch
 249 Moo 11, T. Jadeehak, 
 A. Mueang Ratchaburi, Ratchaburi 70000
 Tel: 0 3233 2249 Fax: 0 3232 5349

49. Makro Mae Rim Branch
 212 Moo 4, T. Mae Sa, A. Mae Rim, Chiang Mai 50180
 Tel: 0 5329 8212 Fax: 0 5329 8928

50. Makro Ayutthaya Branch
 222 Moo 2, T. Kan Ham, 
 A. Uthai, Phra Nakhon Siayutthaya 13210
 Tel: 0 3570 6406 Fax: 0 3570 6404

51. Makro Lampang Branch
 110/3 Highway Lampang - Ngao Road, T. Phra Bat,
 A. Mueang Lampang, Lampang 52000
 Tel: 0 5423 0111 Fax: 0 5423 1767

52. Makro Khlong Luang Branch
 39 Moo 7, T. Khlong Song, 
 A. Khlong Luang, Pathum Thani 12120
 Tel: 0 2529 3636 Fax: 0 2529 3949

53. Makro Loei Branch
 118 Moo 11, T. Na An, A. Mueang Loei, Loei 42000
 Tel: 0 4284 4655 Fax: 0 4284 4666

54. Makro Phetchabun Branch
 300 Moo 10, T. Chon Phrai, 
 A. Mueang Phetchabun, Phetchabun 67000
 Tel: 0 5671 9219 Fax: 0 5671 9229

55. Makro Bang Phli Branch
 79 Moo 1, T. Racha Thewa, 
 A. Bang Phli, Samut Prakan 10540
 Tel: 0 2316 4200 Fax: 0 2316 4222

56. Makro Mukdahan Branch
 4/9 Chayangkun Kor Road, Tamboon Mukdahan, 
 A. Mueang Mukdahan, Mukdahan 49000
 Tel: 0 4266 1199  Fax: 0 4266 1198

57. Makro Satun Branch
 889 Moo 6, T. Khlong Khut, 
 A. Mueang Satun, Satun 91000
 Tel: 0 7472 5475 Fax: 0 7472 5476

58. Makro Trat Branch
 1138 Moo 1, T. Wang Krachae, 
 A. Mueang Trat, Trat 23000
 Tel: 0 3951 3900  Fax: 0 3951 3929

59. Makro Chum Phae Branch
 201 Moo 2, T. Nong Phai, 
 A. Chum Phae, Khon Kaen 40130
 Tel: 0 4331 3961 Fax: 0 4331 3959

60. Makro Nakhon Phanom Branch
 405 Nittayo Road, T. Nong Yat, 
 A. Mueang Nakhon Phanom, Nakhon Phanom 48000
 Tel: 0 4253 1663 Fax: 0 4253 1661

61.  Makro Bueng Kan Branch
 680 Moo 7, T. Wisit, 
 A. Mueang Bueng Kan, Bueng Kan 38000
 Tel: 0 4249 2600 Fax: 0 4249 2601

62. Makro Mae Sai Branch
 740 Moo 9, T. Wiang Phang Kham, 
 A. Mae Sai, Chiang Rai 57130
 Tel: 0 5202 1701  Fax: 0 5202 1721

63. Makro Salaya Branch
 87/18 Moo 3, T. Salaya, 
 A. Phuttamonthon, Nakhon Pathom 73170
 Tel: 0 3410 8734 Fax: 0 3410 8735.

64. Makro Phatthalung Branch
 207 Moo 9, T. Tha Miram,
 A. Mueang Phatthalung, Phatthalung 93000
 Tel: 0 7482 1100  Fax: 0 7482 1101
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65. Makro Samut Sakhon Branch
 99/555 Moo 4, T. Khok Kham, 
 A. Mueang Samut Sakhon, Samut Sakhon 74000
 Tel: 0 3411 8634 Fax: 0 3411 8635

66. Makro Mae Sot Branch
 98/1 Asian Highway Road, T. Mae Sot, 
 A. Mae Sot, Tak 63110
 Tel: 0 5503 2155 Fax: 0 5503 2156

67. Makro Sukhothai Branch
 236 Moo 4, T. Ban Lum, 
 A. Mueang Sukhothai, Sukhothai 64000
 Tel: 0 5501 3130 Fax: 0 5501 3131

68. Makro Pak Chong Branch
 889 Moo 8 T. Nong Nam Daeng, 
 A. Pak Chong, Nakhon Ratchasima 30130
 Tel: 0 4400 8498 Fax: 0 4400 8497

69. Makro Thalang Branch
 365 Moo 1, T. Thep Krasattri, 
 A. Thalang, Phuket 83110
 Tel: 0 7668 8300  Fax: 0 7668 8310

70. Makro Ranong Branch
 86/9 Moo 2, T. Bang Rin, 
 A. Mueang Ranong, Ranong 85000
 Tel: 0 7798 2580 Fax: 0 7798 2590

71. Makro Yasothon Branch
 324 Moo 2, T. Tat Thong, 
 A. Mueang Yasothon, Yasothon 35000 
 Tel: 0 4597 1190 Fax: 0 4597 1180

72.  Makro Maha Sarakham Branch
 253 Moo 8, T. Koeng, 
 A. Mueang Maha Sarakham, Maha Sarakham 44000 
 Tel: 0 4302 2520 Fax: 0 4302 2565

73.  Makro Fang Branch
 61 Moo 3, T. San Sai, A. Fang, Chiang Mai 50110 
 Tel: 0 5200 3800 Fax: 0 5200 3803

74.  Makro Nakhon Nayok Branch
 176 Moo 5, T. Ban Yai, 
 A. Mueang Nakhon Nayok, Nakhon Nayok 26000 
 Tel: 0 3763 1280 Fax: 0 3763 1282

75. Makro Nakhon In Branch
 60 Moo 1, T. Bang Phai, 
 A. Mueang Nonthaburi, Nonthaburi 11000
 Tel: 0 2002 1828 Fax: 0 2019 8747

76.  Makro Thung Song Branch
 638 Moo 1, T. Chamai, 
 A. Thung Song, Nakhorn Si Thammarat 80110
 Tel: 0 7583 0710 Fax: 0 7583 0720

77. Makro Phayao Branch
 459/5 Phahonyothin Road, T. Mae Tam,
 A. Mueang, Phayao 56000
 Tel: 0 5407 1501 Fax: 0 5407 1511

78. Makro Phitsanulok 2 Branch
 410/4 Moo 7, T. Samo Khae, 
 A. Mueang Phitsanulok, Phitsanulok 65000
 Tel: 0 5500 8919 Fax: 0 5500 8929

79. Makro Phrae Branch
 204 Moo 7, T. Na Chak, 
 A. Mueang Phrae, Phrae 54000
 Tel: 0 5406 2602 Fax: 0 5406 2628

80. Makro Nan Branch
 183, 186 Moo 5, T. Dutai, A. Mueang Nan, Nan 55000
 Tel: 0 5405 1155 Fax: 0 5405 1151

81.  Makro Nakhon Ratchasima 2 Branch
 587 Moo 10, T. Nong Bua Sala, A. Mueang Nakhon 

Ratchasima, Nakhon Ratchasima 30000
 Tel: 0 4407 1270 Fax: 0 4407 1271

82. Makro Warin Chamrap Branch
 106 Moo 20, T. Saen Suk, 
 A. Warin Chamrap, Ubonratchathani 34190
 Tel: 0 4595 8145 Fax: 0 4595 8155
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83. Makro Nong Bua Lam Phu Branch
 150 Moo 3, T. Lam Phu,
 A. Mueang Nong Bua Lam Phu, 
 Nong Bua Lam Phu 39000
 Tel: 0 4200 7900 Fax: 0 4200 7897

84. Makro Nong Chok Branch
 80 Liap Wari Road, Krathum Rai, 
 Nong Chok, Bangkok 10530
 Tel: 0 2017 0000 Fax: 0 2048 3047

85. Makro Prachuap Khiri Khan Branch
 5/1 Phetkasem Road, T. Prachuap Khiri Khan, 
 A. Mueang Prachuap Khiri Khan, 
 Prachuap Khiri Khan 77000
 Tel: 0 3290 7990 Fax: 0 3280 2276

86. Makro Phetkasem Branch
 1759/4 Phetkasem Road, Lak Song, 
 Bang Khae, Bangkok 10160
 Tel: 0 2033 0050 Fax: 0 2064 7024

87. Makro Sing Buri Branch
 190 Moo 7, T. Bang nga,
 A. Tha Wung, Lop Buri 15150
 Tel: 0 3668 6710 Fax: 0 3674 1376

88. Makro Bang Bua Thong Branch
 47 Moo 2, T. Bang Bua Thong, 
 A. Bang Bua Thong, Nonthaburi 11110
 Tel: 0 2003 8790 Fax: 0 2081 5646

89. Makro Kalasin Branch
 185/2 Kaset Sombun Road, T. Kalasin, 
 A. Mueang Kalasin, Kalasin 46000
 Tel: 0 4301 4800 Fax: 0 4301 5596

90. Makro Phichit Branch
 310 Moo 3, T. Khlong Khachen,
 A. Mueang Phichit, Phichit 66000
 Tel: 0 5603 1730 - 9 Fax: 0 5603 6038

91. Makro Pathum Thani Branch
 9/20 Moo 1, T. Ban Chang, 
 A. Mueang Pathum Thani, Pathum Thani 12000
 Tel: 0 2021 7630 Fax: 0 2034 3528

92. Makro Kabin Buri Branch
 200 Moo 8, T. Mueang Kao, 
 A. Kabin Buri, Prachin Buri 25240
 Tel: 0 3762 3900 Fax: 0 3765 5603
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MAKRO FOODSERVICE

1. Makro Foodservice Ko Samui Branch
 115/52 Moo 6, T. Bo Phut, 
 A. Ko Samui, Surat Thani 84320
 Tel: 0 7796 0140 - 60  Fax: 0 7796 0161 - 2

2. Makro Foodservice Hua Hin Branch
 58/164 Soi Moobaan Bor Fai, T. Hua Hin, 
 A. Hua Hin, Prachuap Khiri Khan 77110
 Tel: 0 3252 2255 Fax: 0 3252 2235

3. Makro Foodservice Patong Branch
 140/30, 140/35 Nanai Road, T. Patong, 
 A. Krathu, Phuket 83150
 Tel: 0 7651 2388 Fax: 0 7651 2300

4. Makro Foodservice Rawai Branch
 5/47 Moo 5, T. Rawai, 
 A. Mueang Phuket, Phuket 83130
 Tel: 0 7668 7043  Fax: 0 7668 7051

5. Makro Foodservice Ko Pha - ngan Branch
 114/5 Moo 1, T. Ko Pha - ngan,
 A. Ko Pha - ngan, Surat Thani 84280
 Tel: 0 7737 7370 Fax: 0 7737 7339

6. Makro Foodservice North Pattaya Branch
 555/1 Moo 6, T. Na Kluea,
 A. Bang Lamung, Chonburi 20150
 Tel: 0 3300 8938 Fax: 0 3300 8939

7. Makro Foodservice Lamai Branch
 199 Moo 3, T. Maret, 
 A. Ko Samui, Surat Thani 84310
 Tel: 0 7796 9280 Fax: 0 7796 9282

8. Makro Foodservice Kanlapaphruek Branch
 16/6 Moo 8, Bang Khun Thian, 
 Chom Thong, Bangkok 10150
 Tel: 0 2001 2080 Fax: 0 2001 2090

9. Makro Foodservice Ban Phe Branch
 301 Moo 2, T. Phe, 
 A. Mueang, Rayong 21160
 Tel : 0 3368 1701 Fax: 0 3368 1727

10. Makro Foodservice Srinakarin 2 Branch
 20 Srinakarin Road, 
 Nong Bon, Prawet, Bangkok 10250
 Tel: 0 2006 0300 Fax: 0 2006 0299

11.  Makro Foodservice Ko Chang Branch
 99/30 Moo 4, T. Ko Chang, 
 A. Ko Chang, Trat 23170
 Tel: 0 3961 1939 Fax: 0 3961 1938

12. Makro Foodservice Ao Nang Branch
 793 Moo 2, T. Ao Nang, A. Mueang, Krabi 81180
 Tel: 0 7581 4901 Fax: 0 7581 4902

13. Makro Foodservice Karon Branch
 199/1 Patak Road, T. Karon, 
 A. Mueang, Phuket 83100
 Tel: 0 7663 0300 Fax: 0 7663 0314

14. Makro Foodservice Laem Chabang Branch
 1/1 Moo 10, T. Thung Suk La,
 A. Si Racha, Chonburi 20230
 Tel: 0 3308 5400 Fax: 0 3313 3396

15.  Makro Foodservice Bang Pu Branch
 858/21 Moo 1, T. Bang Pu Mai, 
 A. Mueang Samut Prakan, Samut Prakan 10280
 Tel: 0 2017 0050 Fax: 0 2068 0820

16. Makro Foodservice Wang Hin Branch
 758, 760 Lat Phrao Wang Hin Road, 
 Lat Phrao, Lat Phrao, Bangkok 10230
 Tel: 0 2017 0050 Fax: 0 2068 0816
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17. Makro Foodservice Udom Suk Branch
 176 Udom Suk Road, Bang Na Nuea,
 Bang Na, Bangkok 10260
 Tel: 0 2033 0940 Fax: 0 2035 6526

18. Makro Foodservice Ramkhamhaeng (Sammakorn) 
Branch

 94 Ramkhamhaeng Road, Saphan Sung,
 Saphan Sung, Bangkok 10240
 Tel: 0 2055 8060 Fax: 0 2033 5829

19. Makro Foodservice Bodindecha Branch
 361/1 Soi Lat Phrao 94 (Pancha Mit), 
 Phlabphla, Wang Thonglang, Bangkok 10310
 Tel: 0 2021 7680 Fax: 0 2034 3588

20. Makro Foodservice Pracha Uthit Branch
 547 Pracha Uthit Road, Rat Burana, 
 Rat Burana, Bangkok 10140
 Tel: 0 2021 7640 Fax: 0 2034 3578

21. Makro Foodservice Sukhumvit 71 Branch
 181/2 Sukumvit 71 Road, 
 Pra Khanong Nuea, Wattana, Bangkok 10110
 Tel: 0 2012 7590 Fax: 0 2012 7584

22. Makro Foodservice Nawamin 70 Branch
 1106 Nawamin Road, Khlong Kum, 
 Bueng Kum, Bangkok 10230
 Tel: 0 2056 2110 Fax: 0 2056 2124

23. Makro Foodservice Cha - am Branch
 265 Narathip Road, T. Cha - am,
 A. Cha - am, Phetchaburi 76120
 Tel: 0 3289 7830 Fax: 0 3289 8683

24. Makro Foodservice On Nut Branch
 903 On Nut Road, On Nut, 
 Suan Luang, Bangkok 10250
 Tel: 0 2021 4770 Fax: 0 2034 3273

25. Makro Foodservice Suksawat Branch
 30/9 Suksawat Road, Bang Pakok, 
 Rat Burana, Bangkok 10250
 Tel: 0 2017 0740 Fax: 0 2034 3383
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1. Makro Food shop Town in Town Branch
 456/5 - 6 Soi Lat Phrao 94 (Pancha Mit), 
 Phlabphla, Wang Thonglang, Bangkok 10310
 Tel 0 2006 3020 Fax: 0 2006 3021

2. Makro Food shop Wongsakorn Market Branch
 80/3 - 8 Sai Mai Road, Sai Mai, 
 Sai Mai, Bangkok 10220
 Tel: 0 2017 0470 Fax: 0 2068 0827  

3. Makro Food shop Rama IV Branch
 3654/1 Rama IV Road, Khlong Tan, 
 Khlong Tei, Bangkok 10110
 Tel: 0 2017 0490 Fax: 0 2068 0833

4. Makro Food shop Thong Lo Branch
 205/5 - 10 Soi Sukhumvit 55 (Thong Lo), 
 Khlong Tan Nuea, Watthana, Bangkok 10110
 Tel: 0 2012 4530

5. Makro Food shop Sirimangkalajarn Branch
 63 Sirimangkalajarn Road, T. Suthep, 
 A. Mueang, Chiang Mai 50200
 Tel: 0 5201 2460

MAKRO FOOD SHOP

SIAM FROZEN

1. Siam Frozen, Talad Mueang Mai Branch
 1 Soi 3, Mueang Samut Road, T. Chang Moi,
 A. Mueang Chiang Mai, Chiang Mai 50300
 Tel: 0 5323 5536 Fax: 0 5323 5537

2. Siam Frozen, Udon Thani Branch
 64, 66 Surakan Road, T. Makkhaeng,
 A. Mueang Udon Thani, Udon Thani 41000
 Tel: 0 4224 1822 Fax: 0 4224 1826

3. Siam Frozen, Thung Song Branch
 169/1 Nikon Bamrung Road, T. Pak Phraek, 
 A. Thung Song, Nakhon Si Thammarat 80110
 Tel: 0 7542 3833 Fax: 0 7542 3256

4. Siam Frozen, Talad Yamo Branch
 551/140 - 141 Mittraphap Road, T. Naimueang, 
 A. Mueang Nakhon Ratchasima, 
 Nakhon Ratchasima 30000
 Tel: 0 4425 6339 - 40 Fax: 0 4425 6341

5. Siam Frozen, Si Racha Branch
 198/14 - 15 Choem Chomphon Road, T. Si Racha, 
 A. Si Racha, Chonburi 20110
 Tel: 0 3831 4148 - 9 Fax: 0 3831 4150

6. Siam Frozen, Talad Nana Charoen Branch
 23/45 Moo 6, T. Khu Khot, 
 A. Lam Luk Ka, PaThum Thani 12130

7. Siam Frozen, Na Kluea Branch
 298/65 Moo 5, T. Na Kluea, 
 A. Bang Lamung, Chonburi 20150
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1. Siam Food Services Limited, Head Office
 2439 Old Paknam Railway Road, 
 Prakhanong, Klongtoey, Bangkok 10110
 Tel: 0 2620 6000 Fax: 0 2620 6001

2. Siam Food Services, Ko Samui Branch
 115/52 Moo 6, T. Bo Phut,
 A. Ko Samui, Surat Thani 84320
 Tel: 0 7796 0420 - 2 Fax: 0 7796 0423

3. Siam Food Services, Pattaya Branch
 22/24 Moo 11, T. Nong Prue, 
 A. Bang Lamung, Chonburi 20150
 Tel: 0 3805 3430 - 2  Fax: 0 3805 3433

4. Siam Food Services, Phuket Branch
 77 Moo 5, T. Vichit, 
 A. Mueang Phuket, Phuket 83000
 Tel: 0 7661 2892 Fax: 0 7661 2893

5.  Siam Food Services, Chiang Mai Branch
 204/27 Moo 6, T. Fa Ham, 
 A. Mueang Chiang Mai, Chiang Mai 50000
 Tel: 0 5324 1447 - 8 Fax: 0 5324 1500

6. Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd
 36 Senoko Drive, Senoko Industrial Estate, 
 Singapore 758221
 Tel: (65) 6755 0330 Fax: (65) 6755 9522

7. Indoguna Lordly Company Limited
 14/F Chung Fung Commercial Building, 
 10 - 12 Canton Road, 
 Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
 Tel: (852) 2730 2025 Fax: (852) 2730 2024

8. Just Meat Company Limited
 G/F 45B Hau Wong Road, Kowloon City,
 Kowloon, Hong Kong
 Tel: (852) 2382 2026 Fax: (852) 3003 1331

9. Indoguna Dubai L.L.C
 Al Waha Street, Exit 46, Al Quoz 1 
 P.O. Box 123125, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
 Tel: (971) 4 338 6304 Fax: (971) 4 338 6305

10. MAXZI The Good Food Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C
 Al Shafar Investment Building, Shop No 20, 
 P.O. Box 126113
 Al Quoz 1, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
 Tel: (971) 4 395 3988

11. Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited
 No 423, National Road 3, Phum Sre Nhor, 
 Sangkat Porng Teuk, Khan Dangkor, 12407, 
 Phnom Penh, Kingdom of Cambodia
 Tel: (855) 70 958 388

12. Indoguna Vina Food Service Company Limited 
 44B Phan Xich Long Street, Ward 3, 
 Phu Nhuan District, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam
 Tel: (84) 907 091 188 Fax: (84) 28 3995 6756 

 Hanoi City Branch
 838 Bach Dang, Thanh Luong Ward, 
 Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi City, Vietnam 
 Tel: (84) 907 091 188  Fax: (84) 24 3984 1767

13. ProMart Company Limited
 1468 Phatthanakan Road, Phatthanakan
 Suan Luang, Bangkok 10250
 Tel: 0 2067 8999 Fax: 0 2067 9888
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MAKRO - INTERNATIONAL

1. Makro ROH Company Limited
 1468 Phatthanakan Road, Phatthanakan
 Suan Luang, Bangkok 10250
 Tel: 0 2067 8999 Fax: 0 2067 9888

2. ARO Company Limited
 Unit 02, 04, 06, Level 11, Myanmar Centre Tower 1, 

No.192, Kabar Aye Pagoda Road, 
 Bahan Township, Yangon, Myanmar

3. ARO Commercial Company Limited
 La Pyi Wun Plaza, Room 409, 4th Floor,
 37 Alan Pya Pagoda Road, 
 Dagon Township, Yangon, Myanmar

4. Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited
 Zibian#01 of Floor 10, and Floor 11,
 No.65 Xianlie Middle Road, 
 Yuexiu District, Guangzhou, China 

5.  Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited
 No. 5734, Street 1003, Bayab Village, 
 Sangkat Phnom Penh Thmey, 
 Khan Sen Sok, Phnom Penh, Kingdom of Cambodia
 Tel: (855) 23 977 377

6. CP Wholesale India Private Limited
 6th Floor, M3M Cosmopolitan, 
 Sector 66 Off Golf Course Extension Road, 
 Gurugram 122002, Haryana, India
 Tel: (91) 124 447 9000 Fax: (91) 124 447 9199
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Bangkok and Greater Bangkok :
MAKRO - INTERNATIONAL FOOD SERVICE APME

1. The Republic of the Union of Myanmar
 ARO Commercial Company Limited
2.  Cambodia
 Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited
3.  India
 CP Wholesale India Private Limited
4.  The People's Republic of China
 Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited 
 

1. Thailand
 Siam Food Services Limited
2. Cambodia
 Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited
3. United Arab Emirates
 Indoguna Dubai L.L.C 
 MAXZI The Good Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C
4.  Hong Kong
 Indoguna Lordly Company Limited 
 Just Meat Company Limited 
5.  Vietnam
 Indoguna Vina Food Service Company Limited
6.  Singapore
 Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd 
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Bangkok and Greater Bangkok :
MAKRO - INTERNATIONAL FOOD SERVICE APME

1. The Republic of the Union of Myanmar
 ARO Commercial Company Limited
2.  Cambodia
 Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited
3.  India
 CP Wholesale India Private Limited
4.  The People's Republic of China
 Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company Limited 
 

1. Thailand
 Siam Food Services Limited
2. Cambodia
 Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited
3. United Arab Emirates
 Indoguna Dubai L.L.C 
 MAXZI The Good Restaurant & Cafe L.L.C
4.  Hong Kong
 Indoguna Lordly Company Limited 
 Just Meat Company Limited 
5.  Vietnam
 Indoguna Vina Food Service Company Limited
6.  Singapore
 Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd 
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Siam Makro Public Company Limited
1468, Phatthanakan Road, 
Phatthanakan Subdistrict, 
Suan Luang District, Bangkok 10250
Tel.: 0 2067 8999 Fax: 0 2067 9888 SIAM MAKRO PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

Enhancing Peoples’ Lives
along the journey to sustainable growth
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